See discussions, stats, and author profiles for this publication at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/321938159

Network of Experts on Social Dimension of Education and Training (NESET) View project

## Inclusive Early Childhood Education: Literature Review

Technical Report · December 2017

_							
CI	ITATION		READS				
1			699				
2	author	s, including:					
	00	Paul A Bartolo					
6							
		University of Malta					
		42 PUBLICATIONS 332 CITATIONS					
		SEE PROFILE					
S	ome of	the authors of this publication are also working on these related projects:					
	Project	Inclusive Early Childhood Education Project View project					

All content following this page was uploaded by Paul A Bartolo on 20 December 2017.

## **Inclusive Early Childhood Education**

Literature Review





## INCLUSIVE EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION

**Literature Review** 

**European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education** 



The European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education (the Agency) is an independent and self-governing organisation. The Agency is co-funded by the ministries of education in its member countries and by the European Commission, and supported by the European Parliament.



The European Commission support for the production of this publication does not constitute an endorsement of the contents which reflects the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

The views expressed by any individual in this document do not necessarily represent the official views of the Agency, its member countries or the Commission.

Editors: Flora Bellour, Paul Bartolo and Mary Kyriazopoulou, Agency Staff

Extracts from the document are permitted provided that a clear reference to the source is given. This report should be referenced as follows: European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education, 2017. *Inclusive Early Childhood Education: Literature Review*. (F. Bellour, P. Bartolo and M. Kyriazopoulou, eds.). Odense, Denmark

With a view to greater accessibility, this report is available in accessible electronic format on the Agency's website: www.european-agency.org

ISBN: 978-87-7110-630-5 (Electronic)

ISBN: 978-87-7110-637-4 (Printed)

#### © European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education 2017

Secretariat Østre Stationsvej 33 DK-5000 Odense C Denmark Tel: +45 64 41 00 20 secretariat@european-agency.org Brussels Office Rue Montoyer, 21 BE-1000 Brussels Belgium Tel: +32 2 213 62 80 brussels.office@european-agency.org

#### www.european-agency.org



## CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	5
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	7
1. INTRODUCTION	9
2. DEFINITION OF EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE, PRE-PRIMARY EDUCATION, AT-RISK CHILDREN AND/OR CHILDREN WITH SEN	10
3. INTERNATIONAL CONCERNS ABOUT EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CA	RE 13
3.1. Addressing the needs of disadvantaged children through ECEC	17
3.2. ECEC at the European level	19
3.3. Key facts about ECEC at the European level	23
4. WIDE-RANGING BENEFITS OF PRE-PRIMARY EDUCATION	26
4.1. Relevant areas of study related to inclusion in early years	29
5. THE PROPOSAL FOR KEY PRINCIPLES OF A QUALITY FRAMEWORK FOR ECEC.	31
5.1. Quality in ECEC	31
5.2. Assessing quality in ECEC	
5.3. Putting the child at the centre	
6. SECTION A: ACCESS, TRANSITION, INTERVENTION AND ACCOMMODATIONS.	34
6.1. Access	34
6.2. Formative assessment of children	
6.2.1. Portfolios	
6.3. Early detection or first assessment procedures	
6.3.1. Early identification of children at risk of SEN	
6.3.2. Alternative assessment and transition processes	
6.3.3. Health, mental health and behavioural challenges 6.3.4. Children from ethnic minorities and Roma and Irish Traveller children	
6.3.5. Low-income families and poverty	
6.3.6. Children with disabilities and multiple disabilities	46
6.4. Accommodations and follow-ups	47
6.4.1. Social dimensions of inclusion and exclusion	51
7. SECTION B: THE WORKFORCE	52
7.1. Learning from inclusive theory and practice	53
7.1.1. The importance of lifelong learning for staff	
7.1.2. Learning at school and in the classroom	
7.2. Implementing strategies for all learners	56



7.3. Collaboration with external professionals and families	56
7.3.1. Families' participation	
7.3.2. Professionals for inclusion	
7.4. The role of teaching assistants and specialist staff	60
8. SECTION C: CURRICULUM/CONTENT	61
8.1. Pedagogy and curriculum focus	61
8.2. Relationships with peers	62
8.3. The importance of play in early childhood development	64
8.4. Resources for children with SEN that are useful in inclusive settings	65
8.4.1. Buddy skills package	
8.4.2. Reinforcement strategies	
8.4.3. Adaptation of planned activities	
8.4.4. Assistive technology 8.4.5. Use of pictograms	
8.4.5. Ose of pretograms	
9. SECTION D. GOVERNANCE AND FUNDING	67
9.1. ECEC policies	68
9.2. Services and funding	68
9.3. Affordability of ECEC and pre-primary settings	69
9.4. Governance	69
10. SECTION E: MONITORING AND EVALUATION	70
11. CONCLUSION	72
REFERENCES	73



## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Full version
AAC:	Augmentative and alternative communication
CSR:	Cognitive self-regulation
ECCE:	Early Childhood Care and Education
ECE:	Early Childhood Education
ECEC:	Early Childhood Education and Care
EFA:	Education for All
EPPE:	Effective Provision of Pre-School Education
ET 2020:	Education and Training 2020
EU:	European Union
HECDI:	Holistic Early Childhood Development Index
IECE:	Inclusive Early Childhood Education
IEP:	Individual Education Plan
ISCED:	International Standard Classification of Education
NGO:	Non-governmental organisation
OECD:	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PIRLS:	Progress in International Reading Literacy Study
PISA:	Programme for International Student Assessment
PVI:	Private, voluntary and independent
SABER:	Systems Approach for Better Education Results
SEN:	Special educational needs
UK:	United Kingdom
UN:	United Nations
UNCRC:	United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child
UNESCO:	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UNESCO-IBE:	UNESCO-International Bureau of Education
UNICEF:	United Nations Children's Fund
US:	United States
WHO:	World Health Organization



## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

This literature review on Early Childhood Education (ECE)/Inclusive Early Childhood Education (IECE) is part of the 'Inclusive Early Childhood Education' project, conducted by the European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education. The project's overall goal is to identify and analyse the factors that enable quality and effective pre-primary programmes for all children in inclusive early years settings.

This review shows that international organisations and the European Union (EU) regard high-quality ECE/IECE as an essential foundation for lifelong learning. It is indispensable for success in modern knowledge-based economies. Participation in high-quality preprimary education has long-lasting positive effects on children's development and the benefits are greater for children from a disadvantaged background (Frawley, 2014). In many cases, the early childhood stage is critical because many children's different needs are detected once they become part of the education system. Therefore, one EU benchmark in the strategic framework for European co-operation in education and training (ET 2020) is that at least 95% of children between the age of four and compulsory school age should participate in ECE.

At the same time, there are concerns about the accessibility and quality of ECE/IECE provisions. Despite its importance – especially considering the latest data about provisions for children with special educational needs (SEN) and/or at risk of social exclusion (e.g. due to poverty) in Europe from birth to seven years – the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD, 2004) reports that only one quarter of children with SEN are included in mainstream early education settings.

This literature review aims to:

- collect information about at-risk children and/or children with SEN in Europe at the pre-primary education level;
- describe where those children are located during the pre-primary stages;
- explore which resources are allocated to meet their needs;
- describe the main characteristics of the educational contexts where these children are included.

This document summarises major research and policy documents to analyse Early Childhood Education and Care (ECEC) services and programmes implemented for at-risk children and/or those with SEN.

Chapter 2 introduces the definitions of the concepts that are the focus of study. Chapter 3 summarises the main documents published by international organisations and reviews the main EU policy developments related to ECE/IECE which define the context in this area. Chapter 4 reviews the latest literature describing the benefits of ECE/IECE for at-risk children and children with SEN. Chapters 5 to 10 describe relevant academic research, aiming to identify the main factors that are important in early years programmes. The key



research is framed within the five principles identified by the European Commission's Thematic Working Group on ECEC (2014), namely:

- Access/transition procedures
- Workforce
- Curriculum/content
- Governance/funding
- Monitoring/evaluation.



## **1. INTRODUCTION**

This literature review on ECE/IECE is part of the 'Inclusive Early Childhood Education' (IECE) project, conducted by the European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education. The project's overall goal is to identify and analyse the factors (facilitators - challenges/barriers) that enable quality and effective pre-primary programmes for all children in inclusive settings.

ECE/IECE is a policy priority in most European countries. Major international organisations, such as the OECD (2014a) and the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO, 2014a), have had specific departments and research teams working on this topic for the last 20 years. Within the political framework, it is important to highlight that the European Convention on Human Rights (Council of Europe, 1950) and the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) (UN, 1989) are widely accepted references on children's rights. There is enormous debate about what it means to implement rights in terms of empowering disadvantaged and vulnerable groups. To analyse this debate and emerge with desirable outcomes, one must understand how these rights are being implemented in the early years. This literature review therefore intends to present the latest literature in terms of policies and research that describe the current knowledge on inclusive education issues in early childhood.

While ECEC spans the period from birth to the start of compulsory schooling, ECEC policies and curricula have often been applied to two different age groups. Their range varies among countries, but tends to be from birth to three years and from three years to the start of compulsory schooling (OECD, 2012a). This is often complicated by a 'split' of responsibility for standards and provision among different government ministries for the two age groups. The health and social welfare ministry is often responsible for the first group, and the education ministry for the second.

Almost all OECD countries have some form of a framework, with either a curriculum or learning standards for the older age group. Several countries aim to have 'integrated' services and one framework for continuous development from birth to compulsory schooling, such as the one used in Hesse, Germany.

This review will particularly focus on the period between the age of three and the start of formal schooling. The IECE project recognises the great importance of appropriate care and child-rearing practices in the first three years of childhood. Nevertheless, this project aims to enhance policy and provision for the older age group, which is now seen to need structured forms of education provision.

## 2. DEFINITION OF EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE, PRE-PRIMARY EDUCATION, AT-RISK CHILDREN AND/OR CHILDREN WITH SEN

This literature review adopts international definitions of ECEC and pre-primary education, as maintained in the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED) published by UNESCO (2006a [1997]). This review assumes that there are many different practices in nursery education, involving age range, content and quality of the education provided and implemented (Wolfendale, 1997; Buysse et al., 2001; Robinson, 2008).

In this literature review, 'early childhood education and care' or 'early childhood care and education' (ECEC, or ECCE as termed by UNESCO) refer to:

Provision for children from birth through to primary education that falls within a national regulatory framework, i.e., it has to comply with a set of rules, minimum standards and/or undergo accreditation procedures (European Commission/EACEA/ Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014, p. 155).

This literature review adopts the following ISCED definition of 'pre-primary education':

Pre-primary education (ISCED 0) is defined as the initial stage of organised instruction, designed primarily to introduce very young children to a school-type environment, that is, to provide a bridge between home and a school-based atmosphere. ISCED level 0 programmes should be centre or school-based, be designed to meet the educational and developmental needs of children at least three years of age, and have staff that are adequately trained (i.e., qualified) to provide an educational programme for the children (OECD, 2002, p. 372).

This review focuses on 'inclusion' in ECEC. 'Inclusion' is here defined as:

An ongoing process aimed at offering quality education for all while respecting diversity and the different needs and abilities, characteristics and learning expectations of the students and communities, eliminating all forms of discrimination (UNESCO-IBE, 2008, p. 18).

Furthermore, inclusion is considered to be a concern of the system, rather than of individual learners or groups:

The Agency views inclusive education as a systemic approach to providing high quality education in mainstream schools that effectively meets the academic and social learning needs of all the learners from the school's local community (European Agency, 2015, p. 2).

This idea links with the meaning of 'health' described by a group of four-year-olds. They indicated how their feeling of being engaged in their favourite educational activities with their peers was largely related to feeling healthy (Almqvist et al., 2006).



Inclusion in early years has been associated with different terms that Devarakonda summarises as:

Diversity, removing barriers, equal opportunities, respect, celebration of differences, meeting needs, ongoing processes, overcoming exclusion, better access, and increasing participation. Individuals differ in many aspects, and inclusion for each child can mean something different (2013, p. 7).

Scholars such as Nutbrown et al. clarified that inclusion 'has an operational rather than conceptual focus' (2013, pp. 3–4). It is always 'a state of becoming' (ibid.), in which families and schools are continuously working on encountering positive and challenging factors. Therefore, the following sections of this review try to give form to the process of inclusion itself and identify the factors that, according to scholars, are part of the process of inclusive practice in the early years. All children have a right to inclusion in the mainstream education system. The implementation of inclusion goes through a never-ending process of breaking down barriers to participation (Tedam, 2013).

Furthermore, heterogeneity is not only encouraged in an inclusive environment – it is intended to become a holistic experience for all children during their first stage of education. Challenges in implementing meaningful education might be due to the fact that inclusion is a complex and context-dependent matter. Inclusive education follows a historical path and exercises cultural tools.

Graham and Jahnukainen (2011) reviewed the Alberta (Canada) and Finnish education systems. Both had similarly high standards of living, well-developed education systems and top results in international education rankings. The review showed that culturally-bound elements affect how learners with disabilities are organised in educational centres. Many children are located in special schools in Canada, as there are only two plausible choices – mainstream or special schools. However, in Finland, many structural forms are in place and are supported by national policies. Therefore, a more flexible education system offers teachers resources and support services. In Canada, teachers get overwhelmed because of limited choices and so exclusion is naturalised. In Finland, on the other hand, teachers and learners have extensive support available to them. This support is pro-active, responsive and independent of diagnosis for around 30% of children from pre-primary to year three.

This educational stage is characterised by different settings that include children with diverse characteristics (Devarakonda, 2013; Pugh and Duffy, 2014). This literature review will focus on all children with SEN and/or at-risk children (i.e. disadvantaged, immigrants, disabled) from three years old to the start of primary education (six to seven years old).

The EU Quality Framework provides the following definition of at-risk children:

Children can be at risk of disadvantage because of their individual circumstances or because they, or their families belong to a group which is disadvantaged in society. These children may include those with disabilities, with mental health problems, in alternative care, at risk of neglect/abuse, undocumented child migrants/asylum seekers, those whose families live in poverty or are socially disadvantaged, those whose families have a migrant and/or second language background, those whose families have limited access to services, Roma and traveller children (European Commission, 2014, p. 68).



In Sweden, the definitions of 'young children in need of special support' were divided into two general perspectives: a child perspective and an organisational perspective (Sandberg et al., 2010). Units with a child perspective had a higher proportion of children in need of special support, especially girls. The study highlights that the term is partially socially constructed and partially based on perceived child characteristics. In a unit, the staff's perceptions of what is considered to be a child in need of special support may affect the services provided to children in need of special support. Following the document entitled *Key principles of a Quality Framework*, it is important that policies work towards a perspective that considers all children's rights, instead of using risk analysis (European Commission, 2014).

The conceptual framework for the education of children with SEN is contextualised, as many participants are involved in its interpretation and with the services provided. For example, in the United Kingdom (UK), Hodkinson and Vickerman (2009) identified different definitions used by schools and local authorities that cause great difficulties for professionals in distinguishing between disabilities and special needs. They also cause confusion over the definition of SEN itself. In that regard, there are children with special needs, but without the characteristics defined in the policy or education act. This results in lower expectations for children or lack of resources. Devarakonda (2013) pointed out that not all children with disabilities have SEN; many only need certain accommodations and have no difficulty in accessing learning. She also specified that the term's use is contextualised, as it depends on the options for education provision, the parents' perspective and the role of staff providing support. Mental health problems in childhood are considered an international public health issue, affecting up to 20% of children (Bayer et al., 2008).



## **3. INTERNATIONAL CONCERNS ABOUT EARLY** CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE

Many international organisations have acknowledged ECEC's value and benefits, which are greatest for at-risk children.

The UNCRC recognises that the youngest children are vested with the full range of human rights (UN, 1989). Article 28 of the UNCRC sets out the child's right to education on the basis of equal opportunity. It calls upon States Parties to make primary education compulsory and freely available to all. Although the UNCRC does not explicitly refer to ECEC, Article 6 states that children have a right to develop to 'the maximum extent possible' (UN, 1989, p. 47).

In September 2005, the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child issued a general comment on *Implementing Child Rights in Early Childhood*, which underlines the importance of early childhood development (UN, 2006). It emphasises that the right to optimum development entails the right to education during early childhood with systematic and quality family involvement. It highlights the need for States Parties to develop a comprehensive framework for early childhood services which ensure the child's best interests. Access to services for all children – especially the most vulnerable – should be guaranteed. The Committee calls on States Parties to ensure that the services responsible for early childhood comply with quality standards and that staff members 'possess the appropriate psychosocial qualities' (UN, 2006, p. 11). The child's right to rest, leisure and play needs to be addressed within ECE. The document emphasises the importance of ECEC for children with disabilities as a means for early identification. The Committee states that young children with disabilities 'should never be institutionalized solely on the grounds of disability' and that 'it is a priority to ensure that they have equal opportunities to participate fully in education and community life' (UN, 2006, p. 17).

The Education for All (EFA) goals also stress the crucial role of early learning for all children. EFA is a global commitment, launched in 1990 by UNESCO, the UN Procurement Division, UNICEF and the World Bank.

In 2000, 164 governments met in Dakar and identified six goals intended to meet the learning needs of all children and adults by 2015. The *Dakar Framework for Action* affirmed the importance of ECE by including it as the first of its six main goals: 'expanding and improving comprehensive early childhood care and education, especially for the most vulnerable and disadvantaged children' (UNESCO, 2000, p. 8).

The *Dakar Framework* recommended that ECEC programmes 'should be comprehensive, focusing on all of the child's needs and encompassing health, nutrition and hygiene as well as cognitive and psycho-social development' (ibid., p. 15). ECEC should also contribute to identifying and enriching the care and education of children with special needs.

The EFA Global Monitoring Report 2007 urges countries to develop national early childhood policies to promote young children's holistic development. The report underlines that governance is a key element of an ECEC policy. Policy decisions about governance have implications for the types and quality of children's experiences before they begin school (UNESCO, 2006b). Its importance was made clear in September 2010,



when UNESCO held the first 'World Conference on Early Childhood Care and Education' in Moscow (UNESCO, 2010).

UNESCO developed the Holistic Early Childhood Development Index (HECDI) to monitor young children's well-being at both national and international levels (UNESCO, 2014b). The HECDI sets targets and indicators. It adopts a holistic vision of early childhood which includes indicators of health, nutrition, protection, welfare and education. The HECDI's main goal is to ensure that each child achieves their potential. It therefore presents four main objectives for young children's development, covering health, nutrition, education, social protection, poverty and parental support. The HECDI was used to monitor global progress in achieving EFA Goal 1 for 2015.

The *Dakar Framework* has now been replaced by the UN Sustainable Development Goals, one of which states:

By 2030, ensure that all girls and boys have access to quality early childhood development, care and pre-primary education so that they are ready for primary education (UN, 2015, Goal 4.2).

The World Bank has also stressed the major role of early childhood development in its *Education Strategy 2020*. It sets the goal of achieving 'Learning for All' through the following three pillars: invest early, invest smartly and invest for all (World Bank, 2011). The World Bank strategies on health, nutrition and social protection also involve early childhood development. This interest in early childhood development has led to the development of the SABER-Early Childhood Development tool. It aims to present policy-makers with a means to promote healthy development for young children (World Bank, 2013). The initiative identified three main policy goals to assess early childhood development systems: 'establishing an enabling environment', 'implementing widely' and 'monitoring and assuring quality' (World Bank, 2013, p. 18).

In 1996, the OECD developed an ECEC network. It aims to help countries develop effective and efficient education and learning policies during the early years of children's education. This network has released major publications in the field of ECEC, such as *Starting Strong I*, *II*, *III* and *IV* (OECD, 2001; 2006; 2012a; 2015a). These reports focus on analysing key components of successful ECEC policies and promote data collection in this field.

One of the eight key elements of successful ECEC policies, identified in the *Starting Strong I* report, is a 'universal approach to access, with particular attention to children in need of special support' (OECD, 2001, p. 126). The report highlights that a universal approach to ECEC access is more effective than targeting particular groups. However, children in need of special support require particular attention. Including children with SEN in ECEC appeared to be an important goal for all countries that participated in the review (OECD, 2001).

The *Starting Strong II* report (OECD, 2006) expresses the need for greater social inclusion in ECEC services. It highlights that:

Access is often inappropriate for children with special needs and/or additional learning needs, so much so that directors of centres may not allow them to enrol, or parents – seeing the difficulties involved for their children – simply desist (ibid., p. 82).

Therefore, there is a critical need to support ECEC for children with special needs. Early childhood services are particularly important, as they can contribute to children's health and social and cognitive development. ECEC services make an important contribution for at-risk children and their families, as they allow for early screening and identification of special needs (ibid., p. 97).

ECEC is guided by a framework of common goals linking education and health in children's first educational stages. According to UNESCO (2005), ECEC refers to a wide range of programmes. All of them focus on children's physical, cognitive and social development before they enter primary school, from birth until, in certain countries, the age of seven or eight.

The UNICEF report, *The State of the World's Children 2001: Early Childhood*, acknowledges that successful ECEC programmes should:

- use communities' existing strengths;
- have a broad framework which encompasses multi-dimensional programmes in health, nutrition and the child's psychosocial and cognitive development;
- be developed with and for families (UNICEF, 2001).

*Starting Strong II* (OECD, 2006) intensely explored areas such as governance of ECEC systems, the impact of financial approaches on quality and examining the results from different pedagogical approaches. In conclusion, the OECD recognised the value of interdepartmental work, together with co-ordinated bodies among local and national governments.

In 2012, the OECD published *Starting Strong III* (2012a). This recognised that quality in ECEC provision is an essential factor for ensuring positive outcomes, but that such quality differs widely among countries. The document identified five key levers for raising quality in ECEC, namely:

- Setting out quality goals and regulations
- Designing and implementing curriculum and standards
- Improving qualifications, training and working conditions
- Engaging families and communities
- Advancing data collection, research and monitoring.

*Starting Strong IV* (OECD, 2015a) followed and explored how countries can develop and use monitoring systems to ensure quality and accountability in ECE programmes.

Meanwhile, the UNESCO (2006b) EFA Global Monitoring Report had also suggested that ECEC could ease the stress that some children experience during the transition to primary school. The main strategies are: integrating ECEC with primary education, continuity of the curriculum and continuity between home and school. This document emphasises the importance of the relationship between the child and the carer or teacher at early childhood levels, which further analysis should examine. Teachers' involvement in this programme has proved to be a problem area. There is a high rate of teacher attrition or turnover, especially in the early years. For example, in the US, it is estimated that between 40 and 50 percent of teachers leave within five years of entering the profession.



The report also supports the view that children learn in their mother tongue during the early years educational stage. This is because children acquire linguistic and cognitive skills more readily in their own language and are then able to transfer skills to other widely used languages (UNESCO, 2006b). More specifically, ECE can play a crucial role in integrating children with a migrant background, particularly by placing a strong focus on language development (Council of the European Union, 2009a).

Education International (2008) evaluated the EFA Global Monitoring Report, *Education for All by 2015. Will we make it?* (UNESCO, 2008). It agreed that in order to work holistically with children, one must ensure their well-being by providing immunisation, nutrition and other complementary services. The OECD *Starting Strong II* report (2006) complements this. It emphasises that decentralised services are an aim. However, they are only effective if the national parameters are consistent with goal setting, staffing legislation, financing regulations and programme standards in order to avoid disparities in quality and access to services.

In 2012, UNESCO and UNICEF analysed the EFA Goal 1 and published the *Asia Pacific End-of-Decade Notes on Education For All*. It analyses how the early years of child education are implemented worldwide and gives further attention to services and programmes in developing countries. The document supports the importance of local culture and quality of teaching methods in this educational stage, particularly in countries where resources are scarce. It highlights the challenges of those who have tried to 'copy' quality programmes from Western countries. It emphasises the importance of qualitative analysis in educational contexts. The meaning of quality should be delivered by the stakeholders, including parents, children and staff.

Therefore, in many cases, the way to implement the programmes in society needs to be understood in context. In some Asian countries, learning methods are unique to their own environment. Instead of learning through conventional Western methods, learners often learn from the elders in their village. The elders interpret the outside world in their own way and focus more on cultural activities and music. Significantly, researchers observe that, within different communities and vastly different cultures, different methods are often successful in their own rights. According to this analysis, educational quality in the early stages should therefore be interpreted within a specific holistic system. It also holds that it is important to go beyond the 'high standard parameters' defined and look to other parameters. These include having an exceptional, sensitive teacher/carer who provides a stimulating learning environment to young children, with support from parents and the community (UNESCO and UNICEF, 2012).

In January 2012, the OECD (2012a) Directorate of Education summarised the next goal as being to encourage quality, especially with regards to staff. Firstly, the Directorate emphasised setting out explicit goals and regulations that direct resources to prioritised areas, the co-ordination of resources and parents' involvement in making informed choices, helping staff to enhance instruction strategies, and helping parents to better understand child development. Furthermore, another priority should be to promote further learning for school staff, by advancing qualifications, initial education, professional development and working conditions.

The next aim is to engage families and communities and to gather data through research and monitoring (OECD, 2015a). Despite the objectives specified, in 2014, only the



following European countries had signed up: Austria, Belgium, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal, Sweden and the UK.

Improving ECEC quality is one of the recommendations for countries to contribute to support equity, prevent school failure and benefit disadvantaged learners (OECD, 2012b). Investment in early childhood services has a positive impact on the educational, social and economic spheres and the benefits are highest for those at a disadvantage (UNICEF, 2012a). Many OECD countries underspend on ECEC settings. However, allocating resources to improve ECEC quality – and particularly to promote access for disadvantaged families – has proved to be cost-effective (OECD, 2012b). Across OECD countries, the enrolment rates of three-year-old children in ECEC settings have increased. Therefore, countries now face new challenges: ensuring coverage for all children and the quality of ECEC provisions (OECD, 2015b, p. 47). The OECD countries have adopted different measures to tackle these new challenges. They include launching general ECEC strategies, improving the curriculum's quality and identifying learning needs through assessment.

The Conclusions of the 2008 International Conference on Education called for the development of inclusive ECEC programmes and for greater investment in early detection and intervention (UNESCO-IBE, 2008).

#### **3.1.** Addressing the needs of disadvantaged children through ECEC

The OECD (2006) agreed that children with physical, intellectual or sensory disabilities or from socio-economically disadvantaged environments have 'learning rights'. Such children are entitled to inclusive universal programmes in the early educational stage. Enhanced funding is needed to establish inclusive programmes, low child-staff ratios, specialist staff and well-planned pedagogies (OECD, 2006).

UNESCO (2009a) states that the early childhood imperative for the rights of children with disabilities is clear. Early years experiences provide a special opportunity to foster developmental gains and implement intervention programmes that enable young children to fully develop their potential (UNICEF, 2013a). Early identification of a child's disability helps to provide a diagnosis that allows parents, healthcare providers, teachers and others to better understand and plan for the child's needs (ibid.).

The *World Report on Disability* also highlights that early intervention can reduce the level of educational support children with disabilities may require throughout their schooling and ensure they reach their full potential (WHO and World Bank, 2011). Access to early childhood intervention, support and education is particularly significant for children with disabilities. This is because it can 'reduce disabling conditions and significantly increase capabilities of children with disabilities' (UNICEF, 2012b, p. 54).

Early intervention is most effective when families are involved, as they gain relevant information about how to optimise their child's learning potential. Comprehensive ECEC, which provides care, stimulation, parental support and access to relevant services, enhances the effects of interventions for children with disabilities (UNESCO, 2009a). Early childhood programmes allow positive transition from home to pre-school when the ECEC provision provides the necessary individualised support to address the diverse learning



needs and abilities of children with disabilities. Early assessment and intervention also increase the chances that 'children with disabilities can participate and flourish in inclusive mainstream educational settings' (UNICEF, 2012b, p. 55).

The UNICEF (2012b) position paper on *The Right of Children with Disabilities to Education* calls on governments to invest in early assessment and intervention. However, it highlights that assessment should not be discriminatory by directing children to special schools, increasing the labelling of children and contributing to negative attitudes among parents and other family members regarding their child's potential and rights. The position paper also summarises the key strategies required to ensure the right of children with disabilities to inclusive education. One of these strategies is to develop universal access to inclusive pre-primary provision (ibid., p. 103). ECE experience is a key step which can provide an important opportunity for creating inclusive environments. It is a crucial stage for developing attitudes and altruistic behaviour. Inclusive pre-primary education benefits children both with and without disabilities (ibid., p. 56).

In its 2007 EFA Global Monitoring Report, UNESCO suggested that further attention be given to children living in poor conditions, children living in rural areas and children with disabilities. It asserted that, after evaluating systems within various countries, there are unclear and inconsistent definitions of what constitutes a disadvantage. As a result, many vulnerable and disadvantaged children are at risk of being neglected by the system. The publication recommended further analysis of different systems at national and regional levels.

A focus on addressing special needs through ECEC programmes was a specific area of the profile of quality in ECEC identified in the Czech Republic, Finland, Norway, Portugal, Sweden and the UK (OECD, 2012b; Karila, 2012). Of these countries, only the Czech Republic, Norway and Scotland offer formal programmes that cater for the special needs of children at this educational stage. This includes gifted children, as well as those with identified SEN (OECD, 2014b; 2014c).

*The State of the World's Children 2013* (UNICEF, 2013b) asserts that many children with disabilities face deprivation during their childhood. This deprivation has many aspects, including social, cultural, educational and recreational. Such circumstances can have lasting effects on the child. It is well known that education systems offer increased places for young children in schools. Specifically, in many European countries, children start school at as early as four years of age. Many of these schools therefore provide resources. However, these have often become increasingly limited, due to the financial crisis and austerity programmes and public spending cuts which started in 2008 (Glassner, 2010; Lloyds, 2014; Lloyds and Penn, 2014).

For all children, and particularly those with SEN, to have equal opportunities, governments should aim to give access to and offer the opportunity to use supportive services and technology. This will allow the child to take their place in the community and contribute to it (UNICEF, 2013b). This UNICEF report mentions scholars' findings that, at pre-primary level, children without disabilities may overlook children with disabilities as friends or playmates. This is due to their belief that those children are not interested or are unable to play or interact. Communities must therefore work to alleviate the prejudice against children with SEN, particularly within the early years, and involve their peers (Bruce Marks, 1997; Aboud et al., 2012; Abrams and Killen, 2014).



UNICEF (2013b) shows the importance of programmes run by local communities and how they should include education as part of a group of interconnected services. These services are: health, education, livelihood and social empowerment. UNESCO (2009a) argues that each child must be offered early identification. This is because one in three infants who receive early intervention services do not later present with a disability or require special education at school. Assessments must lead to action, not only from local services, but at national level. This may include mapping available services, facilitating referral protocols and delivering informative materials for families on how to participate and enhance functioning at home and in the community (UNICEF, 2013b).

The *Early Childhood Development and Disability* discussion paper, by the WHO and UNICEF, highlights that attention to early childhood development is crucial for children with disabilities. It can enable them to flourish, learn, be empowered and participate (WHO, 2012). A comprehensive approach to early childhood development is necessary for appropriate care and support. Such an approach includes 'early identification; assessment and early intervention planning; provision of services; and monitoring and evaluation' (ibid., p. 21). The discussion paper emphasises that children with disabilities are often denied early years of primary schooling. When enrolled – due to a lack of inclusive approaches – they often fail, need to repeat and/or are encouraged to drop out. Inclusive pre-primary and early primary schooling gives children with disabilities a space that ensures optimal development. It does so by 'providing opportunities for child-focused learning, play, participation, peer interaction' and developing friendships (ibid., p. 24).

UNICEF (2013b, p. 81) stresses that when barriers are removed earlier in life, it lessens the compounding effect of the multiple barriers that children with disabilities face. The report *Policy Guidelines on Inclusion in Education* (UNESCO, 2009b) advocates that inclusion be ensured through ECEC. 'Early childhood interventions should be seen as a sustainable way to guarantee the right to education of all children' from the outset (ibid., p. 17). Therefore, ECEC can be a significant instrument for building inclusive societies.

Promoting inclusive ECEC programmes can enhance the development of children with disabilities and foster inclusive and non-discriminatory attitudes among children from the start (UNESCO and UNICEF, 2015). ECEC programmes which are 'responsive to individual needs and respectful of diversity benefit all children and contribute to building the foundations of an inclusive society' (UNESCO, 2009a, p. 1).

### 3.2. ECEC at the European level

Increasing access to ECEC has been one of the EU's priorities since 1992, following the publication of the *Council recommendation on child care* (Council of the European Communities, 1992). The development of EU policies for ECEC provision has been linked to labour market policies of employability and equity. The first goal that was highlighted was to provide ECEC so that women would have equal access to jobs. Secondly, ECEC was seen as a way of preventing school failure, early school leaving and unemployment. Thirdly, ECEC is increasingly seen as a way to reduce disadvantage and social exclusion by providing quality, equitable educational opportunity. ECEC should therefore be characterised by a universal approach of access to quality ECEC, irrespective of family income, parental employment status, SEN or ethnic background (OECD, 2001).



Women's participation in the labour market has been a key driver of European governments' interest in expanding ECEC services. Thus, at the European Council in Barcelona in 2002, the European Education Ministers aimed to promote access to employment for parents, and particularly for mothers. The European Council invited member states to 'remove disincentives to female labour force participation' (European Council, 2002, p. 12). It set a benchmark that, by 2010, member states were to provide childcare to at least 90% of children between three years old and the mandatory school age and to at least 33% of children under three years (ibid.).

Infant education and care in Europe is thus much more than a simple stage delivering the quality of care children need. ECE is becoming a general response to society, offering families and the leading financial system a second home for small children with its own educational status, practice, principles and research (Llorent-Bedmar, 2013). The European Council and the Commission pinpointed in the Lisbon Strategy in 2000 and 2008 that providing high quality in ECE provision is a key component to achieve gender equality and increase female labour market participation.

Since then, realising the Barcelona objectives has been one of the EU's main priorities, first in the Lisbon Strategy and then in the strategic framework for European co-operation in education and training up to 2020.

The focus of European education policies has, however, shifted. Initially, they focused on increasing the quantity of childcare and pre-primary places to enable more parents to join the labour market. Now, they focus on the educative and formative effects of ECEC for young children in their development. The 2006 spring European Council stated that reforms are necessary to ensure high-quality education and training systems that are both efficient and equitable (European Council, 2006). The European Commission's Communication (2006a) on efficiency and equity presents recommendations for member states to integrate the principles of efficiency and equity at all levels of education and training. Integrating these principles should guarantee access to education for all – particularly for the most disadvantaged – as well as reduce long-term costs caused by inequalities in education and training. In the Communication, the Commission highlighted that participation in high-quality pre-primary education has long-lasting benefits. These include benefits in terms of achievement and socialisation during the individuals' schooling and career, because it facilitates later learning.

Moreover, the Communication states that early intervention programmes, especially those targeted at disadvantaged children, can produce large positive socio-economic returns, and that these persist well into adulthood. The effects of participation in pre-primary education include better school achievement, grade retention, employment rates, earnings, crime prevention, family relationships and health. The Commission invited member states to invest more in pre-primary education as an effective means to build a foundation for further learning and to prevent school dropout. Investing in pre-primary education is both more efficient and more equitable. This is because pre-primary education facilitates further learning. Furthermore, it has the highest rates of return of the whole lifelong learning continuum, especially for the most disadvantaged. The results of this investment increase over time (European Commission, 2006a).

In 2009, the Council launched a strategic framework for European co-operation in education and training up to 2020 (ET 2020). This new strategic framework considers



education and training as a whole within a lifelong learning perspective. It builds on the achievements of the Education and Training 2010 work programme. ET 2020 provides four common strategic objectives for the member states. It includes a set of principles to achieve these objectives, as well as common working methods with priority areas.

One of the common strategic objectives is to promote equity, social cohesion and active citizenship. This objective underlines that education and training systems should enable all citizens to acquire and develop competencies for their employability and develop further learning, active citizenship and intercultural dialogue. Under this objective, the Council stated that high-quality ECE, targeted support and inclusive education are key elements to address educational disadvantage (European Commission, 2008a; Council of the European Union, 2009b).

ECEC is the foundation for successful lifelong learning, social integration, personal development and later employability (European Commission, 2011a). In the long term, investment in high-quality ECEC can decrease the cost of public spending on welfare, health and justice. Attending pre-primary education can pave the way to better educational outcomes throughout lifelong learning. Many of the benefits of participation in ECE depend on the quality of ECEC provision. Recent European education policies have focused on factors that affect quality and on what constitutes high-quality ECEC. The availability of high-quality, affordable ECEC is a key priority for the EU and its member states. High-quality ECEC can contribute to achieving two Europe 2020 targets: reducing early school leaving to below 10% and removing at least 20 million people from poverty and social exclusion.

One in four children under the age of six in Europe is at risk of poverty or social exclusion. These children require specific measures to support their educational needs (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014). Across Europe, at-risk children have lower participation rates in ECEC. Increasing participation in high-quality ECEC among children from disadvantaged backgrounds is one of the main priorities of European education policy.

Recently, ECEC policy has been moving towards enhancing child development. ECEC is a crucial stage, as participation in this level of education can profoundly influence a child's development. Therefore, ECEC policy has often been incorporated in anti-poverty and educational equity strategies, as ECEC can constitute a foundation for more equitable education systems.

The ET 2020 strategic framework includes a new benchmark on ECEC: at least 95% of children between the age of four and compulsory school age should participate in ECE (Council of the European Union, 2009b). This new benchmark aims to increase ECEC participation as a foundation for later educational success, especially for children from disadvantaged backgrounds. ET 2020 specifically highlights the importance of equity in ECEC, as high participation and high-quality provision can reduce the risk of educational failure due to a disadvantaged background.

The Communication on ECEC (European Commission, 2011a) set out key policy areas for co-operation between member states within the Open Method of Co-ordination in order to improve the accessibility and quality of ECEC across Europe. The Communication highlights that quality in ECE is a key issue. With this Communication, the Commission



launched a co-operation process with measures to improve access and ensure the quality of provision. These include using ECEC effectively to support inclusion, to reduce early school leaving and to widen access for disadvantaged children. Since the launch, improving ECEC quality across Europe has been part of Europe's broader agenda. Education Ministers adopted Council Conclusions on the same topic that laid out the future priorities for joint policy work. The Council also supported the member states in their efforts to improve their ECEC provisions (Council of the European Union, 2011).

However, access to mainstream education and training for children with SEN is difficult and sometimes unequal. The EU promotes national efforts to provide support for inclusive education and early identification of special needs through ET 2020, the strategic framework for European co-operation in education and training, and the European Disability Strategy 2010–2020 (European Commission, 2010). One of the eight priority areas under the European Disability Strategy is education and training. Under this key area, the strategy recognises the need to integrate children with disabilities into general education systems and the need to provide individual support.

In the framework of ET 2020, the Council invited member states to develop more cooperation with learners with special needs to promote inclusive education and personalised learning through support, as well as the early identification of special needs (Council of the European Union, 2009b). The Youth on the Move initiative also aims to increase knowledge about levels of education and opportunities for people with disabilities. It aims to increase their mobility by facilitating their participation in lifelong learning (European Commission, 2010).

In 2012, the Commission initiated a process of defining quality in ECEC by setting up a Thematic Working Group, which started to meet as part of the Open Method of Coordination. The Thematic Working Group on ECEC started to work to develop a quality framework for ECEC in Europe. Its focus has been on identifying key policy actions that have led to improvements in ECEC quality and access. The Working Group's outcomes include a proposal for key principles of a quality framework for ECEC. This is considered a practical guide to support policy-makers and member states to go further in increasing quality in ECEC settings (European Commission, 2014). Five key areas were identified where action has led to improvements in the quality of provision: access, workforce, curriculum, evaluation and monitoring, and governance and funding. Within these five key areas, the Working Group identified actions which member states could use to further improve ECEC quality.

Thus, since 2011, the importance of high-quality ECEC has been reflected in a large number of joint programmes by European institutions and by the member states. Developments in the field of ECEC have focused on factors that affect quality. Member states have co-operated more closely at EU level on issues relating to increasing ECEC quality. The emphasis is now on the importance of early years education provision. This is not only to encourage parents' participation in the labour market, but also to influence children's development and address socio-economic inequalities.



#### **3.3.** Key facts about ECEC at the European level

In 2014, 32 million children were at a qualifying age for ECEC provisions in Europe. Most member states have committed to providing ECEC for all children, either by making attendance compulsory for at least the last pre-primary year or by establishing a legal entitlement to ECEC.

In 2011, the EU average for participation in ECEC for children between the age of four and the start of compulsory primary education was 93.2% (European Commission, 2013a). This rate is only 1.8 percentage points away from the ET 2020 benchmark, which is to ensure that at least 95% of children in this age group participate in ECEC. It is therefore likely that the ET 2020 target will be reached before 2020. Participation in ECEC for children under three years old remains very low. In 2011, only 10 EU member countries (as well as Iceland and Norway) had reached the Barcelona target, which stated that by 2010 childcare should be provided for 33% of children under the age of three (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014).

The starting age for compulsory primary education across Europe varies between four and seven. It is compulsory from the age of:

- four in Cyprus, Luxembourg and Northern Ireland;
- five in Croatia, England, Greece, Hungary, Latvia, Malta, the Netherlands, Poland, Scotland and Wales;
- six in Austria, Belgium, Czech Republic, Denmark, France, Germany, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Spain;
- seven in Bulgaria, Estonia, Finland, Lithuania and Sweden (European Commission/ EACEA/Eurydice, 2013a).

In Switzerland, the age for compulsory education depends on the individual canton and can vary between the ages of four and six (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014).

UNESCO (2014b) monitors the following data at a national level in most countries worldwide: 'gross enrolment ratio in ECCE programmes', 'percentage of new entrants to primary grade 1 who have attended some form of organised ECCE programme', 'enrolment in private ECCE centres', 'percentage of trained teachers in ECCE programmes', 'public expenditure on ECCE programmes as a percentage of total public expenditure on education', 'net enrolment ratio (NER) in ECCE programmes including pre-primary education' and 'pupil/teacher ratio'. This specific group includes the following European countries: Austria, Belgium, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the UK.

Nowadays, UNESCO (2014a) is collecting statistics from EFA Goal 1, taking into account the gross enrolment ratio (GER) regardless of age, divided by the total number of eligible children of pre-primary age in pre-primary education. The data established that Belgium, Denmark, the Czech Republic (110%), France (108%), Germany (114%), Italy (98%), Malta (117%), the Netherlands (93%), Norway (99%), Spain (126.9%), Sweden (94.9%) and Switzerland (100.6%) have exceeded the 90% recommended enrolment.



In December 2013, UNESCO held a regional thematic consultation on 'Education in the Post-2015 Development Agenda' (UNESCO, 2013). It highlighted its work on monitoring through qualitative data and specified that it has mainly received data focusing on the pre-primary stage. The UNESCO report (2013) and a UNESCO and UNICEF report (2013) both concluded that well-being has improved in early years worldwide, as has access to primary education. However, there was still little progress on the provision of ECCE. Specifically, in Western Europe and North America, the reports recommended addressing the inequality in education at all levels, but particularly in ECCE access. The UNESCO and UNICEF report confirmed that all participating countries from these regions have comprehensive public policies providing for the care of children aged under three.

There are great differences in mortality statistics for children under five (UNESCO and UNICEF, 2013). In Finland, Iceland and Sweden the death rate is 3% and in the US, it is 8%. There are various challenges within participating countries when it comes to offering children the education needed at pre-primary education level. For example, in France 87% of children go to state pre-schools and in Belgium 53% attend private ones. Universal participation is implemented in nine countries, including the following European countries: Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, Spain and Sweden. The private sector accounts for one fifth to one half of learners in these countries. Finland and Portugal have progressed greatly toward universal pre-schooling. The share of the private sector varies considerably, standing at 4% in Switzerland and reaching 51% in Cyprus. The countries with a smaller proportion of children in pre-school are the US (64%) and Ireland (67%) where, moreover, 98% of learners attend private pre-schools. The duration of pre-primary schooling varies, from 1.3 years in Ireland and 1.7 years in the UK, to 3.2 years in France, 3.8 in Spain and 4 years in Denmark.

Two main organisational models of ECEC exist in Europe. The most widespread is the split model, under which there is a separation between childcare for young children (under the age of three) and pre-primary education. The other model is a unitary system whereby ECEC provision consists of a single phase for all children of pre-primary age.

Regarding the time spent in ECEC provisions, programmes can cover the entire week or only several hours during the same period. In the 28 EU countries, children over three years of age spend an average of 29 hours per week in ECEC (European Commission/ EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014).

PISA (2009, as cited in UNESCO and UNICEF, 2013) states that those children who attended at least one year of pre-primary education performed better than those who did not. The following aspects were considered: number of years of attendance, pupil-teacher ratios and public expenditure per pupil. It is said that policy-makers tend to neglect public expenditures for ECCE and there are great differences in those countries with available data.



Worldwide, children's enrolment in the pre-primary educational stage (ages three to seven) has increased. The progress in enrolment ratio is slowest in low-income countries. In conclusion, it is said that:

... specifically there are no indicators which are globally commonly used to assess the coverage and quality of early years ECCE opportunities. Summarily there are no agreed global measures to assess school readiness. Thus, the ECCE sub-goals require more developed measures which assess the extent and quality of such provision (UNESCO and UNICEF, 2013, p. 36).

# 4. WIDE-RANGING BENEFITS OF PRE-PRIMARY EDUCATION

It is difficult to deny that early childhood educational experiences have an important impact on a person's life (Barnett, 2011). The various benefits of ECEC at both the individual and societal levels are increasingly acknowledged across Europe. These benefits are wide-ranging and include educational, economic and social aspects (European Commission, 2011a). It is assumed that major developments in physical, socio-emotional and cognitive areas occur during this stage. As such, meaningful educational experiences during these years can have a positive impact on a child's future (Shonkoff and Phillips, 2000). Participation in high-quality ECEC is determinant in terms of later educational success and successful lifelong learning.

European institutions have highlighted the positive effects of high-quality pre-primary provision on children's intellectual, social and behavioural development. Attendance in pre-primary education improves children's average attainment, attention and participation in class at the primary level (European Commission, 2006b; 2008b). ECEC has long-lasting benefits in terms of achievement and socialisation during the individuals' schooling because it facilitates later learning (European Commission, 2006a). In its resolution on early years learning in the EU, the European Parliament (2011) re-affirmed that the early years are critical for cognitive, sensory and motor development, as well as for personal development and language acquisition. Participation in high-quality ECEC has been identified as one of the most effective preventive measures to reduce early school leaving (European Commission, 2011b).

The PISA and PIRLS surveys have also demonstrated the benefits of participation in ECEC. Learners who attended pre-primary education performed better in PISA than those who did not. PISA and PIRLS results demonstrated that participation in high-quality ECE is associated with better outcomes at later educational stages, notably in reading achievement scores and in mathematics scores (OECD, 2013a; 2013b).

Participation in ECEC also gives social and economic advantages. ECEC has been identified as a key area for laying the foundations to improve the competences and later employability of future EU citizens (European Commission, 2011a). The improvement of ECEC quality is part of the Commission's broader agenda of creating a more skilled workforce, capable of adapting to technological changes and therefore contributing to the flagship 'Agenda for new skills and jobs'.

Over the last decade, governments have promoted research on their own national early years programmes. Economists, such as James J. Heckman (a Nobel prize winner and an expert on the economics of human development), have proved that the quality of early childhood development has a huge impact on health, economics and social outcomes for individuals, families and society. Heckman has demonstrated its benefit for the US economy in terms of equality of opportunities and the development of capable and highly productive human beings (Heckman, 2011). An extensive cost-benefit analysis examined the impact of a quality programme for 0–5-year-olds from disadvantaged families in the US. It reported a '13% per child, per year return on investment'. This was through better



outcomes in education, health, social behaviour (less crime) and employment, leading to reduced public costs down the line and enhanced workforce competitiveness (García et al., 2016). In the US, the state-funded Head Start programme focuses on poor children. Participation in it was found to increase the possibility of getting a secondary diploma by 9% and decrease the likelihood of dropping out of school by 7% (Garces et al., 2000).

As another example, the OECD (2006) carried out a longitudinal comparative study with two groups that had and had not experienced pre-school in their early years. The study highlights the strong evidence that ECE, together with public policy measures, improves the life of children and influences social equity. The group of children with pre-school experience were:

- better prepared to attend school at the age of 5;
- more committed to school at the age of 14;
- more likely to gain a basic education certificate at the age of 14;
- more likely to graduate from high school;
- more likely to earn higher wages;
- less likely to be arrested (OECD, 2006).

The OECD concludes that education systems must aim to identify inequalities and that the early years are the best period to offer children a good educational trajectory (OECD, 2007).

ECEC benefits all children, but particularly the disadvantaged. The European Commission (2006b) has highlighted that pre-primary education is particularly beneficial for the disadvantaged and can bring them the highest returns over the lifelong learning cycle. Tackling disadvantage in the early years is an important means of increasing efforts to address poverty and social exclusion. ECEC can help to lift children out of poverty (European Commission, 2011a). Extending access to quality ECEC for children from disadvantaged backgrounds is a key issue to counter segregation and provide all children with equal opportunities. More specifically, inclusion at pre-primary level has the potential to lay the groundwork for inclusion in mainstream schools at a later educational stage. The European Commission (ibid.) acknowledged that ECEC offers the potential for greater inclusion of children with SEN, paving the way for their later integration in mainstream schools.

However, all the above benefits depend on 'quality':

Expanding access to services without attention to quality will not deliver good outcomes for children or the long-term productivity benefits for society. Furthermore, research has shown that if quality is low, it can have long-lasting detrimental effects on child development, instead of bringing positive effects (OECD, 2012a, p. 9).

Recent developments have demonstrated the need for further analysis of the conditions that, once implemented, result in effective programmes. Following on from Barnett (2011), who re-affirmed that a range of early educational interventions produce different results on children's learning abilities, it is important to study which interventions are most effective.



In England, a group of researchers showed that a high-quality pre-primary educational experience – including the relationship between the child and the staff and curricular provisions – can moderate the impact of risks to children's cognitive development (Hall et al., 2009).

In another example, Bauchmüller et al. (2011) produced an epistemological report. It studied the long-term impacts of Denmark's state-funded early years programme (in which 2,275 pre-primary and age-integrated institutions were successfully matched) on children's cognitive and language development by the end of elementary schooling (age 16). It found that significant improvements in children's test results in Danish by the end of the ninth grade were related to a higher number of staff members per child, a higher share of male staff, a higher share of staff with a pedagogic education and a higher share of teachers with a non-Danish ethnic background. The research found that the quality of the staff has a direct influence on children's learning acquisition in the long run.

Inclusive programmes have a positive effect on children with specific disabilities. For example, an eight-month study was conducted on a group of three-year-olds on the autism spectrum. Community programme staff, representing a broad range of agencies, worked closely with the children, implementing activities with a 1:3 teacher-to-child ratio. The programme also included individual service outside the classroom and in-home parent education for children with autism spectrum disorder. Among the children who participated in the research sample, 31% were functioning in the typically developing range (Stahmer et al., 2011; Brookman-Frazee et al., 2012).

Some countries, such as Australia and the UK, offer a system for all children and families with additional needs, named the 'framework of progressive universalism'. Within this, ECEC services are available to all, but those who need them the most can access them in a more intensive form (Aarssen and Studulski, 2013). The UK uses a broad definition of 'children with additional needs', applying it to those who require any support over and above that provided by universal services in order to reach their potential. This definition is expected to apply to as much as 20 or 30 percent of children and young people at any point in their childhood (Statham and Marjorie, 2010).

Schelle and Friederich (2015) highlight that inclusive education for young children is a future challenge for all childcare centres in Germany. However, by promoting inclusion in the centres, there is a chance to change them. The aim is to provide access to childcare close to home, individual support and participation. Children benefit from appropriate individual support. Moreover, in achieving this aim, the quality of the whole centre increases. The article shows how improved quality is connected to developing inclusive settings in childcare. With regards to key processes in ECE, the authors illustrate the relationship between the development of quality and inclusion.

It has been underlined, however, that there is a great need for further research. Very few studies are available to inform policy-makers about effective ECEC procedures (Barnett, 2011; Bauchmüller et al., 2011).



#### 4.1. Relevant areas of study related to inclusion in early years

The European Commission (2008a) has stated that high-quality pre-primary education and targeted support can address educational disadvantage. These must be combined with properly managed inclusion in mainstream education and training.

Moreover, the European Parliament (2007) has highlighted that there must be social diversity of classes and schools from the pre-primary stage to avoid a differentiation of curricula and expectations. In its resolution on early years learning in the EU, the European Parliament (2011) stressed that, where appropriate, children should participate in mainstream ECEC services and, if necessary, receive additional help from specialists.

In 2011, EU Education Ministers agreed that one of the measures to meet the challenge of generalised equitable access to ECEC while raising the quality of provision could include providing access to high-quality, inclusive ECEC. They particularly referred to children with a socio-economically disadvantaged, migrant or Roma background or children with SEN, including disabilities (Council of the European Union, 2011). The Council reiterated that ECEC provides an opportunity for early detection of learning difficulties and for early intervention. ECEC can contribute to identifying young children with SEN and, wherever possible, facilitate their integration into mainstream schools (ibid.).

This agenda can only be effectively addressed at policy level based on knowledge of the structures and processes that constitute quality education for all children, including those with some form of disadvantage. The IECE project aims to contribute to such knowledge.

As already mentioned in section 3.2, in 2012 the European Commission established the Thematic Working Group on ECEC. This Group began the work of developing a proposal for key principles of a quality framework for ECEC at EU level (European Commission, 2012). The Group, which was organised under the Open Method of Co-ordination, comprised ECEC experts and policy-makers from across Europe. It aimed to identify and review 'key policy actions which have led to improvements in ECEC quality and access' (European Commission, 2014, p. 4). The Group placed 'the child at the centre of its reflections' (ibid.) to point out 'five areas where action has led to clear improvements in the quality of provision' (ibid.).

These areas are:

- Access
- Workforce
- Curriculum
- Evaluation and monitoring
- Governance and funding.

The Group recommended ten actions within these five areas.

The Group's proposal is a 'first practical step' (ibid., p. 5) to offer policy-makers and decision-makers in the member states a tool for self-reflection to improve the quality of ECEC provisions at the system level.



The existing literature has helped to identify key areas where quality goals are likely to help improve quality in ECEC. Nevertheless, 'there is not sufficient research on "best practice" for each intervention' (OECD, 2010, p. 5).

The present literature review serves as a first attempt to see how the proposal for key principles of a quality framework links to decision-making on ECEC in practice, particularly regarding the provision of quality inclusive settings. This is possible by surveying how decision-makers on ECEC across Europe regard the framework, as well as how it relates to practice in the field in several European countries.



## 5. THE PROPOSAL FOR KEY PRINCIPLES OF A QUALITY FRAMEWORK FOR ECEC

The Thematic Working Group on ECEC identified five areas which can be regarded as areas of challenge for ECEC policy-makers and providers (European Commission, 2014). Chapters 6–10 describe each of the areas to highlight the challenges they present, the responses that relevant research to date describes, and the areas that need to be addressed in the present study. However, it is first important to consider some reflections on questions about the nature of quality in ECEC.

### 5.1. Quality in ECEC

There is wide agreement that beneficial outcomes for children and their families are related to quality ECEC. However, it should be noted that 'ECEC quality is a complex concept' and 'there is no internationally agreed concept of quality in ECEC services' (European Commission, 2014, p. 6). For instance, different stakeholders may have different goals. Governments may want to ensure school preparedness and healthy socio-emotional child development, while working parents may look for easy access to high-quality childcare, and minority groups may seek opportunities for transmitting their native culture and language (OECD, 2012a). There are also often different goals emphasising aspects of care or education when ECEC provisions are provided by mental health rather than educational departments.

Along with the diversity of goals, there is a diversity of efforts to improve ECEC quality. it has proved difficult to identify 'the specific measures which have had the greatest impact on quality and in turn have led to better outcomes' for children (European Commission, 2014, p. 5).

One goal that is not always highlighted to the same extent, but which is central to the present study, is the level and quality of inclusiveness of ECEC settings. The Thematic Working Group on ECEC report (European Commission, 2014) addresses this concern more widely, through its above-mentioned five areas for action towards quality. The Eurofound (2015) working paper also addresses this. At the same time, there is wide agreement on the main action areas for improving ECEC quality. The OECD *Starting Strong III* report calls these 'policy levers' (2012a, p. 3). The OECD addresses the same five action areas that the Thematic Working Group identified, though with subtly different highlighting.

The OECD lists the following five policy levers:

- Policy Lever 1: Setting out quality goals and regulations
- Policy Lever 2: Designing and implementing curriculum and standards
- Policy Lever 3: Improving qualifications, training and working conditions
- Policy Lever 4: Engaging families and communities
- Policy Lever 5: Advancing data collection, research and monitoring (ibid.).



Policy levers 2, 3 and 5 are similar to three of the Thematic Working Group's areas. Meanwhile, the OECD report addresses the Group's 'Access' and 'Governance and funding' differently, as 'Setting out quality goals and regulations' and 'Engaging families and communities'.

#### 5.2. Assessing quality in ECEC

Given the potentially different stakeholder goals, how will ECEC quality be measured?

The OECD network on ECEC (2013c) and the Thematic Working Group on ECEC (European Commission, 2014) have identified three ways of assuring the quality of ECEC services. These are structural, process and outcome quality.

**Structural quality** refers to how the overarching ECEC system is designed and organised. It includes standards associated with the accreditation and approval of individual ECEC settings. Standards may be applied to:

- inclusive access to quality services;
- well-qualified and supported staff;
- quality curriculum design;
- quality physical environment;
- quality health and safety requirements;
- quality leadership and management including monitoring and evaluation.

**Process quality** refers to elements that influence the everyday nature of ECEC settings and directly influence the quality of the education programme each child experiences. They include:

- quality of interactions and relationships between children and ECEC staff;
- quality implementation of inclusive curricula that support all children's well-being, active learning and development;
- inclusive collaborative connections with families and community.

**Outcome quality** refers to the benefits that children, families and society obtain from ECEC. Long-term outcomes have been assessed by relating ECEC experiences to school achievement at primary and secondary levels, as well as early school leaving and employment rates (for example, please refer to European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/ Eurostat, 2014). The IECE project focuses on shorter-term impacts in terms of children's well-being, emotional, social, moral, mental and physical development and learning within the ECEC period itself.



#### 5.3. Putting the child at the centre

The present study, like the previously defined Thematic Working Group on ECEC and other studies, puts 'the child at the centre of its reflections' (European Commission, 2014, p. 4). Even so, the concept of ECEC quality may differ, as it is based on different stakeholder views about 'how children should learn and grow up in society' (ibid., p. 7). This study concurs with the Thematic Working Group's shared image of the child, namely that:

... children are capable, adventurous and active learners, who benefit from a combination of learning, care and play. Children are seen as active participants in their own learning and central to the education and care process. Children are not solely recipients of education they have an active role in framing their own learning. This image included a clear agreement that children were unique and they had different emotional, physical, social and cognitive needs which should be recognised [and addressed] (ibid.).

Such a view perhaps fits more easily into an ecological model of child development (Bronfenbrenner and Ceci, 1994) that has also sometimes been used in studying ECE quality (Odom et al., 2004). This considers the complex evolving influences on children. These influences arise from their interactions and interrelations between them and the systems that surround them in the school/home, community and region/country – termed micro-, meso-, exo-, and macro-systems – in which they function and grow. Odom et al. used the model to review the literature. They first focused on 'outcomes and factors associated with different child characteristics and disabilities (biosystem)' (2004, p. 19). They then considered research related to the different levels of the ecosystem: inclusive pre-primary classrooms as the micro-system – such as social policy decisions – as the exo-system, and cultural and societal values and population demographics as the macro-system. They also considered programmes' evolution over time and longitudinal outcomes for children as the chronosystem.

Odom et al. themselves found that 'Given the small amount of research on preschool inclusion at the macrosystem level, few examples of research are available' (2004, p. 38). It has in fact been observed that such studies using the ecological perspective have limited the focus of the ecological influence to the 'microsystem represented by the mother/parents/family and the ECEC setting' (Fenech, 2011, p. 112). They have not sufficiently considered the impact of the wider systems in the community and region or country policy. Other applications of the model have been restricted to one curriculum area only (Chau-Ying Leu, 2008), or to 'special education' provision only (Hebbeler et al., 2012).

One challenge facing policy-makers, researchers and practitioners is how to keep the perspective of the child at the centre within an ecological model, while considering the quality areas that European and international policy-makers raise within the structure-process-outcome framework at all system levels. There is also a need to study the variety of views of child development that the different stakeholders in the member states hold and how these relate to policy and practice, particularly regarding inclusive education policy and practice.

# 6. SECTION A: ACCESS, TRANSITION, INTERVENTION AND ACCOMMODATIONS

Access to quality ECEC is a main concern for achieving inclusion and equity. For children with some form of disadvantage, access to quality provision particularly requires the availability of needs assessment, and accommodation of services and relevant support to ensure mainstreaming.

# 6.1. Access

Most European countries have pledged to provide ECEC places for all children, by establishing either a legal entitlement to ECEC or compulsory ECEC for at least the last preprimary year. However, the coverage is insufficient, particularly in Eastern European countries. Specifically, in countries where provision is available, the quality needs to be improved and the curricula need to meet the needs of the variety of different cultures, particularly for children living in poverty (Leseman and Slot, 2014).

The most common way to ensure ECEC access for all children is by establishing a legal entitlement. This refers to a 'statutory duty on ECEC providers to secure publicly subsidised ECEC provision for all children living in a catchment area' (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014, p. 38). Public authorities must therefore commit to guaranteeing ECEC places for children who are covered by legal entitlement. Children are entitled to ECEC provisions, but do not have to participate. Legal entitlement implies that provision is affordable and may (but not necessarily) be free.

Another way to ensure ECEC availability is to establish compulsory ECEC for the last one or two years before a child attends primary school. In this case, the authorities must ensure sufficient pre-primary places for all children within the age covered by compulsory attendance. ECEC provisions are free and children are obliged to attend (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014).

Access to ECEC remains a particular issue for children with some form of disadvantage. There is wide recognition that pre-primary education has the potential to reduce educational disadvantage for children from low-income and minority backgrounds. Moreover, it brings the highest rates of return over the whole lifelong learning process, especially for the most disadvantaged (European Commission, 2008b).

However, PISA 2012 data shows that, on average, in the 28 EU member states, there is a 12% difference in ECEC participation rates between those who have a combination of disadvantages and those who do not (OECD, 2014d). In all European countries (except Hungary and the German speaking community in Belgium), 15-year-old learners from wealthier families were more likely to have attended ECEC for more than one year than those from a disadvantaged background. Pre-primary participation is higher among advantaged learners than disadvantaged learners. This difference in enrolment between advantaged and disadvantaged learners is observed in almost all PISA-participating countries (ibid.).



Furthermore, pre-primary education can be the first step towards segregation if children with SEN are orientated towards special schools (Macartney and Morton, 2013) or are excluded within the mainstream system (MacLure et al., 2012). For instance, Roma children's ECEC participation rates are generally lower than those of the native population (Klaus and Mash, 2014). Providing suitable educational opportunities for Roma children is a key policy challenge across Europe. ECEC can overcome the educational disadvantage that Roma children face, as demonstrated by pilot actions on Roma inclusion in some member states, with funding from the EU budget (European Commission, 2011a).

There may be different ways of organising inclusive schooling. Procedures in accessing pre-primary school for children with SEN and/or at-risk children are a key issue. There are different types of settings in early years education in which children with SEN or at risk of specific needs are included. Among them, reverse inclusion has particularly positive results. This takes place when there is a smaller number of children without SEN. The ratio is therefore smaller than a mainstream class and they get a higher number of resources. For example, in terms of human resources, the learners have a team of staff that co-teach, such as a class teacher with a master's degree, a teacher with a bachelor's degree and a teaching assistant. Almost 100% of parents said that they would repeat the experience (Rafferty et al., 2001).

Even in integrated settings, there is a need to understand the processes of inclusion and exclusion that can have important consequences for children. For example, ethnic minority learners who feel excluded from their peers in the social context of school become alien to the culture of schooling (Abrams and Killen, 2014). Moreover, children – and especially those who are socially excluded – have a very weak voice, if any voice at all. Their needs may thus be obscured and misunderstood and they are easily seen as the source of their own exclusion and consequent problems. It is, therefore, important to investigate:

... how, why and under what conditions, children and groups make decisions to exclude others, how they experience exclusion and how exclusion originates and changes over time (ibid., p. 2).

For instance, Manwaring (2008) identified how there is little concern about the effect of classroom distribution on gender representation in early years special settings, and the fact that boys are over-identified with SEN and therefore girls are underrepresented in pre-primary special education self-contained classes. This results in social isolation and increases the risk of inappropriate language and inadequate social, academic and play skills. Teachers have an important role in promoting cross-gender play, discussion, activities or friendship within the school community and communicating with parents to look for friends within the neighbourhood (ibid.).

## 6.2. Formative assessment of children

All EU member states have implemented measures intended to prevent educational difficulties for at-risk children. In most countries, intervention is targeted at groups based on defined social, economic or cultural criteria. In a few countries, additional support is based on children's individual needs, as identified during their schooling. This targeted approach is often combined with assessing children's individual needs (European



Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2013b). Across the EU, three main approaches to provide additional support to disadvantaged children have been developed:

- through specific measures to support children's development, especially language development;
- through providing additional staff;
- through establishing special organisational and/or funding arrangements.

These approaches are not mutually exclusive (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/ Eurostat, 2014). Language support is the most common form of centralised support for disadvantaged children.

Assessment of children's progress and achievement is a key topic in ECEC settings. The goal of assessment is to evaluate the efficiency of teaching and to identify children's needs and potential difficulties. In most EU countries, assessment of children's progress is regular and based on continuous observation. Children's assessment usually focuses on children's personal development and their language and social skills. The assessment information is often shared with parents and, in some cases, with primary teachers to facilitate the transition from ECEC to primary school (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014). In most countries, the steering documents outline recommendations regarding assessment methods in ECEC settings. Continuous observation is the main method specified in most of the EU educational steering documents for younger children. Testing is not often recommended for assessing children's progress and development in ECEC (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014).

In some European countries, language skills and other elements – such as maturity and readiness for school – are criteria for entering primary education. Almost all European countries pay special attention to the transition between ECEC and primary education. They do so through central guidelines and/or measures that aim to help children and their families get used to the new environment.

Almqvist and Almqvist (2011) and Nilsson et al. (2013) highlighted the importance of children becoming participants in their own research on learning, giving them the opportunity to express their perspectives about something they are interested in. It is also important to receive direct knowledge from their own voices and shared self-directed experiences.

#### 6.2.1. Portfolios

Portfolios are a valuable tool to show children's growth and development over time; moreover, scholars believe that portfolios can be tools to promote staff professional development. Campbell et al. (2001) indicated the results from a project in which nursery staff created a portfolio of key children. The study found that staff took responsibility for children's learning through class-based training and on-site consultation visits, including pre-course and post-course observation sessions. In practice, as a consequence, staff attitudes changed and they looked more at children's strengths, rather than challenges.

Gilkerson and Fryer Hanson (2000) postulate that there are many benefits of involving families in the process of documenting children's experiences. For example, they become



active participants in portfolios (i.e. bringing the portfolio home to share activities). Families are involved in feedback about the child's development, and share suggestions on how to improve the planned and shared activities in the school and at home. In addition, portfolios are delivered with plans for activities to do at home, and feedback from parents can be shared verbally, through written notes or by using technology. Such portfolios enable parents to be active participants in their children's learning.

## 6.3. Early detection or first assessment procedures

A major issue for inclusive ECEC provision is how to recognise, identify, assess and make provisions for meeting individual educational needs, while avoiding the potentially damaging effects of labelling and stigmatisation.

Early intervention programmes can bring large positive socio-economic returns and these can persist into adulthood. The effects produced by early intervention are very broad and include better school achievement, employment rates, earnings, crime prevention, family relationships and health (European Commission, 2006a). It is particularly essential that children follow natural learning strategies that are learned and linked with a context and specific subject (Howard-Jones, 2007) and through multiple intelligences (Gardner, 2011). Children must be understood and respected by their teachers.

The European Commission (2008b) highlighted that interventions at an early stage are crucial, because deficiencies in learning are difficult and more costly to rectify at later stages. Early identification of learning difficulties and comprehensive preventive strategies within schools are the most important ways to reduce early school leaving.

The Council of the European Union states that 'ECEC provides an opportunity for the early detection of learning difficulties and early intervention' (2011, p. 3). It helps to identify children with SEN and, where possible, facilitate their integration into mainstream schools (ibid.).

ECEC is key to addressing the challenges facing disadvantaged children. This is because it can provide early intervention and can serve as an early warning system to identify familyor school-related physical or psychological support needs, special needs or abuse (European Commission, 2013a; 2013b). From an administrative perspective, governments must support family well-being and promote families' participation in their children's education. Governments can also address issues such as providing choices for part-time jobs, parental leave and supporting mothers to employment (Buehler and Marion, 2011; Mistry et al., 2012).

The first assessment should not be a way of labelling the child. According to Claes et al. (2010), the assessment should be based on 'person-centered planning'. The American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (2014) produced a 'Supports Intensity Scale for Children Field Testing Webinar' on this topic, directed by James R. Thompson. It shows an alternative to be explored in further research and settings. Scholars recommend that this process be used as a way of identifying the child's needs (Kirk et al., 2012). Assessment is one of the most important issues linked to quality. Early childhood educators could use assessment to understand children's needs, to observe and



take note of children's interactions and their involvement in their activities (Pugh and Duffy, 2014).

Different tiers need to be involved in the evaluation process (school system, teachers and learners) and assessment for learning. A holistic approach is needed to assess the children's progress (Wiliam, 2011).

At pre-primary age, children in whom staff or parents detect any delay in developmental aspects are normally referred for a comprehensive assessment or standardised testing (Linchtenberger, 2005). These developmental aspects may be physical (Tieman et al., 2005), cognitive (Commodari, 2012), connected to communication and particularly language skills (Zimmerman and Flores Castilleja, 2005), or to social, emotional or adaptive behaviour. Many of the diagnosis instruments are still only implemented in clinical settings and by individual computerised tests (Trepagnier et al., 2006; Commodari, 2012). Furthermore, scholars emphasise that the diagnostic tools available for neuro-motor examinations and attention at pre-primary educational levels are not completely ironclad. It is important to further explore offering children appropriate behavioural, academic and pharmacological intervention (Hadders-Algra, 2005; Mahone, 2005). Many children are at risk of neurodevelopmental disabilities through psychosocial disadvantage (i.e. poverty, parents' mental illness, drug use or low parental educational background). Diagnosis will help to create intervention strategies that enhance the children's independence, family support systems and community participation (Msall, 2005).

Taylor et al. (2000) reveal a relationship between needs identification and prevention, and identify the role of nursery teachers for children's documented learning disabilities. Scholars have identified which child characteristics are relevant for staff to document – namely: academic achievement, phonological processing and working memory, behaviour and attention problems and social competences.

Different tools must be used with other forms of assessment – such as observations, rating scales and developmental history – to make a diagnosis and determine the next steps as interventions (Linchtenberger, 2005). Isquith et al. (2005) confirmed that performance tests alone are insufficient to develop a comprehensive method to understand the child's executive functioning. Instead, it is necessary to implement the rating scales in the everyday context, including the use of parent and teacher ratings.

Nursery staff trained in intervention strategy help in the early identification of children with learning disabilities (Steel, 2004). Observation strategies within the child's classroom are useful as diagnostic tools because they avoid 'unnecessary' testing and labelling. Gray and Tonge (2005) demonstrated that checklist screening tools can be implemented in schools or nurseries and also allow a quick response to enable assistance from diagnostic and external services.

Early identification helps to provide resources. Some children have trouble expressing themselves, so it is difficult for them to access what they need. For example, children on the autism spectrum often have difficulty in using oral language to communicate. Therefore, Charman (2004) recommended a clear differentiation among the different kinds of communicative tools (i.e. oral, mimicry) and the types of communicative processes involved, such as receptive, comprehensive and expressive. Social communication is a related aim with peer acceptance. During the last decade, there has



been progress in the development of tools to assess challenges in this area. The authors demonstrate that these tools are particularly useful for working in inclusive settings with groups of children diagnosed within the autism spectrum or with language difficulties. The tools are effective in working within the two domains of receptive and expressive use of language and the main aspects of social communication, such as joint attention, communicative intents, initiation and responsiveness, and affect and gestures (Landa, 2005). Intervention focusing on the development of social communication has been implemented in integrative settings at pre-primary levels. Stanton-Chapman et al. (2008) have shown potential effectiveness on a group of eight at-risk children with diverse SEN.

Scholars have introduced many specific tasks in play sessions regarding the following skills: initiating and maintaining a topic of conversation, turn-taking, semantic and syntactic cohesion, use of eye contact to signal attention to the listener, and responsiveness to peer communication attempts. The intervention consisted of play sessions organised in advance, in which vocabulary, thematic roles, storybooks and strategies were introduced, pairs of children engaged in role play and received coaching, and a review session in which children discussed their experiences with an adult. In inclusive settings, children with autism and their peers (from a mainstream classroom) participated in social competence developing activities with their parents during free play sessions and staff observed them through coding. Researchers have identified the value of the child-initiated engagements with parents for social competence with peers, resulting in an increase in inclusion with peers and decreasing hyperactive-distractible behaviours. Results indicated an increase in peer-directed requests, verbal requests and word diversity for six of the eight participants some months after the intervention (Meek et al., 2012). Potentially, parents' involvement in early intervention processes is important, as they work as role models with the power to make children generalise positive learned behaviour at home and at school.

A recent ground-breaking intervention with children with autism in the pre-primary period showed that, through parent training:

... parental synchronous response to child communication during interaction ... mediated 71% of improvement in child communication with the parent during interaction. In turn, this improvement in child dyadic communication mediated 73% of the independently assessed symptom change in the child in a different context (Pickles et al., 2016, pp. 2502–2503).

Within the pre-school, it is highly important that the child is active in the activities. Scholars therefore promoted interventions through creative play and enjoyable everyday childhood experiences that children directed through a 'listen to the children' paradigm. Within this, the researcher and the practitioner involved in the early years programme gained feedback from children and families (Matthews and Rix, 2013, p. 242).

Intervention can address not only delays in child development for those with SEN or disability, but also skills and competences related to performance in certain academic subjects, such as literacy and numeracy (Dowker, 2005; Aydogan, 2012). In their study, Van de Rijt et al. (2003) obtained a very interesting result by investigating the development of children's early literacy in different European countries. They found that children of the same age who were studying in educational institutions all showed similar results to those who were not. The authors concluded that parental roles are important,



as are the broader socio-cultural contexts, and that later academic success is associated with early learning experiences. In relation to numeracy skills as an international comparison, Aunio et al. (2004) compared children's numeric sense in Finland, Hong Kong and Singapore, concluding that the results showed great differences in age-related gains. Particularly for Asian children who were outperforming at four years old, there are no significant differences at the age of seven. The authors identified great differences in teaching methods.

Scholars had logically trained a group of children (small group interventions) during preprimary and also other groups with further intervention during primary grades on reading skills. This helped to prevent early and long-term reading difficulties (Vellutino et al., 2006).

#### 6.3.1. Early identification of children at risk of SEN

The Effective Provision of Pre-School Education (EPPE) project was a UK longitudinal study that followed the development of around 3,000 children. It identified children as being at risk when considered in relation to their cognitive development, behavioural development and in comparison to both national norms and the overall EPPE sample (Taggart et al., 2006). Scholars included those children who showed lower ratings on the teaching and learning process in certain areas in this group, although they were not receiving special support. Scholars had identified those children who had an extremely preterm birth when they experienced neonatal risk factors, early childhood neurodevelopmental impairment and socio-economic status, resulting in lower means than the control group on standardised tests in academic subjects (Taylor et al., 2012).

Among factors identified as preventing later need for special education are the quality of pre-primary education (i.e. early identification and the specific strategies to support the child's development) reducing the risk of SEN in the long-term, and high maternal education, resulting in higher reading skills (Anders et al., 2011). Jeon et al. (2011) argue that children from low-income families who participated in comprehensive services by the age of three and who had promoted pre-academic skills (i.e. academic and social competences) at the age of five did not differ from their schoolmates when they started primary education.

Burger (2010) analysed the impact of ECCE programmes on children from socioeconomically disadvantaged families. He indicated that most programmes had considerable positive short-term effects on intellectual and social abilities, but fewer longterm effects. Therefore, it is not plausible that education alone could fully compensate for the developmental deficits resulting from unfavourable learning conditions. Thus, the inclusion of these children in early years intervention programmes involving parents is recommended. Many aspects of the educational experience are still important and scholars suggest that these factors must be analysed. They include the quality of instruction, pedagogical curricula and the effect of age at entry, duration and intensity of attendance (Burger, 2010). Tomlinson (2014) highlighted the importance of a differentiated classroom that helps to respond to each child's need.



#### 6.3.2. Alternative assessment and transition processes

For children with SEN whose progress cannot be gauged using regular scales, there may be a need for alternative assessments. Scholars have identified different kinds of assessment in use. However, neither staff nor the scientific community have been able to implement alternative assessments, whether to validate performance indicators with content area experts and stakeholders or to research how this procedure helped children to learn (Towles-Reeves et al., 2009).

There may be a need for multi-disciplinary individual educational planning and transition processes for children with different forms of SEN to receive services. There are different transition programmes in which at-risk children or children with SEN are involved and which have been identified as positive for families and children. Quintero and McIntyre (2011) reported the importance of visits from the early years settings staff to previous settings, resulting in effective transitions. They also highlighted that, although teacher-implemented transition programmes for the whole classroom exist, individualised practices are lacking.

Villeneuve et al. (2013) reported on parents' experiences in a Canadian multi-method research project called HELPS Inc (Health, Education, and Learning Partnerships Promoting Social Inclusion). It included multi-lateral collaboration among different departments, such as education and health. The study introduced the general procedures implemented worldwide regarding the transition meeting. In the transition meeting, parents, professionals and the school special education co-ordinator shared reports. These documents provided specific information about the child, including areas of strength, developmental needs, goals, intervention, learning strategies and recommendations. There are tools, such as a book that includes specific information about the child's preferences in play activities. The educators, parents and staff meet using the educational transition plan to guide discussions that will include topics about class placement and resources. Scholars assert the importance of parents feeling that they are part of the decision process after the transition meetings. They specified how important it is for them to participate in the decisions related to children in the school (Villeneuve et al., 2013).

Teacher expectations of competencies must be challenged. This is particularly true considering that children with challenging behaviours are often included in mainstream settings. Specific intervention strategies implemented in the classroom can include behaviour modification, investigating contributing factors to a specific behaviour pattern with intent to create a positive behaviour support plan, or social integration activities. Examples include peer or teacher modelling or group friendship activities (games focusing on peer interactions) (Stormont et al., 2005).

Moore et al. (2013) implemented an effective programme that involved staff coaching parents on promoting communication skills through daily routines. This helped children develop expressive language skills and prepared them during the transition process before entering pre-school. Malone and Gallagher (2008) described the factors that influenced an easy transition from an early childhood intervention programme into pre-primary special education programmes. Sources of referrals and children's level of functioning were significant in predicting age of referrals and age of placement.



#### 6.3.3. Health, mental health and behavioural challenges

#### 6.3.3.1. Early intervention programmes

Scholars argue that children's physical and mental health must be addressed in the early years, as proper early years intervention programmes avert challenges in the future. Concerning physical health, most programmes are directed towards overweight children, as almost one third of children in Europe face obesity (Cattaneo et al., 2010). Furthermore, children are affected by challenges in their relationships with peers and self-esteem (Smith and Hart, 2013). Cattaneo et al. (2010) have identified a lack of research and data about infants in pre-school.

Hebbeler et al. (2012) acknowledged that, although these early intervention programmes had been implemented for over 25 years in the US, there were broad differences in accessibility by states and the process of eligibility. The policies and assessment tools focused on specific areas for improvement, rather than on functional specific recommended practices to be implemented in the settings. The work with families during this first educational stage prepares children for early years educational levels. It includes support for families through mental health promotion, including emotion regulation, social competence and behaviour functioning for children, and preventing stress, depression or anxiety and caregiver strain for parents. Particularly effective were programmes delivered principally by community-university collaboration, promoting innovative structures (Bagner et al., 2014). McCabe and Marshall (2006) also claim that parents and teachers must be responsible for collecting information about children's competencies, analysing their perceptions and sharing the information collected through behavioural observation tools.

#### 6.3.3.2. Child mental health

Several external and internal factors influence children's emotional health, putting them at risk of mental health or emotional problems. Developing positive health patterns and development depends on many different factors that are directly associated with engagement or participation. The combination of factors may result in risk to the child's future development, not a disability itself (Almqvist, 2006).

Scholars define the main factors as brain injuries during or after birth and genetic or biological vulnerability. Other factors include parental neglect, parental conflict, family breakdown, physical, sexual or emotional abuse, loss of a family member or friend, rejection or hostile relationships, discrimination, economic disadvantages, parental psychiatric illness, and domestic violence. Smith and Hart (2013) also indicated other minor traumatic events which could create emotional distress. These include moving house, the arrival of a new baby or the child being left with someone they do not know well. The authors have also identified signs of emotional distress, such as the child showing feelings of anxiety, sadness, anger or being upset. In some cases, this could lead to serious difficulties, risking the child's development, resulting in the family unit being disturbed and the child's challenges becoming aggravated.

The main consistent and cumulative predictors influencing early childhood mental health were externalised behaviours, such as aggression and oppositional defiance, and internalised behaviour, such as depression or stress. The external indicators for parents



include stress and severe discipline. The predictors of internalising behaviours are small family size, parent distress and quality of parenting (Bayer et al., 2008).

#### 6.3.3.3. Complex mental health problems

Among the main disorders identified as complex mental health problems are emotional disorders (e.g. panic and phobic disorders), mood disorders (e.g. bipolarity or depression), disruptive behaviours (e.g. attention deficit hyperactivity disorder), autism spectrum disorders, feeding and eating disorders, elimination disorders and tic disorders (e.g. Tourette syndrome) (Smith and Hart, 2013). Mäntymaa et al. (2012) indicate that, among children with mental health problems, the internalising problems at five years old were family violence during child infancy and, at the age of two years old, parental stress. Externalising problems were predicted by psychiatric problems in the mother before pregnancy and child externalising problems at the age of two. Slemming et al. (2010) stated that early childhood challenging behaviour was expressed by showing pre-school anxious, fearful behaviour and pre-school hostile and aggressive behaviour, which were associated with school-age emotional difficulties.

Rohde (2011) has identified major challenges in diagnosing mental health disorders. The author claims that it is necessary to consider a child's developmental perspective. Therefore, the diagnosis cannot be the end, but must be the starting point of the professional's practice. Perry et al. (2008) explained that around 4 to 12% of children showed challenging behaviour in early childhood. It is particularly prevalent in the low-income population. In the early years, 31% show internalising disorders and 57% show externalising problems. Children stay in childcare, although many staff are not prepared to cope with challenging behaviours and therefore many pre-schoolers are expelled. Scholars explained a relationship among the larger group size (three-year-olds) to the increase of teacher demands. Behavioural intervention (individualised on-site intervention by two specialists lasting three months) with staff prevented the children's expulsion and improved children's social skills (ibid.). Scholars recommend urgent actions from the community that could promote positive practices by parents and further prevention programmes with children (Bayer et al., 2008; Mäntymaa et al., 2012).

#### 6.3.4. Children from ethnic minorities and Roma and Irish Traveller children

ECEC is particularly beneficial for socially disadvantaged children and their families, including migrants and minorities. Most European countries have more than 5% of their children born abroad or registered as foreign citizens (European Commission/EACEA/ Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014). Prejudice against ethnic minority groups exists in all communities around the world, and powerful groups have regularly dominated and excluded others. Children learn from families and teachers that discriminatory behaviour results from their beliefs, attitudes, behaviour or prejudices. Therefore, at the classroom level, staff should use strategic techniques such as modelling and challenge the act of discrimination. Staff must offer a rich learning environment for all children and their families, showing respect, value and welcoming attitudes towards everyone. They should also provide a culturally diverse curriculum that includes positive representation of immigrant culture. They can also use resources to raise awareness of and respect for differences in race, religion and other factors that may lead to exclusion (Devarakonda,



2013). It is important to take into account that children's development is culturally shaped (Rogoff, 2003).

Murray (2012) differentiated two types of nomadic groups: the Irish Traveller immigrants, who normally live within England, the US and Australia, and the Roma, originating from India, who are the largest ethnic minority group in Europe. Many children who live in poverty beg in order to feed their families. Most suffer from negative stereotypical behaviour on the part of majority communities and many are excluded from education and later career opportunities. Scholars have documented a lack of resources to tackle discrimination and holistically address these children's needs when it comes to early years services. Staff do not have the necessary cultural awareness training to connect with children. Therefore, it is vital to develop relationships between educational institutions, families and NGOs within the ECEC sector (ibid.). Murray (ibid.) revealed that the participation of Travellers and Roma in pre-primary education has only recently, at European level, been re-affirmed.

In 2011, the European Commission (2011c) announced an *EU Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies up to 2020.* The same year saw the publication of the *EU Agenda for the Rights of the Child* (European Commission, 2011d) and *Early Childhood Education and Care: Providing all our children with the best start for the world of tomorrow* (European Commission, 2011a). The *EU Framework* describes how countries will address the challenges around the inclusion of Roma communities by developing national and local strategies.

Through the Lifelong Learning Programme, the European Commission developed and promoted the 'Policy Cooperation and Innovation Roma Multilateral Project', which studied the situation of these communities in the Netherlands, Spain and the UK. Scholars indicated that children with SEN are normally segregated into special classrooms or special schools, and the children's rights are still missing (Herczog, 2012). In the Netherlands, there are active policies from the health and education departments, for example, to assist undocumented migrants with access to healthcare, provide school admission for newly arrived migrants and services for language acquisition to encourage children's attendance at schools. In Spain, segregation is not formalised, although there are schools or educational specialisations with a great number of children of Roma origin. The services in Spain are mainly delivered by the education sector, offering support in the enrolment process. Within a specific settlement, they work with local associations and police: one example is a programme on absenteeism and language acquisition classes in schools. In relation to healthcare, the programme focuses on child immunisation, health check-ups and assistance to obtain the health card. In the UK, services are provided by different departments, such as by education principally in those schools where the Roma population is higher and by the head teachers in ethnically diverse areas. Voluntary and community workers assist in getting access to mainstream services. The local councils support schools in sharing practices. There is a lack of statistical data from national, regional or local levels about the Roma population and therefore there is a challenge due to a lack of resource allocation (Scullion and Brown, 2013).

Bhopal et al. (2000) explained how nomadic groups of gypsy travellers in England were included in six different schools and how the main exclusionary factors influenced the availability of services. They highlighted that successful procedures for including children



in pre-primary education result from families' trust in the schools, given that they have been part of the community since their children were toddlers. Local government services, such as children's centres, are also linked with the schools. Factors that promote the children's continuity at the school are: a direct relationship with a family mentor, flexibility in arrangements (i.e. transportation, provision of uniforms), the teaching assistant's active role in admission procedures and transition stages, a welcoming school, and a clear cultural ethos on both sides based on acceptance and respect.

#### 6.3.5. Low-income families and poverty

There are great differences in child support as a result of a family's socio-economic status (Eurydice, 2009). Many factors, such as parental unemployment and low income, result in children being different and, in many cases, excluded. They receive poorer quality services than children from more privileged backgrounds. Scholars also highlight that the relevance of children's experiences during pregnancy and early years are overlooked, such as children being born with low weight, overweight or being exposed to harmful tobacco smoke before and after birth (Lazzari and Vandenbroeck, 2012). The education system itself cannot respond to these difficulties. On the other hand, governments must take responsibility for reducing the child poverty risk (UNICEF, 2005). In Norway, where the number of families in poverty is low and universal ECE is available, a study documented how ECEC safeguards against the negative internalised factors of children from the few existing lower-income families (Zachrisson and Dearing, 2014).

Brackertz (2007) highlighted a change of perspective when staff asked at-risk families about the reasons for their lack of interest. The staff came to understand it was due to differences, rather than deficits or a lack of participation. They then had to offer functional solutions that these families could use in their lives. There has also been a challenge as to how social workers could help these families and in how they can link with other staff in the families' natural environments (Schiettecat et al., 2014). The role of preschool staff is essential to ensure equality in the classroom. Therefore, staff need to be wary about asking parents to bring items that display the family's economic background to school (Devarakonda, 2013).

Scholars have also indicated how medical conditions are related to poverty. In Europe, there are still many diseases in existence, particularly in the poorest communities, that affect small children (Mahony, 2007). Furthermore, some diseases became increasingly prevalent due to cuts to health services. This is particularly evident among those without the right to state assistance and members of vulnerable groups, such as Roma, orphans destined for international adoption and immigrant groups. For example, in South Europe, vector-borne zoonoses, including leishmaniasis and Chagas disease, and key arboviral infections have emerged. Better diagnostic techniques, research and tools are needed (Hotez and Gurwith, 2011).

Bradbury (2013) identified claims that, in the UK, a major level of poverty in the child's environment indicated a lower level of development. The early years curriculum described how children in the pre-primary level should be evaluated based on a developmental profile. This system of assessment aims to acquire the expected results which will follow the child into their primary education, without further attention to other issues. Scholars expect responses from the educational centre regarding the quality of the evaluation and



giving specific responses to the individual considering the nearest context (Bradbury, 2013). Heckman and Kautz (2012) identified how other 'soft skills', which are not easily quantifiable, could predict success in future life and should be included in public policy as a great return on human capital.

#### 6.3.6. Children with disabilities and multiple disabilities

Children with disabilities, and particularly with severe disabilities, benefit from preprimary inclusive practices in areas such as language and social competencies, although problem behaviour must be taken into account (Rafferty et al., 2003).

Scholars point out the importance of recognising children's will and their interests, hearing children's voices and their own perspective. Hickman and Jones have identified inclusion as an 'emotional state and one that demands negotiation and compromise' from all stakeholders (2014, p. 111).

Kelly et al. (2001) have identified the importance of a personal profile, particularly for keeping track of information about children with moderate and severe disabilities. They have developed alternative forms of assessment that aim to avoid labelling procedures. Scholars highlight the importance of staff having information about the highly-specialised needs of those children learning in inclusive settings. Staff should have a method for sharing information among the teams that work with the child so as to follow the child's progress in particular areas. Authors have developed specific profiles, such as a personal profile assessment summary which is produced by gathering information from the influential adults in the child's life, including parents and teachers or day-care providers. The document provides a summary of the child's abilities, what they are proud of, their interests and challenges, optimal learning conditions and family life. It is a communication tool that complements the information from the IEP (ibid.).

As an example of good practice, there are specific strategies to promote the inclusion of the specific group of children with disabilities. Staff must take into account that the specially adapted resources will differ according to the child's needs (i.e. Makaton or Braille or use of technology). They must also take into account access to the environment (i.e. displaying notices) and choice of appropriate toys (i.e. personal dolls) (Devarakonda, 2013). The use of Makaton as an alternative communication system is as effective among children with SEN as among those without SEN (Parry, 2012). This system was found to have a significant impact when used for direct activities. It enabled staff to take a facilitating role, rather than directing interactions between the children with SEN and their peers (Parry, 2014).

Many children are still placed in special provision, particularly those with severe disabilities. The main challenge that Hickman and Jones (2014) describe is that those children placed at a very young age normally stay in the special setting for their entire educational period. Hanline and Correa-Torres (2012) studied how a programme of inclusion with children with severe disabilities offered positive results on children's learning. Scholars have identified the strategies that were particularly effective for teachers. The following approaches were used to facilitate peer-to-peer interactions: children's full participation in activities, modelling appropriate behaviours and enlisting the help of children without disabilities.



## 6.4. Accommodations and follow-ups

There are broad differences in Europe related to quality, resources adapted to children's needs and the meaning of being disadvantaged. Therefore, getting access to or being provided with services have different meanings depending on the national context (Gambaro et al., 2014). Scholars have suggested that staff in inclusive settings still need further preparation to work with children with disabilities (Early and Winton, 2001; Chang et al., 2005).

In some countries, such as England, the state supports universal access to pre-school through two different services differentiated by educational levels. It offers part-time provision (15 hours a week) in the maintained (state) sector or in settings belonging to the private, voluntary and independent (PVI) sectors for children aged three or four years. Children from low-income working families commence from two years of age. In England, Scotland and Wales, education becomes compulsory in the term after a child turns five. In England and Wales, schools offer full-time education one or two terms earlier in 'reception classes'. In Northern Ireland, compulsory schooling starts in September for any child who has turned four before 1 July of that year.

In the educational stage of children who are three to four years old, there are many providers. The variety and quality of their educational services during the entitlement hours depend on the local council, the staff's training (for example, just one third of staff in PVI settings are graduates) and the schools' spending. Outside these hours, the quality of educational services depends on the children's families (Gambaro et al., 2012). The English government funded a longitudinal study, the EPPE project, following 3,000 children who started their education at three years old. Scholars have considered the effects of this 'early entry' on children at risk of developing SEN. The report emphasised providing 'quality pre-school provision as an effective strategy in itself', meaning resources and effective intervention strategies (Taggart et al., 2006, p. 40).

Björck-Åkesson (2014) has suggested that, when measuring quality, note should be taken of the structural indicators, process indicators and outcome indicators listed in Table 1.

**Structural indicators**: the environment in which an activity or intervention takes place. In ECEC these are: availability, accessibility and affordability.

**Process indicators**: factors affecting children's engagement while in ECEC. These are: accommodation/adaptability and acceptability.

**Outcome indicators**: making the effects of actions and interventions visible. This refers to active child engagement.



#### Table 1. Structural, process and outcome indicators for measuring quality

Structural indicators	Process indicators	Outcome indicators
Funding – public expenditure	Pedagogical approach – curriculum, activities	Engagement measures
Status of women	Interactions with staff and children	Learning opportunities
Indoor/outdoor space	Interactions between peers	Playing with materials
Standards	Interactions between staff	Social interaction with children
Staff-child ratios	Interactions children have with materials and activities in the environment	Social interaction with teachers
Staff competence and qualifications	Interactions between staff and parents	_
Safety and social protection	_	-
Status of children	_	-
Enrolment rate	_	-

Bertram and Pascal (2014) used similar terms and the same linear approach, analysing the systemic factors, structural factors, process factors and the expected outcome measures (please refer to Table 2).

- Systemic factors: 'factors which are shaped by the wider system in which early education is placed' (ibid., p. 44), i.e. funding and investment; multi-agency and intergenerational agency; continuity in primary school; regulations and accountability; workforce labour markets.
- Structural factors: 'factors which shape the nature, scope and capacity of early years programmes' (ibid.), i.e. staff-child ratios; class group sizes; staff training and qualifications; enhanced practitioner skill base; early years pedagogy; curriculum coverage; parenting programmes.
- Process factors: 'factors which determine how early years services are experienced by those involved' (ibid.), i.e. child-centred services; quality of interactions; initiation of activities; behaviour expectations and discipline; diversity.



# Table 2. Systemic factors, structural factors, process factors and the expected outcome measures in ECE

Focus	Aspect
Children are developing well: cognitive development, communication and language, social and emotional development and physical health	Cognitive development
	1. All children are developing age- appropriate skills in drawing and copying
	2. Children increase the level to which they pay attention during activities and to the people around them
	Communication and language development
	3. Children are developing age-appropriate comprehension of spoken and written language
	4. Children are building age-appropriate use of spoken and written language, social and emotional development
	Social and emotional development
	5. Children are engaging in age- appropriate play
	6. Children have age-appropriate self- management and self-control
	Physical development
	7. Reduction in the numbers of children born with low birth weight
	8. Reduction in the number of children with high or low Body Mass Index
Parenting: the interaction between	Creating safe and healthy environment
parent and child	9. Reduction in the numbers of mothers who smoke during pregnancy
	10. Increase in the number of mothers who breastfeed



Focus	Aspect
	Promoting an active learning environment
	11. Increased number and frequency of parents regularly talking to their child using a wide range of words and sentence structures
	12. More parents are reading to their child every day
	Positive parenting
	13. More parents are regularly engaging positively with their children
	14. More parents are actively listening to their children
	15. More parents are setting and reinforcing boundaries
Parents' lives: those elements of parents' lives which exert powerful influence over parenting	Good mental wellbeing
	16. More parents are experiencing lower levels of stress in their home and their lives
	17. Increase in the number of parents with good mental wellbeing
	18. More parents have greater levels of support from friends and/or family
	Knowledge and skills
	19. More parents are improving their basic skills, particularly literacy and numeracy
	20. More parents are increasing their knowledge and application of good parenting
	Be financially self-supporting
	21. Parents are accessing good work or developing the skills needed for employment, particularly parents furthest away from the labour market

Source: Bertram and Pascal, 2014, pp. 56–58

The impact of participation in pre-primary is evident in the reduced proportion of children considered at risk of low cognitive attainment. This fell from an initial one third when starting pre-primary, to one fifth when transitioning into primary (Taggart et al., 2006).



This study also indicated that children in the at-risk group for cognitive development normally started pre-primary education later than their peers. It also reported an overrepresentation in the at-risk group of children from minority groups and from lower socio-economic backgrounds.

#### 6.4.1. Social dimensions of inclusion and exclusion

Children's perception of their inclusion is as important as their actions. Children are active agents in their own cultural learning and are engaged in reproducing and resisting the world around them. They get rules from the adults and they behave according to those rules and participate in the process of action. Evidence on these processes was reported in a study on a pre-primary mixed group of children between two and five years of age (Evaldsson and Tellgren, 2009). Peer exclusion was found to be a regular practice in pre-primary settings. Children used different techniques to exclude peers, such as unmitigated and mitigated ignoring and planning. Exclusion occurred more frequently by children with different roles and status within a group (i.e. dominant boys directly used peer exclusion). Children who were socially accepted used mitigated forms or used techniques of ignoring their peers (Fanger et al., 2012). To lessen social exclusion, Ramani and Brownell (2014) and Buysse et al. (2002) confirmed the value of co-operative problem-solving within social play among pre-primary peers. This helped them to gain critical knowledge and to develop joint goals.

Dyson (2005) analysed the knowledge of disabilities that children without disabilities gained in inclusive nurseries and their attitudes to their classmates with disabilities. The study concluded that children in pre-primary levels linked disabilities with physical appearances and an inability to play. They also understood the main aspects of disabilities related with perceptual information and showed positive attitudes toward people with disabilities. However, only half the children without disabilities confirmed that they had friends who had disabilities. Thus, few children with disabilities had friends in the general education classroom. It is therefore important that programmes promote children's social and functional competencies. Laine et al. (2010) indicated that around 60% of children in day-care centres and in pre-primary education experience problems with peers. These challenges decrease when they are in first grade. The study specified that children experienced withdrawal and loneliness. Children experiencing social exclusion showed problems in acquiring adequate social interaction skills and experienced patterns of negative social situations in an unsupportive context, leaving the child 'outside the favourable social world of childhood' (ibid., p. 482).

Exclusion or inclusion related to gender participation in activities has been analysed in a group of pre-schoolers. The decision to include individuals in peer group play activities was based on moral reasoning, although exclusive social conventional reasoning included social stereotypes. In the latter case, the stereotypes were the only information on which the decisions were based (Theimer et al., 2001). Killen et al. (2001) found that nearly 90% of their sample of children in the early years setting avoided exclusionary behaviour and judged it as wrong. This came about through different factors, such as exposure to a non-stereotypical curriculum, heterogeneous communities and general awareness of stereotypes.



# **7. SECTION B: THE WORKFORCE**

This section contemplates the role of staff within the organisation (teachers, teaching assistants and others, such as psychologists, speech therapists and doctors). It examines the organisational status of these professionals, staff education, in-service training on responding to diversity and SEN, and co-operation with external staff from NGOs, the local community and others.

Staff quality is one of the most important factors that can influence ECEC quality. Strong evidence suggests that improved training and qualification levels raise the quality of interaction and pedagogy in ECEC. Ensuring that all staff have sufficient qualifications and have received quality training throughout their working career is an efficient way to guarantee educational quality for children in ECEC provisions (European Parliament, 2013). Across Europe, ECEC practitioners are a very diverse workforce with different staff profiles. The EU supports the trend towards professionalisation. The staff professionalisation process starts with the entry requirements for ECEC practitioners. It also extends to continuous development for professionals, allowing them to learn about the most recent pedagogical developments and exchange experiences with other professionals. Other factors, such as salary and working conditions, also play a significant role in guaranteeing quality ECEC (European Parliament, 2013). The quality of pre-primary education depends on staff training and good working conditions. The European Commission (2006b) underlines that there is a critical need to develop strategies to recruit a qualified, diverse, mixed gender workforce and to ensure that a career in pre-primary education is satisfying and financially viable. Gender balance among ECEC staff is a very important issue. Across Europe, the majority of staff are women. A few countries have set targets for recruiting men into ECEC.

In most European countries, three main types of staff work in ECEC settings:

- Educational staff, who are generally qualified at tertiary level
- Care staff with a minimum qualification at upper-secondary or post-secondary
- Auxiliary staff or assistants, who are usually either not qualified or have a minimum qualification at upper-secondary level.

Educational staff usually work in settings for older children. Two main approaches to staff qualifications exist in European education systems. Over half of the countries have adopted a single qualification regime for the whole ECEC phase. In other countries, staff working with younger children have different qualifications to those working with older age groups. Usually, a lower level of qualification is required for staff working with younger children (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014). There is a clear link between the ECEC organisational model and staff qualification requirements. In unitary systems, when ECEC settings are the same for all children and a pre-primary stage is organised in a single phase in one setting, the same minimum qualifications are required regardless of the children's age. In most countries with a split system that organises ECEC provision according to the children's age, the types of qualifications required are different for working with younger and older children (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat)



Eurostat, 2014). For pre-primary teachers working at ISCED level 0, the level of initial education is the same as for primary teachers in half of the EU member states.

Good leadership in ECEC settings is one of the components of high quality at pre-primary level. Heads of ECEC provisions are required to organise educational settings and manage financial and human resources. In most EU countries, heads of ECEC settings must hold a bachelor's degree. In a few countries, the minimum qualification for this position is a master's degree.

The ECEC team not only comprises care staff and educational staff, but also professionals specialised in diverse fields, such as speech therapy, psychology and social work. In almost all European countries, regulations include provision for a range of specialists to support ECEC teams. These professionals can assist education and care staff working with children who have learning or cognitive difficulties. The size of the setting or the number of children with SEN often determines the availability of specialists (European Commission/ EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014).

The European Parliament (2011) recognised that the most notable impact on the quality of ECEC provisions comes from having qualified and well-trained staff. It called on member states to raise professional standards by introducing recognised qualifications for persons working in the ECEC field.

In most of the European education and training systems, initial education incorporates specific training to prepare educators for working with children with additional needs. In some countries, specific additional training is compulsory for all ECEC staff. This specific training can also consist of continuous professional development and be recommended, but this is more often for staff working with older children (European Commission/EACEA/ Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014). The European Commission highlighted that teachers 'require specific training to work effectively in diverse classrooms' (2008b, p. 6).

## 7.1. Learning from inclusive theory and practice

Children learn through participation in:

... developmentally advanced environments ... a more cognitively, linguistically, and socially stimulating environment than occurs in nonintegrated special education settings (Odom and Wolery, 2003, p. 168).

Such environments are now being included in mainstream settings, supported with instruction from professionals on the strategies that have been successfully used in the field of early intervention/early childhood special education (Odom and Wolery, 2003). Where staff are identified as delivering quality instruction, it relates to the children's reading, maths and literacy skills, as well as the amount of teacher-children interaction. A quality classroom was identified as having emotional support, social competences and instruction quality (Burchinal et al., 2010). Buysse and Hollingsworth (2009) state that there is still a clear need to reach consensus on standards and practices that define high-quality inclusion. This is in order to deliver it through professional development activities and to appreciate its value in staff practices. In general terms, scholars have identified the following issues: accessibility, adaptations and modifications of materials and equipment, representation of people with disabilities and facilitation of participation activities.



Additionally, one issue – namely, provisions for children with disabilities – addresses the following specific indicators for children with disabilities and their families: collaboration with parents and professionals, individualisation of child programming, programme modifications and adaptations, and facilitation of inclusion (Buysse and Hollingsworth, 2009).

Educators have a main role in promoting and maintaining inclusive practices, keeping alive the learning processes with their learners. It is essential that all staff working with children know and are aware of the policies on diversity and equality of opportunities for children (Tedam, 2013; Morabito and Vandenbroeck, 2014). Barros Araújo (2015) provides an example of such relevant training. She describes an effective programme implemented by a specialised trainer with a group of 12 pre-primary teachers through observation techniques, reflection in action and critical insertion. The trainer was working as a result of the international Effective Early Learning (EEL) Programme.

Dickson (2000), an experienced teacher, explained in a self-narrative her process of becoming an inclusive teacher. She indicated how the process started when she had to teach a child with SEN. First, she had to learn about policy and terminology and tailoring the environment to the child in psychological, physical and environmental terms. She worked with a staff team and they shared the pride they felt when they saw the child enjoying his friendship with his classmates. The team was also proud of the professional experience gained and, in this special case, she could share and talk about it with her colleagues. Reflective practice is embedded throughout the process of learning to be a teacher, pre-service training and professional life (Paige-Smith and Craft, 2011). Early years professionals must aim to be reflective practitioners, which Lindon (2012) takes to mean the following:

- Self-evaluation: the process of considering what you do in your practice, including active reflection that considers the possible gap between hope and interactions and what actually happens.
- Self-assessment: the practical judgements that are reached through an honest and thorough self-evaluation process. Useful self-assessment leads to some level of observable action.
- Reflective practice: the process of serious thought and constructive critical analysis of current practice, leading to an informed judgement about strengths and considered plans for change that will lead to improvements.

Reflection takes place on two occasions: while doing something and after the action. Questioning is essential, as the actions of nursery staff have an impact on children. It is therefore important to think not only about what the professional is doing, but how the current knowledge around them (i.e. books or the community of learning) adds to their knowledge (Willan et al., 2007). Children's views are essential when exploring practices. It is recommended that staff research children's views, focus on their participation and attend to the 'voice' of the silent and un-powerful (Nutbrown et al., 2013).

Odom and Wolery (2003) identified that staff can mediate children's experiences and provide multiple learning opportunities through activity-based interventions, high-probability requests and prompt-fading strategies. Teachers play a major role in promoting the initiation and maintenance of peer interaction. The scholars reveal that not



all children with disabilities face challenges with social skills. Therefore, it is important that children's social functioning is observed and assessed (Kwon et al., 2011). That must be the result of a social individual education plan (SIEP) produced by the teacher in collaboration with other professionals working with the children and implemented by the teacher, with concrete objectives that reflect children's social performance. Beyond children with SEN, this approach also benefits the general school population (Kwon et al., 2011; Denboba et al., 2014). Teachers work on the delivery of the IEP with external professionals. Scholars point out that the IEP must include parents from the start of the process and must be based on laws and regulations. All stakeholders (parents and internal and external staff) must be involved in creating the essential knowledge of the programme, monitoring what the child does at the pre-primary stage and considering the child's background. Furthermore, the setting's leaders must promote effective communication and commitment among staff (Diliberto and Brewer, 2012).

#### 7.1.1. The importance of lifelong learning for staff

The literature tends to focus on the content of what teachers need to learn to get effective responses. However, as the U.S. Department of Education (2010) shows, few studies focus on the processes or strategies that teachers use to acquire new knowledge or improve their practices. More evidence is needed on the key dimensions and pre-existing goals of on-site knowledge acquisition from staff participation in professional development, the nature of their relationships and the characteristics of these interactions (Nutbrown et al., 2013). It is important to consider that early years staff must respond to new challenges that could have different origins, such as new policy implementation or adapting mainstream lessons to all children (Kirk et al., 2012).

Timperley (2011) has developed a cycle model in which professional learning is implemented in daily practice. The cycle has the following elements: learners' needs (assessment and evidences), teachers' enquiry (about the teachers' own needs), knowledge skills (developing professional knowledge), learner opportunities (i.e. new learning experiences) and checking outcomes (evidence of new knowledge acquisition). The European Commission research team developed a competency analysis through CoRe (Competence Requirements in Early Childhood Education and Care) to raise the standards of the ECEC workforce (European Commission, 2011e; Urban et al., 2011). The report indicated that staff members with higher qualifications – at least a bachelor's degree – are more suited to offering higher quality services to children.

#### 7.1.2. Learning at school and in the classroom

Effective pre-service training aims to promote the equal treatment of children and families through the sense of efficacy and attitudes enhancing diversity (Wey and Mager, 2011). When staff work at a school, it seems essential to encourage open debate and discussion within the workplace and to enable learning environments in which they feel free to express questions and request help in order to solve challenges and share experiences and skills (Tedam, 2013).

Post et al. (2004) say it is important for children and staff to be mentored, particularly when they play with at-risk children. The schools proved the effectiveness of 10 weeks' training with immediate feedback. The play sessions were followed by individual sessions, which were followed by generalisation strategies to work with the whole group. An



evaluation one year later indicated that the training had an effect on the individual sessions, but not on the implementation of group activities. Moreover, staff indicated that the method was useful for focus group dialogues and influencing their classroom behaviours, and that it shaped their perspectives in valuing children's opinions and increasing their confidence as teachers (Hess et al., 2005).

# 7.2. Implementing strategies for all learners

Sheridan et al. (2014) have confirmed that, in many pre-primary settings with different staff-child ratios – as are found in Sweden – children receive quality instructions and good conditions for learning when teachers offer them several grouping opportunities during the day. Some of these are organised by the teachers and others by the children themselves.

Laine et al. (2010) observed that when staff teach in a large classroom as a parameter, intervention towards favourable peer interaction becomes difficult. Epstein et al. (2003) identified the importance of offering feedback to all children about the anticipation or responses in their activities and proved its effectiveness in testing results.

Teachers also serve as role models for children. The models that adults display have an impact on children's beliefs, values and practices. Thus, the leadership of nursery staff needs to challenge adults' stereotypes regarding collaboration with children. It is suggested that they teach children concepts such as inclusion and exclusion and anti-discriminatory practices and engage them in reflection about making the setting more inclusive (Willan et al., 2007).

# 7.3. Collaboration with external professionals and families

After analysing early intervention programmes, Moore (2004) indicated the importance of setting agreed common goals for programme delivery, including what they are trying to achieve and the desired outcomes. Professionals must have the skills to work with families, communities, other agencies and other professionals. Collaborating with parents and responding to their priorities, changing staff roles and providing integrated services among professionals to support transition into kindergarten were identified as key strategies for inclusion in an inclusive ECE programme in a rural community in England (Hunt et al., 2004; DeVore and Russell, 2007).

Palmer et al. (2012) introduced the Early Childhood Foundations Model for Self-Determination. This establishes a collaborative relationship between a child's important adults and between their inclusive classroom and their home. Sandberg and Vuorinen (2008) studied co-operation between pre-primary teachers and parents. They highlighted the importance of pre-primary teachers providing varied and rich forms of co-operation, as different forms appeal to different parents. With a wide range, it is possible to reach all parents.



#### 7.3.1. Families' participation

European institutions have underlined the key role of parental involvement in ECEC, especially for the disadvantaged. Parental engagement is essential for successful preprimary education (European Commission, 2006a). The European Parliament (2011) resolution on early years learning in the EU stresses that parents are equal partners in ECEC and that ECEC services should be fully participative. The long-term efficacy of ECEC appears to be best ensured by a holistic approach that involves the child, the family, the community and the school.

In most European countries, the steering documents emphasise the importance of parents' involvement. They recommend that ECEC settings include specific measures to encourage parent participation. The most common form of co-operation between parents and ECEC settings is through information sessions and bilateral parent-teacher meetings, which could be the basis for regular dialogue between families and ECEC practitioners (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014).

An effective partnership between ECEC providers and families creates better conditions for children's learning. Parents can assist children in their learning and help staff to better understand children's needs. Co-operation between ECEC staff and parents is considered beneficial for the child's progress and development. The ECEC staff's role is to initiate dialogue, share information and ensure that parents play a part in their children's education. This is especially important in the case of children with additional needs who require specific support in their development and learning (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014). The integration of children with a migrant background can be facilitated by developing partnerships with local communities, including families and migrant associations (Council of the European Union, 2009b).

The Council of the European Union (2011) has called on the member states to support parents in their role and to encourage ECEC services to co-operate closely with parents to increase awareness about the opportunities that ECEC offers.

Children develop in a determinant context. The socio-political environment, neighbourhood/community and family characteristics directly influence children's wellbeing. Therefore, they also influence their lifelong trajectories in education and health (WHO, 2005). Parenting is highly relevant for the child's development. This includes the dynamic interrelation between the parents and the child and the communication and learning environment (i.e. nurturance), and the parents' lives or parents' own context (i.e. inequality or low-income families) (Bertram and Pascal, 2014).

Children experience multiple learning opportunities from their nearest natural environment, such as their families and neighbourhood. Their competences and natural interests arise from the multiple possibilities of exploring their environment. Therefore, when parents offer the opportunity for children to be involved in learning and play activities in which guidelines are available, there is increased interactive behaviour among children and adults (Dunst et al., 2001). Axelsson (2014) observed that, in Sweden, children with profound intellectual and multiple disabilities participated less often than children with typical development in a great number of family activities. In particular, they were more active in less physically demanding activities and in a less diverse set of activities. Professionals close to the family environment need to facilitate strategies that



are near the proximal processes of the child's needs (ibid.). Harjusola-Webb et al. (2013) have developed a professional development programme from the University of Ohio that addresses professionals' needs through a collaborative intervention network with professionals and children, together with families.

Parents and providers indicated different benefits from different programmes resulting from the natural environment, early years interventions and service co-ordination: participants offered a clear understanding of the expected results related to processes and outcomes, creating a framework with clear objectives (Dunst and Bruder, 2002). Involving parents in the intervention process is much more powerful than working only with the child (Raver and Childress, 2014).

Families are key in implementing successful inclusion in the classroom and in teaching children to value individual differences (Stivers et al., 2008). Salend (2004) indicated that teachers could help families with different strategies for communicating with children about the individual differences between them and their peers. For example, they can criticise negative stereotypes, use children's books or internet resources about children with SEN, address inappropriate behaviour and hurt feelings, use adults with SEN as resources, address accessibility issues, and teach alternative communication.

Furthermore, scholars have specified how important it is for all families to learn general information about issues, characteristics, challenges and accommodations associated with various disabilities or conditions. Strategies to be implemented at nursery and at home that staff can teach to families include:

- noting similarities among children;
- describing children in positive and meaningful ways;
- speaking to children in age-appropriate ways;
- answering questions honestly and directly and relating them to the child's experiences;
- respecting all children and their independence;
- fostering social interactions and teaching the social skills for interaction with each other;
- having age- and disability-appropriate toys available (Salend, 2004).

Keeping in mind that respect and confidentiality are important issues, staff must provide families and people from external organisations related to children with SEN or disabilities with the opportunity to share experiences.

Boulware et al. (2006) developed an effective programme, named Project DATA (Developmentally Appropriate Treatment for Autism) for Toddlers. It is an inclusive early intervention programme in functional outcomes, including toilet training, imitation, verbal communication and interaction with peers. The programme focuses on children between one and three years old on the autism spectrum and places them in mainstream playgroup classes, including sessions with families. The programme resulted in most of the children (four out of seven) being included in schools, one home-schooled with access to general schooling and two in segregated placements.



#### 7.3.1.1. Information available to families and parents' participation

Scholars recommend that families receive information about children's rights and inclusive education. They should be well-informed about the different options available and be empowered to make the most appropriate decisions for their children. The information should be provided at different levels (policy, administrative, school staff, NGOs). Odom and Wolery (2003) emphasise that families are the main context where children learn. Families must be involved in the nursery practices and should get support from the nursery staff through parental education programmes.

ECE settings should consider the following questions to enhance collaboration with parents:

- What does parent participation mean?
- How can the school effectively contribute to and promote the empowerment of families?
- Is there a school policy on how to work with families?
- What are the key elements of this school policy?
- Is this included in teacher training?
- Do families have the opportunity to decide on their children's educational options?
- Which are the procedures parents could initiate to complain about school decisions?
- Does the school consider the child's strengths, interests, goals and expectations as well as those of the child's family?

Based on Cunningham and Davis' (1985) model, Devarakonda (2013) developed a model explaining the different characteristics of relationships between parents and professionals:

- An expert model professionals are perceived to be knowledgeable about all children with special educational needs and parents are expected to follow the advice provided by the professionals. [...]
- A transparent model professionals [...] are responsible for making decisions for all children with special needs. Parents are provided with appropriate information allowing them to be active in the decision-making process, are considered to be a valuable resource and are trained to follow up activities at home.
- A consumer model parents of children with SEN are the key decision-makers. Parents are empowered and involved in making decisions for their children, as they are presented with all the options available for children and their families (Devarakonda, 2013, p. 146).

#### 7.3.2. Professionals for inclusion

Scholars have found that, unless early childhood services are implemented between the ages of zero and three, children miss the opportunity to be screened. In response to this situation, interventions in speech therapy and cost-effective alternatives have appeared.



Woods et al. (2011) have identified effective early communication strategies from the speech therapy field for helping other professional everyday routines to communicate with infants and toddlers with, or at risk of, communication deficits and their families through early intervention supports and services.

McCullough (2001) has proved the viability and effectiveness of teletherapy for children with SEN in early years settings. Staff and parents had contact with experts and received special training from healthcare services through 'televisits' (covered by NTL/Cabletel), particularly speech and language sessions at home and during nursery hours. Within 10 years, technology changed and the televisits transformed into low-cost videoconferencing (using Skype), which proved useful in community clinics for screening children living in urban areas (Ciccia et al., 2011).

Early intervention by health visitors or school nurses resulting in strategies implemented in the classroom, such as behavioural modification, are more effective and acceptable for families than the use of external services, such as mental health services (Smith and Hart, 2013). In countries like Australia and England, health visiting services are universal and are embedded in the wider resource system (Cowley et al., 2012). Greenstock and Wright (2011) reported effective practices involving teachers, language therapists, teaching assistants and nursery nurses when teaching and using graphic symbols. They highlighted the importance of involving participants in speak-up sessions, such as focus groups, in which they identify their roles and develop mutual understanding.

Teacher beliefs about the meaning of SEN could change, influenced by policies and as a result of teachers' own professional learning and the team supporting them (Croll and Moses, 2003).

# 7.4. The role of teaching assistants and specialist staff

This issue is controversial, as teaching assistants may represent a barrier to a child's inclusion in the classroom or they may provide opportunities and interaction. What should be the teaching assistant's role? What is the teaching assistant's profile? It is still necessary to decide whether they should have a pedagogical role and how they should act if it is decided that they should take another role (Webster et al., 2011).

Marchesi et al. (2009) observed that specialist staff need to help within the mainstream classroom and are expected to work with all children, not just those with SEN. These staff need to respond to the elements required to work with children with severe disabilities (Cross et al., 2004), autism spectrum disorders (Stahmer and Ingersoll, 2004) or visual impairments (D'Allura, 2002).

The European Commission (2011e) highlights that invisible assistants are involved in caring tasks, which devalues the educational side of care and reduces education to learning. According to Oberhuemer (2014), different human resources are available in different forms in Europe. In Slovenia, for example, teachers are supported by fully qualified assistants with an early years specialist focus. In other countries, such as Cyprus, Greece and Ireland, teachers work alone without assistants, except for when they work with children with SEN. In the Baltic countries, there are few assistants; specialist staff implement regular support in different areas of learning, such as music and physical education.



# 8. SECTION C: CURRICULUM/CONTENT

The European Commission emphasises that ECEC content should be considered carefully. Programmes which focus on learning, as well as personal and social competencies, tend to produce better outcomes and, consequently, better outcomes throughout life (European Commission, 2006a). ECEC settings must be 'designed and delivered to meet all children's full range of needs, cognitive, emotional, social and physical' (European Commission, 2011a, p. 6). The needs of pre-primary age children are very different from those of older children. The acquisition of non-formal skills at an early age is essential for future learning and successful social engagement. The European Commission (2011a) states that ECEC curriculum content should go beyond cognitive learning and include socialisation and various non-cognitive aspects.

Many European countries have issued official steering documents for this educational phase. The educational component of these documents tends to be restricted to older children in pre-primary years. For younger children, in many countries the emphasis tends to be on the care element of the provision, while guidelines on cognitive and intellectual needs are mentioned less (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014). In about half of the EU countries, the educational component of ECEC provision covers the entire age range of children, while in other countries, it is only directed at older children. All European countries list objectives regarding personal, emotional and social development, as well as language and communication skills that ECEC should cover. Most countries highlight physical development and the development of artistic skills for both younger and older children (ibid.).

The European Parliament (2013) and the Council of the European Union (2011) also underline the necessity for balanced programmes and curriculum guidelines. The curriculum guidelines should contribute not just to developing cognitive aspects that are important for entering primary education, but also to developing non-cognitive elements, which are important in laying the groundwork for lifelong learning. The Council (ibid.) notes that EU member states should promote cross-sectoral and integrated approaches to care and education services in order to meet all children's needs – cognitive, social, emotional, psychological and physical – in a holistic way.

## 8.1. Pedagogy and curriculum focus

Pedagogy is the way the staff teach the children. Oliveira-Formosinho and Barros Araújo (2011) describe a pedagogy trend from Portugal, called Pedagogy-in-Participation. Valuing and respecting diversity are central and are considered in pedagogical dimensions (pedagogical spaces, materials, time, adult-child interactions, observation and planning). Families, nature and culture are mediators in developing sensitivity and respect for all forms of difference. Paige-Smith and Rix (2011) have implemented a research method where the pedagogy is based on the children's responses in an active participation programme. This is called a 'listening to children' approach. Instead of following a child's developmental clues, the authors follow the 'learning story' approach to assessment,



following the child and narrating their early years intervention in first person. In this process, the child's rights are acknowledged and recognised in every learning situation.

Zakin (2012) shows how important curriculum content is in an inclusive classroom. This means the inclusion of tolerance or social justice in early childhood that enables children to be aware of themselves in relation to others, to accept physical or behavioural differences and to show empathy and care for others. The author also says that social justice is the ability to treat others with fairness, even if that means putting others' needs above one's own. Scholars have identified effective classroom activities through artistic exploration, such as mixing skin tones by drawing and painting hands, reading children's picture books representing children of different skin colours and learning about different traditions (ibid.). Polat (2010) states that integrative and exclusionary settings normally exclude these competencies from the curricula. Kliewer (2008) claims that inclusive preprimary settings are the best place to teach literacy, changing the understanding of literacy. This indicates that teaching should be based on the children's surroundings, by using multiple signs (i.e. visual, orthographic, tactile and sign systems) and symbol systems to develop narratives.

Early years curricula are implemented as a result of the responsibility taken by the early years staff. Scholars recommend a holistic approach focusing on all aspects of the child's development: cognitive, social, emotional and physical aspects, including health promotion (Soni, 2014). Communication skills are very successfully achieved in group activities. Group intervention delivered by nursery staff and teaching assistants in several nursery schools in the UK resulted in significantly better performance by children in oral language and spoken narrative skills immediately after the intervention and after six months. It also had a positive impact on reading comprehension (Fricke et al., 2013). Furthermore, Lynch and Simpson (2004) identified the importance of staff being knowledgeable about the additional senses and the sensory integration process. When problems appear, nursery staff misunderstand them in many cases, resulting in behavioural problems. Therefore, detection and classroom accommodation strategies for young children with sensory processing difficulties are needed in the areas of general, tactile, vestibular and proprioceptive detection.

# 8.2. Relationships with peers

Few academics have studied the impact of children's participation in inclusive pre-primary education programmes. It is expected that children in inclusive settings have contact with children with disabilities, resulting in these children exhibiting more moral judgments and moral emotions than children in non-inclusive classrooms. Furthermore, within the inclusive group, children who communicated great sympathy towards children with disabilities were more likely to report frequent contact with children with disabilities. Therefore, scholars have found that the main competence to be accepted is sympathy, as a means of enhancing other-oriented and socially inclusive behaviours. Children with this competence were more likely to include children with disabilities in primary school grades (Gasser et al., 2013). Odom et al. (2007) reveal how children with a range of disabilities are socially rejected in relation to their social competences on social problem-solving, emotional regulation and developmental capacities. In response, Gasser et al. (2014)



identify the importance of the staff's role in essential adaptations of teaching methods and classroom management when teaching children with intellectual disabilities. These include, for instance, focusing more on child-centred and co-operative classroom activities that will provide important interactional opportunities for all children to develop social skills.

DeLuzio and Girolametto (2011) have identified that although children with severe to profound hearing loss have the competences to manage conversational exchanges with peers, they are often excluded from interactions. The authors reveal that promoting classroom-wide social skills training increases interaction opportunities.

Other scholars re-affirm that children use a negotiated system of communication that rules their relationship. Ytterhus (2012) has identified that those children who do not follow the rules are excluded. Exclusion increases with the complexity of the nuances, signs and symbols of these rules. Therefore, scholars have pointed out the need for 'translators' among their peers or other human resources, such as organisation and choice of activities (ibid.). Inclusive practices could benefit all children, with and without risk of disabilities or with disabilities. Ogelman and Secer (2012) have identified how inclusive education practice (daily plans based on inclusive activities made in advance and shared between teachers) has a positive effect on the level of aggression, pro-social behaviour, asocial behaviour and victimisation displayed toward their peers. Moreover, there is a positive effect on interpersonal skills, anger management skills, self-control and adaptation to change. Indeed, scholars have identified how peer imitation is a fantastic tool being promoted by staff by planning activities in small groups and in free settings. Small group imitation training consists of a four-step intervention that continues until the child with SEN in the small group gets to be in a leadership position twice. The steps consist of the teacher's instructions to the small group, selecting a leader, prompts to promote imitation and praising imitative acts (Garfinkle and Schwartz, 2002).

Trepanier-Street et al. (2011) report that children have positive perceptions and are seen as competent based on their physical, social and academic abilities. Competences were valued for the effect and demand on task. Therefore, the scholars have observed that children showed very limited knowledge about possible adaptations and accommodations available.

Kirves and Sajaniemi (2012) studied the prevalence of bullying in early educational settings in Finnish kindergartens. They also investigated whether bullying in kindergartens differs from school bullying and what forms bullying takes among pre-primary age children. The study collected two kinds of data: data from a survey of day-care staff in the City of Vantaa (n = 770, involving 6,910 children) and data from interviews of children, day-care staff and parents (n = 114). The study's results indicate that systematic bullying does occur among pre-primary age children. The interviews showed that bullying among pre-primary age children seems to be a similar phenomenon to that of school bullying. The study found that 12.6% of children aged three to six years in day-care were involved in bullying in some way. Exclusion from peer relationships was the most common kind of bullying. Moreover, these children talked about bullying as an everyday phenomenon and its content varied only slightly from adults' speech on the topic.

In some European countries, organisations promote positive values among children living in conflict-affected societies. Aboud et al. (2012) identified the broadness of children's



responses to the programme interventions to reduce prejudice among children in preprimary education. Among the strategies used in the programmes, some scholars had selected contact, while others selected media or instruction with effects on attitudes and on peer relations. The results – positive (40%), non-significant (50%) and negative (10%) – indicate a mixed picture. Overall, more attitude effects (55%) than peer relations effects (25%) were positive, and media/instruction (47%) was more successful than contact (36%) (ibid.).

Organisations in Northern Ireland, such as Queen's University Belfast, studied a successful programme based on using cartoons and curricula materials to promote inclusion and diversity values in children in early years centres (three to five years old). The programme had a great impact on the children. Studies highlighted the importance of considering ethical issues, and that the staff was continuously monitored and trained to 'break ... cultural constraints' (Connolly et al., 2006, p. 276).

Diamond and Carpenter (2000) confirmed how children with experience of inclusive preprimary settings showed higher helping strategic competences, such as being sensitive to the needs of children with disabilities. Moreover, Nutbrown and Clough (2009) demonstrate that supportive staff taking the lead on action research results in greater involvement of children aged three to six years. Staff became involved in children's development of values such as inclusion or citizenship that are proved to be different to the ones the adults had. This resulted in children feeling valued and contributing to the nursery activities with their own ideas. Early music education for children aged four to eight-and-a-half years has also been used effectively as a tool for inclusion and fostering respect for diversity. The activities engaged all children and were led by confident teachers and facilitators (Odena, 2009; 2010).

# 8.3. The importance of play in early childhood development

Different practitioners implement strategies in different ways in the early years. Pound (2014) and Rogers (2014) state that quality must be a main aim in which the understanding of learning and development in early childhood is shared among pedagogies such as play, active learning and critical thinking. In infant education, play is a central component of child development and should be a fundamental way of learning (Nutbrown et al., 2013). Free choice and free play should be part of the discourse, as children learn from being in a group. It is important to offer children the opportunity to create their group and individual agencies, through work within shifting power structures, relationships, conflicts, negotiation resistance and subversion (Wood, 2014). Its relevance is also shown by Kemp et al. (2013), who identified that children with disabilities in inclusive childcare settings interact more with their peers during free play and meal routine activities than during group activities. Skogman (2004) stated that innovative play and activity can slowly, and gradually, change the pre-school, so that it will be inclusive for children both with and without disabilities.

Wolfendale (1997) demonstrated the relevance of play as an assessment tool. Assessment provides a baseline in which rich information could be gained by observation and participation. Therefore, staff could model the child's behaviour or use feedback to identify other motivating play opportunities.



# 8.4. Resources for children with SEN that are useful in inclusive settings

The way classroom practices are used has a direct impact on children's learning and skills acquisition. For example, cognitive self-regulation (CSR) includes children's 'ability to manage or modulate positive and negative emotions, to inhibit or control their behavior, and to shift and focus their attention' (Raver et al., 2012, p. 247, as cited in Fuhs et al., 2013). CSR was effective in early childhood classrooms when teachers were approving of children's behaviours, less disapproving, using more positive emotional tone, using more time on offering quality instructions and literacy and mathematic content (Fuhs et al., 2013).

This section presents some examples of strategies that have been effective in practice in inclusive settings.

#### 8.4.1. Buddy skills package

Kohler et al. (2007) implemented a programme to increase social interactions between pre-schoolers with autism and their peers. Following baseline, the children participated in eight sessions of training that focused on the strategies of Play, Stay and Talk. An intervention consisting of teacher feedback, praise and picture cards was then implemented to support peers' overtures to their classmate with autism. Teacher feedback and praise were terminated in a final maintenance phase, whereas the picture cards were still available as visual cues.

A multiple baseline design indicated that the package increased peers' overtures to their playmate with autism, and this behaviour continued during the maintenance condition. The child with autism also directed more overtures to her peers, although she did not receive teacher support for this.

#### 8.4.2. Reinforcement strategies

Hester et al. (2009) show the importance of teachers implementing supported strategies to promote the social and academic growth of young children at risk of behaviour disorders. Three of the most widely researched and suitable strategies for supporting positive, adaptive behaviour among young children are praise (Bayat, 2011), planned ignoring and classroom rules.

#### 8.4.3. Adaptation of planned activities

Diamond and Hong (2010) have identified adaptations of planned activities that promote participation by reducing motor demands for all children, along with attention to issues of fairness and equity of opportunity. These may be effective classroom interventions to support the inclusion of children with disabilities in play activities with peers.

#### 8.4.4. Assistive technology

Light and McNaughton (2012) demonstrated that children with complex communication needs get substantial benefits from augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) in developing communication, language and literacy skills, with no risk to their speech



development. The use of AAC technologies/apps would help them. Shimizu and McDonough (2006) report how the computer mouse could help children with developmental disabilities to point and, therefore, become more active in pre-primary activities. Shamir and Baruch (2012) confirmed the usefulness of e-books (designed by the authors of the article) in working on early mathematics and literacy skills with children at risk of learning disabilities (with verbal or non-verbal skill levels).

#### 8.4.5. Use of pictograms

Use of the Picture Naming Individual Growth and Development Indicator (Early Childhood Research Institute on Measuring Growth and Development, 1998) could be effective. It is a specific system that increases the expressive language growth of young children with autism spectrum disorders during individual one-to-one sessions within the mainstream classroom. They are accessible, inexpensive and useful to follow the children's progression (Caddigan and Missall, 2007).

#### 8.4.6. Circle of friends

Kalyva and Avramidis (2005) described the circle of friends, an activity lasting 30 minutes. It was carried out in a nursery setting on a weekly basis for three months, with the active involvement of one teacher and five peers of each child with autism. The children were selected with different abilities and with an established friendship with the child with disabilities and tools were selected as preferred by the child. The teacher encouraged the focus children to also participate in verbal activities or to sing nursery rhymes. The programme had the effect of improving the social skills of children with autism and their ability to communicate, and ultimately facilitate their 'inclusion' in mainstream settings.



# 9. SECTION D. GOVERNANCE AND FUNDING

The issue of funding is strongly linked to the issue of childcare availability. Affordability is a key factor in ensuring that all children have access to ECEC, especially the most disadvantaged ones. Decentralisation of early childhood services is part of national policy and, at the same time, brings new responsibilities to the local authorities. It requires the adjustment of national and local standards and monitoring to prevent inequalities between regions and settings developing (OECD, 2006).

Fees for ECEC attendance vary considerably among EU countries. The private sector is often more prevalent in ECEC provision for younger children, while more public funding is usually allocated to ECEC for older children. The most common pattern for financing ECEC is a mixture of central and local funding. Family income is often considered as a criterion for fee reductions.

In most EU member states, pre-primary education services are covered for at least two years for children between three years old and the mandatory school age. They are financed by public funds and are often free of charge for the parents (European Commission, 2008c). Fees are not charged for older children for the last years of pre-primary education. In around half of European education systems, the entire ISCED 0 period – i.e. centre-based educational programmes for children over three years old – is provided free of charge. For early years prior to ISCED 0, parents generally have to pay and these costs vary considerably among countries (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014).

Member states have a great variety of financing models for ECEC, which are based on public and private sources. All member states use public sources to finance or co-finance ECEC provisions for children over three years. Less than half of the EU countries cover most of the costs without requiring family contributions. For children under three years, provision tends to be privately funded (European Commission, 2011a).

Governments across Europe have recognised the importance of investing in ECEC. Highquality ECEC that is accessible for all requires substantial investment and private provision is often beyond the means of low-income families (European Commission/EACEA/ Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014).

The European Commission (2006b) and the European Parliament (2011) highlighted that investment in ECEC has subsequent economic and social benefits and can reinforce equity and efficiency. They have stressed that public investment should prioritise education at the earliest age and that member states should devote appropriate resources to ECEC services. Returns on investment in ECE are the highest, particularly for those from a disadvantaged background. Educational investment at later stages tends to disproportionately benefit children from higher socio-economic backgrounds (European Commission, 2011a).

The priority is to invest in the earlier years of education to prevent educational failure and its consequences in adulthood and for a more efficient use of funds. Since 2000, EU countries have invested more in the field of pre-primary and school education, but public



investment per capita in the early childhood phase is still lower than at the other stages (European Commission, 2012).

# 9.1. ECEC policies

The European Commission and the Council of the European Union stress that a more integrated, systemic approach to ECEC services is required across Europe. This means strong collaboration between the different policy sectors, such as education, employment, health and social policy. This approach requires a coherent vision that all stakeholders share, a common policy framework with goals and clearly defined roles and responsibilities at central and local levels. This systemic approach could allow governments to organise ECEC policies more efficiently and could also help ECEC services to respond better to local needs. The systemic approach should involve all relevant stakeholders at local, regional and national levels, as well as families. This should be combined with close cross-sectoral collaboration between different policy sectors (European Commission, 2011a; Council of the European Union, 2011).

# 9.2. Services and funding

Different funding models exist for the family and/or for the school. Odom et al. (2001) compared the instructional cost of inclusive pre-primary education with the cost of special education services for children with disabilities. In a comparison of five different agencies in the UK, the authors concluded that inclusive settings were less expensive. This was based on an analysis of salaries, tuition, equipment, materials, transportation, administration and building costs.

In Europe, Oberhuemer (2014) described clear distinctions among European countries in ECEC settings for children. In Finland and Sweden, responsibility mostly resides with the education ministry, with unitary forms of provision between the ages of one and six. Estonia, Denmark, Latvia and Lithuania had different forms, with zero to six age-integrated or age-segregated groups (zero to three; three to six). In Finland, Lithuania and Sweden, where school commences at seven years old, the government offers compulsory preparatory classes before primary school. In all countries, provisions are universal and non-eligible private services. In the UK and Ireland, there is a different model. These countries offer integrated services between education and healthcare services. Although this is changing with the inclusion of free entitlement hours for children over three years old, private provision still dominates the market and parents must share costs.

In Eastern Europe, compulsory pre-primary education starts around five years of age. Due to budget cuts, few free services exist in Eastern Europe for children under three. In Western Europe, early years services are divided among different ministerial bodies. In France and Belgium, pre-primary provision from ages three to six is free of charge and comes under the ministry of education. Education for children under age three is segmented and comes with a fee. In Germany, from the stage of zero to six, the system is strongly decentralised. In Southern Europe, early years educational stages are divided from birth to the age of three years and pre-primary institutions/settings for children from three years up to the start of primary education.



The UK implemented a programme in six local authorities. It was an extended Individual Budgets (IB) programme in which the former Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) originally commissioned the IB pilots to run from April 2009 to March 2011. The most commonly identified risks with taking the IB work forward included challenges in disaggregating health and education budgets and a lack of understanding, commitment and capacity to get involved among health and education staff. More information can be found in Prabhakar and Thom (2012).

# 9.3. Affordability of ECEC and pre-primary settings

It is clear that during this stage, many groups work to improve a specific child's quality of life. There are different units that can be interconnected. They are the school, including the classroom and the human resources involved within the school community, and the human resources and leaders from local authorities and families. Fuller et al. (2013) indicated that key issues – such as co-ordination of resources, conduit of communication, promotion of social inclusive activities and leadership mechanisms – need to be realised from the meso- and macro-levels. This includes school leadership by persons with distributive leadership skills.

### 9.4. Governance

Leaders must consider the social capital and build on the important aspects to develop relationships and participate in sustainable societies in which leadership should be highly contextualised. They should respond to the cultural settings and the real community of learning. Leaders must be transformative, offer a vision that inspires others, take risks based on a creative potential, show energy, enthusiasm and passionate personal qualities, have a relationship with the school community and show personal integrity (Leeson, 2014). A new tendency is promoting multi-agency work, in which everyone who works with families and children works in partnership to ensure the child's progress. In the UK, there were cases in the past where children suffered abuse because of a lack of coordination among professional staff. The new policy states that the child's protection must be ensured and through different levels (Siraj-Blatchford et al., 2007).

Scholars recommend that early years settings have an active inclusion policy and renew it continually, bring information up to date and evaluate policies. These policies are effective when they are implemented in specific settings and became 'understandable, practical and workable documents' (Mortimer and Johnson, 2008, pp. 18–19). Staff must be part of them and believe what they say. Inclusion policies should indicate a shared meaning, such as a statement with values and vision complemented with the policy's objectives and for whom it stands. The policy must describe the issues that are important to tackle – for example, that there are seven languages taught in the classroom – and what the nursery and the classroom are going to offer in this situation. The policy's impact must be considered through a section which describes awareness raising. At the end, it must specify how the community of learning will keep up to date with the actions and how the community will participate in its evaluation (Mortimer and Johnson, 2008).



## **10. SECTION E: MONITORING AND EVALUATION**

Both the OECD Working Group and the European Commission's Thematic Working Group on ECEC suggest that monitoring and evaluation are 'powerful tools for improving children's outcomes and driving continuous improvement in service delivery' (OECD, 2012a, p. 13; OECD, 2013c; European Commission, 2014). Monitoring and evaluation go beyond assessing children's learning, as discussed in Section A. They refer to the process of collecting data and making judgments about systems, programmes, materials, procedures and processes (Harlen, 2007). Such monitoring and evaluation can both provide accountability about investment in ECEC services and serve to improve policy design and the implementation of standards. It can also be an important tool for informing parents about the level of quality of the services being offered (Levitt et al., 2008). Indeed, all European countries have set up mechanisms to ensure external evaluation of ECEC settings (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014). The European Parliament (2011) has called on member states to develop mechanisms for evaluating ECEC provision and ensuring that quality standards are met in order to improve ECEC services.

Monitoring often involves evaluating services against standards set for quality structures, processes or outcomes. Such evaluation can be quantitative and/or qualitative and can involve interviews, observations, standardised testing and service quality ratings, depending on its purpose.

Monitoring and evaluation can be applied to all the areas mentioned in Sections A to D. *Starting Strong III* identified seven common targets of evaluation exercises:

- 1. Child development
- 2. Staff performance
- 3. Service quality
- 4. Regulation compliance
- 5. Curriculum implementation
- 6. Parent satisfaction
- 7. Workforce supply and working conditions (OECD, 2012a, p. 307).

One area that needs monitoring is the quality of services received by children with special needs. For instance, two studies were recently conducted using the Global Guidelines Assessment. They investigated access to and quality of special education services in ECCE programmes across eight countries in the Americas and Asia (Hardin and Hung, 2011). Results from both studies indicate that ECCE programmes strive to provide equal access to young children regardless of ethnicity, religion, language, gender and socio-economic status. However, insufficient resources and policies were cited in considering why there are still many barriers to services for children with disabilities (Peairson et al., 2014).

The Thematic Working Group on ECEC under the auspices of the European Commission pointed out two criteria for effective monitoring. Firstly, systematic monitoring of ECEC should generate information and feedback at the appropriate local, regional or national



level, allowing for integration of data at all levels to enable decision-making. Secondly, it is also important that: 'All stakeholders, including ECEC staff, should be engaged and empowered during the implementation of any monitoring and evaluation process' (European Commission, 2014, p. 11). This can further ensure that the monitoring process focuses on the child's interest.

Regarding the previous statement, and with respect to local-level evaluation and evaluation of the quality process of interaction between teaching staff and children, a small study recently done in Portugal is worth considering. The study aimed at raising ECEC quality through a participatory and context-sensitive approach to ECEC evaluation (Barros Araújoa, 2015). Twelve pre-primary teachers were trained to carry out evaluation of adults' engagement and children's involvement through the support of a specialised trainer. Results showed perceived effects on staff observation skills and reflection-onaction. Participants also pointed out that experimentation in practice contexts and shared reflection were the most meaningful and facilitative strategies in their learning.



# **11. CONCLUSION**

The provision of quality ECE/IECE is clearly a priority concern for policy, practice and research in Europe, as well as at international levels. Working groups within the EU, OECD and UNESCO have developed pointers towards promoting, improving and sustaining quality ECE/IECE services. They all, however, indicate the need for further understanding of the policies that can serve to enhance ECE/IECE structures, processes and outcomes. The IECE project should serve as a grounded study of the policy and practice scenario in Europe.



### REFERENCES

Aarssen, J. and Studulski, F., 2013. *Early childhood education and care in six countries*. Utrecht: Sardes

Aboud, F. E., Tredoux, C., Tropp, L. R., Spears Brown, C., Niens, U., Noor, N. M. and the Una Global Evaluation Group, 2012. 'Interventions to reduce prejudice and enhance inclusion and respect for ethnic differences in early childhood: A systematic review' *Developmental Review*, 32 (4), 307–336

Abrams, D. and Killen, M., 2014. 'Social Exclusion of Children: Developmental Origins of Prejudice' *Journal of Social Issues*, 70 (1), 1–11

Almqvist, L., 2006. 'Children's health and developmental delay: Positive functioning in every-day life' *Örebro Studies in Psychology* 8. Örebro: Örebro universitetsbibliotek

Almqvist, L. and Almqvist, A.L., 2011. 'Empowering Children in Research – two Methods Involving Children as Subjects' *CHILD, newsletter from the research profile child based at Jönköping University*, #4 2011, December, Jönköping University

Almqvist, L., Hellnäs, P., Stefansson, M. and Granlund, M., 2006, "I can play!" Young children's perceptions of health' *Pediatric Rehabilitation*, Jul–Sep, 9 (3), 275–284

American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, 2014. *Supports Intensity Scale for Children Field Testing Webinar*. <u>aaidd.org/education/education-</u> <u>archive/2013/01/17/supports-intensity-scale-for-children-webinar</u> - .VFDnRPnF83k (Last accessed November 2014)

Anders, Y., Sammons, P., Taggart, B., Sylva, K., Melhuish, E. and Siraj-Blatchford, I., 2011. 'The influence of child, family, home factors and pre-school education on the identification of special educational needs at age 10' *British Educational Research Journal*, 37 (3), 421–441

Aunio, P., Ee, J., Lim, S. E. A., Hautamäki, J. and Van Luit, J., 2004. 'Young children's number sense in Finland, Hong Kong and Singapore' *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 12 (3), 195–216

Axelsson, A. K., 2014. 'Children with profound intellectual and multiple disabilities and their participation in family activities' *Studies from the Swedish Institute for Disability Research 61*. Jönköping: School of Health Sciences

Aydogan, C., 2012. Influences of instructional and emotional classroom environments and learning engagement on low-income children's achievement in the prekindergarten year. Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Vanderbilt University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Teaching and Learning. August, 2012, Nashville, Tennessee.

etd.library.vanderbilt.edu/available/etd-07172012-

200609/unrestricted/Aydogan dissertation final.pdf (Last accessed September 2017)



Bagner, D. M., Frazier, S. L. and Berkovits, M., 2014. 'Getting Ready for Preschool: Linking Early Intervention and Family Mental Health for Infants and Toddlers with Developmental Delay' *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 41 (6), 707–711

Barnett, W.S., 2011. 'Effectiveness of Early Education Intervention' *Science*, August, 333 (6045), 975–978

Barros Araújo, S., 2015. 'Professional development within the *Effective Early Learning Programme*: a contribution to a participatory and context-sensitive approach to ECEC evaluation' *Early Years: An International Research Journal*, 35 (3), 249–259. www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09575146.2014.995599?journalCode=ceye20 (Last accessed March 2017)

Bauchmüller, R., Gørtz., M. and Rasmussen, A. W., 2011. *Long-Run Benefits from Universal High-Quality Pre-Schooling*. Copenhagen: AKF, Danish Institute of Governmental Research

Bayat, M., 2011. 'Clarifying Issues Regarding the Use of Praise With Young Children' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 31 (2), 121–128

Bayer, J. K., Hiscock, H., Ukoumunne, O. C., Price, A. and Wake, M., 2008. 'Early childhood aetiology of mental health problems: a longitudinal population-based study' *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49 (11), 1166–1174

Bertram, T. and Pascal, C., 2014. *Early Years Literature Review*. Birmingham: Centre for Research in Early Childhood. <u>www.early-education.org.uk/early-years-literature-review</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

Bhopal, K., Gundara, J., Jones, C. and Owen, C., 2000. *Working Towards Inclusive Education: Aspects of Good Practice for Gypsy Traveller Children*. Research Report No. 238. Norwich: Department for Education and Employment

Björck-Åkesson, E., 2014. *High quality preschool environment for all children*. PowerPoint presentation. CHILD research program, School of Education and Communication, Jönköping University

Boulware, G. L., Schwartz, I. S., Sandall, S. R. and McBride, B. J., 2006. 'Project DATA for Toddlers: An Inclusive Approach to Very Young Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 26 (2), 94–105

Brackertz, N., 2007. 'Who is hard to reach and why?' *ISR Working Paper*, January 2007. Melbourne: Institute for Social Research, Swinburne University of Technology. <u>www.sisr.net/publications/0701brackertz.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

Bradbury, A., 2013. Understanding Early Years Inequality: Policy, assessment and young children's identities. London: Routledge

Bronfenbrenner, U. and Ceci, S.J., 1994. 'Nature-nurture reconceptualized in developmental perspective: a bioecological model' *Psychological Review*, 101 (4), 568–586

Brookman-Frazee, L., Stahmer, A. C., Lewis, K., Feder, J. D. and Reed, S., 2012. 'Building a research-community collaborative to improve community care for infants and toddlers at-risk for autism spectrum disorders' *Journal of Community Psychology*, 40 (6), 715–734



Bruce Marks, S., 1997. 'Reducing Prejudice Against Children with Disabilities in Inclusive Settings' International Journal of Disability, Development and Education, 44 (2), 117–131

Buehler, C. and Marion, O., 2011. 'Mothers' part-time employment: associations with mother and family well-being' *Journal of Family Psychology*, 25 (6), 895–906

Burchinal, M., Vandergrift, N., Pianta, R. and Mashburn, A., 2010, 'Threshold analysis of association between child care quality and child outcomes for low-income children in prekindergarten programs' *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 25 (2), 166–176

Burger, K., 2010. 'How does early childhood care and education affect cognitive development? An international review of the effects of early interventions for children from different social backgrounds' *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 25 (2), 140–165

Buysse, V. and Hollingsworth, H.L., 2009. 'Program Quality and Early Childhood Inclusion: Recommendations for Professional Development' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 29 (2), 119–128

Buysse, V., Goldman, B. D. and Skinner, M., 2002. 'Setting Effects on Friendship Formation among Young Children with and without Disabilities' *Exceptional Children*, 68 (4), 503–517

Buysse, V., Skinner, D. and Grant, S., 2001. 'Toward a definition of quality inclusive child care: Perspectives of parents and practitioners' *Journal of Early Intervention*, 24 (2), 146–161

Caddigan, K. and Missall, K. N., 2007. 'Measuring Expressive Language Growth in Young Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 27 (2), 110–118

Campbell, P. H., Milbourne, S. A. and Silverman, C., 2001. 'Strengths-based Child Portfolios. A Professional Development Activity to Alter Perspectives of Children with Special Needs' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 21 (3), 152–161

Cattaneo, A., Monasta, L., Stamatakis, E., Lloret, S., Castetbon, K., Franken, F., Manios, Y., Moschonis, G., Savva, S., Zaborskis, A., Rito, A. I., Nanu, M., Vignerová, J., Caroli, M., Ludvigsson, J., Koch, F. S., Serra-Majem, L., Szponar, L., Van Lenthe, F. and Brug, J., 2010. 'Overweight and obesity in infants and pre-school children in the European Union: a review of existing data' *Obesity Reviews*, 11 (5), 389–398

Chang, F., Early, D. M. and Winton, P. J., 2005. 'Early Childhood Teacher Preparation in Special Education at 2- and 4-Year Institutions of Higher Education' *Journal of Early Intervention*, 27 (2), 110–124

Charman, T., 2004. 'Matching Preschool Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders and Comparison Children for Language Ability: Methodological Challenges' *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 34 (1), 59–64

Chau-Ying Leu, J., 2008. 'Early Childhood Music Education in Taiwan: An Ecological Systems Perspective' *Arts Education Policy Review*, 109 (3), 17–26

Ciccia, A. H., Whitford, B., Krumm, M. and McNeal, K., 2011. 'Improving the access of young urban children to speech, language and hearing screening via telehealth' *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 17 (5), 240–244



Claes, C., Van Hove, G., Vandevelde, S., van Loon, J. and Schalock, R. L., 2010. 'Person-Centered Planning: Analysis of Research and Effectiveness' *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 48 (6), 432–453

Commodari, E., 2012. 'Attention Skills and Risk of Developing Learning Difficulties' *Current Psychology*, 31 (1), 17–34

Connolly, P., Fitzpatrick, S., Gallagher, T. and Harris, P., 2006. 'Addressing diversity and inclusion in the early years in conflict-affected societies: a case study of the Media Initiative for Children – Northern Ireland' *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 14 (3), 263–278

Council of Europe, 1950. *Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms*. Rome, 4 November 1950. <u>www.coe.int/en/web/conventions/full-list/-</u> /conventions/treaty/005 (Last accessed May 2017)

Council of the European Communities, 1992. *Council recommendation of 31 March 1992 on child care*. 92/241/EEC. <u>eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u> <u>content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:31992H0241</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

Council of the European Union, 2009a. *Council conclusions of 26 November 2009 on the education of children with a migrant background*. 2009/C 301/07. <u>eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:C:2009:301:0005:0008:EN:PDF</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

Council of the European Union, 2009b. *Council conclusions of 12 May 2009 on a strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training ('ET 2020')*. 2009/C 119/02. <u>eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u>

content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52009XG0528(01)&from=EN (Last accessed November 2014)

Council of the European Union, 2011. *Council conclusions on early childhood education and care: providing all our children with the best start for the world of tomorrow.* 2011/C 175/03.

<u>www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms\_data/docs/pressdata/en/educ/122123.pdf</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

Cowley, S., Kemp, L., Day, C. and Appleton, J., 2012. 'Research and the organisation of complex provision: conceptualising health visiting services and early years programmes' *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 17 (2), 108–124

Croll, P. and Moses, D., 2003. 'Special educational needs across two decades: survey evidence from English primary schools' *British Educational Research Journal*, 29 (5), 731–747

Cross, A. F., Traub, E. K., Hutter-Pishgahi, L. and Shelton, G., 2004. 'Elements for successful inclusion for children with significant disabilities' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 24 (3), 169–183

Cunningham, C. and Davis, H., 1985. *Working with Parents: Frameworks for Collaboration*. Milton Keynes: Open University Press

D'Allura, T., 2002. 'Enhancing the Social Interaction Skills of Preschoolers with Visual Impairments' *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 96, 576–584



DeLuzio, J. and Girolametto, L., 2011. 'Peer Interactions of Preschool Children With and Without Hearing Loss' *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 54, 1197–1210

Denboba, A. D., Elder, L.K., Lombardi, J., Rawlings, L. B., Sayre, R.K. and Wodon, Q.T., 2014. *Stepping up early childhood development: investing in young children for high returns*. Washington, DC: World Bank Group.

documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/2014/10/20479606/stepping-up-early-childhooddevelopment-investing-young-children-high-returns (Last accessed March 2017)

Devarakonda, C., 2013. *Diversity and Inclusion in Early Childhood. An Introduction*. London: Sage

DeVore, S. and Russell, K., 2007. 'Early Childhood Education and Care for Children with Disabilities: Facilitating Inclusive Practice' *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 35 (2), 189–198

Diamond, K. E. and Carpenter, E. S., 2000. 'Participation in Inclusive Preschool Programs and Sensitivity to the Needs of Others' *Journal of Early Intervention*, 23 (2), 81–91

Diamond, K. E. and Hong, S. Y., 2010. 'Young Children's Decisions to Include Peers with Physical Disabilities in Play' *Journal of Early Intervention*, 32 (3), 163–177

Dickson, J., 2000. 'Early childhood special education. Growing with inclusion: a personal reflection' *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 27 (4), 251–254

Diliberto, J. A. and Brewer, D., 2012. 'Six Tips for Successful IEP Meetings' *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 44 (4), 30–37

Dowker, A., 2005. 'Early Identification and Intervention for Students with Mathematics Difficulties' *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 38 (4), 324–332

Dunst, C. J. and Bruder, M. B., 2002. 'Valued outcomes of service coordination, early intervention, and natural environments' *Exceptional Children*, 68 (3), 361–375

Dunst, C. J., Bruder, M. B., Trivette, C. M., Hamby, D., Raab, M. and McLean, M., 2001. 'Characteristics and Consequences of Everyday Natural Learning Opportunities' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 21 (2), 68–92

Dyson, L. L., 2005. 'Kindergarten Children's Understanding of and Attitudes Toward People with Disabilities' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 25 (2), 95–105

Early Childhood Research Institute on Measuring Growth and Development, 1998. *Picture Naming Individual Growth and Development Indicator [IGDI]*. Minneapolis, Minnesota: Center for Early Education and Development

Early, D. and Winton, P., 2001. 'Preparing the workforce: Early childhood teacher preparation at 2- and 4-year institutes of higher education' *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 16, 285–306

Education International, 2008. *Education for All by 2015: Education International's Response to the Global Monitoring Report 2008*. Brussels: Education International. <u>download.ei-ie.org/docs/IRISDocuments/EI\_Publications/Other Publications/2008-00169-</u> <u>01-E.pdf</u> (Last accessed November 2014)



Epstein, M. L., Brosvic, G. M., Costner, K. L., Dihoff, R. E. and Laarus, A. D., 2003. 'Effectiveness of feedback during the testing of preschool children, elementary school children and adolescents with developmental delays' *The Psychological Record*, 53, 177– 195

Eurofound, 2015. *Early childhood care: Accessibility and quality of services*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union

European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education, 2015. *Inclusive Pre-Primary Education (IPPE) Project: Conceptual Framework*. Odense, Denmark. <u>www.european-agency.org/agency-projects/meetings</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

European Commission, 2006a. *Communication from the Commission to the Council and to the European Parliament: Efficiency and equity in European education and training systems*. COM(2006) 481 final. <u>eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u>

content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52006DC0481&qid=1414757450168&from=FR (Last accessed March 2017)

European Commission, 2006b. *Commission Staff Working Document - Accompanying document to the Communication from the Commission to the Council and to the European Parliament - Efficiency and equity in European education and training systems*. SEC(2006) 1096. eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:52006SC1096&qid=1414757370043&from=FR (Last accessed November 2014)

European Commission, 2008a. *Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: An updated strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training*. COM(2008) 865 final. <u>eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u> <u>content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52008DC0865&gid=1414757556679&from=FR</u> (Last

accessed November 2014)

European Commission, 2008b. *Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Improving competences for the 21st Century: An Agenda for European Cooperation on Schools*. COM(2008) 425 final. <u>eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u> <u>content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52008DC0425&qid=1414757509079&from=FR</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

European Commission, 2008c. *Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions – Implementation of the Barcelona objectives concerning childcare facilities for pre-school-age children. {SEC(2008)2597} /\* COM/2008/0638 final \*/ <u>eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex:52008DC0638</u> (Last accessed November 2014)* 



European Commission, 2010. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: European Disability Strategy 2010-2020: A Renewed Commitment to a Barrier-Free Europe. COM(2010) 636 final. <u>eur-</u>

<u>lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2010:0636:FIN:EN:PDF</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

European Commission, 2011a. *Communication from the Commission: Early Childhood Education and Care: Providing all our children with the best start for the world of tomorrow*. COM(2011) 66 final. Brussels: European Commission. <u>eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u> <u>content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52011DC0066&qid=1414757778591&from=FR</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

European Commission, 2011b. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Tackling early school leaving: A key contribution to the Europe 2020 Agenda. COM(2011) 18 final. <u>eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u> <u>content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52011DC0018&qid=1414757812560&from=FR</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

European Commission, 2011c. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: An EU Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies up to 2020. COM(2011) 173 final. Brussels: European Commission

European Commission, 2011d. *Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: An EU Agenda for the Rights of the Child*. COM(2011) 60 final. Brussels: European Commission. <u>ec.europa.eu/justice/policies/children/docs/com 2011 60 en.pdf</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

European Commission, 2011e. *CoRe: Competence Requirements in Early Childhood Education and Care*. Public Open Tender EAC 14/2009 issued by the European Commission Directorate-General for Education and Culture. Research Documents. University of East London, Cass School of Education and University of Ghent, Department for Social Welfare Studies. Brussels: European Commission

European Commission, 2012. *Background paper: Update on European policy cooperation in early childhood education and care (ECEC) and in early school leaving (ESL)*. Brussels: European Commission

European Commission, 2013a. *Education and Training Monitor 2013*. <u>ec.europa.eu/education/library/publications/monitor13\_en.pdf</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

European Commission, 2013b. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Towards Social Investment for Growth and Cohesion – including implementing the European Social Fund 2014-2020. COM(2013) 83 final. <u>eur-</u> <u>lex.europa.eu/legal-</u>

content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52013DC0083&qid=1414757924634&from=FR (Last accessed November 2014)

Literature Review



European Commission, 2014. *Proposal for key principles of a Quality Framework for Early Childhood Education and Care*. Report of the Working Group on Early Childhood Education and Care under the auspices of the European Commission.

<u>ec.europa.eu/education/policy/strategic-framework/archive/documents/ecec-quality-framework\_en.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2013a. *Compulsory Education in Europe* 2013/2014. Eurydice – Facts and Figures.

<u>eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/documents/facts\_and\_figures/compulsory\_educ</u> <u>ation\_EN.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2013b. *Education and Training in Europe 2020: Responses from the EU Member States. Eurydice Report*. Brussels: Eurydice. <u>eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/documents/thematic reports/163EN.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice/Eurostat, 2014. *Key Data on Early Childhood Education and Care in Europe. 2014 Edition*. Eurydice and Eurostat Report. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

<u>eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/documents/key\_data\_series/166EN.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

European Council, 2002. Presidency Conclusions – Barcelona European Council, 15 and 16 March 2002. SN 100/1/02 REV 1.

<u>www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms\_data/docs/pressdata/en/ec/71025.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

European Council, 2006. Presidency Conclusions – Brussels European Council, 23/24 March 2006. 7775/1/06 REV 1.

<u>www.consilium.europa.eu/ueDocs/cms\_Data/docs/pressData/en/ec/89013.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

European Parliament, 2007. European Parliament resolution of 27 September 2007 on efficiency and equity in European education and training systems. 2007/2113(INI). www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?Type=TA&Reference=P6-TA-2007-0417&language=EN (Last accessed March 2017)

European Parliament, 2011. European Parliament resolution of 12 May 2011 on Early Years Learning in the European Union. 2010/2159(INI). www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?type=TA&reference=P7-TA-2011-0231&language=EN&ring=A7-2011-0099 (Last accessed March 2017)

European Parliament, 2013. *Quality in Early Childhood Education and Care. Study*. PE 495.867. <u>www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/etudes/join/2013/495867/IPOL-</u> <u>CULT\_ET(2013)495867\_EN.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

Eurydice, 2009. *Tackling Social and Cultural Inequalities through Early Childhood Education and Care in Europe*. Brussels: Education, Audiovisual & Culture Executive Agency (EACEA). <u>eacea.ec.europa.eu/about/eurydice/documents/098EN.pdf</u> (Last accessed December 2014)



Evaldsson, A.C. and Tellgren, B., 2009. "Don't enter – it's dangerous": Negotiations for power and exclusion in pre-school girls' play interactions' *Educational & Child Psychology*, 26 (2), 9–18

Fanger, S. M., Frankel, L. A. and Hazen, N., 2012. 'Peer Exclusion in Preschool Children's Play: Naturalistic Observations in a Playground Setting' *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 58 (2), April 2012, 224–254

Fenech, M., 2011. 'An Analysis of the Conceptualisation of "Quality" in Early Childhood Education and Care Empirical Research: Promoting "Blind Spots" as Foci for Future Research' *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, 12 (2), 102–117

Frawley, D., 2014. 'Combating Educational Disadvantage Through Early Years and Primary School Investment' *Irish Educational Studies*, 33 (2), 155–171

Fricke, S., Bowyer-Crane, C., Haley, A. J., Hulme, C. and Snowling, M. J., 2013. 'Efficacy of language intervention in the early years' *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 54 (3), 280–290

Fuhs, M. W., Farran, D. C. and Nesbitt, K. T., 2013. 'Preschool Classroom Processes as Predictors of Children's Cognitive Self-Regulation Skills Development' *School Psychology Quarterly*, 28 (4), 347–359

Fuller, K., Parsons, S., MacNab, N. and Thomas, H., 2013. 'How Far Is Leadership Distributed in Extended Services Provision?' *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 41, 598–619

Gambaro, L., Stewart, K. and Waldfogel, J., 2012. *Equal access to early childhood education and care? The case of the UK*. Paper prepared for the conference Equal Access to Child Care: Providing Quality Early Years Education and Care to Disadvantaged Families, London, 28 September 2012

Gambaro, L., Stewart, K. and Waldfogel, J., 2014. *An equal start? Providing quality early education and care for disadvantaged children*. Bristol: Policy Press

Garces, E., Thomas, D. and Currie, J., 2000. *Longer Term Effects of Head Start*. NBER Working Paper No. 8054. Cambridge, Massachusetts: National Bureau of Economic Research

García, J.L., Heckman, J.J., Leaf, D.E. and Prados, M.J., 2016. *The Life-cycle Benefits of an Influential Early Childhood Program*. NBER Working Paper No. 22993. Cambridge, Massachusetts: National Bureau of Economic Research

Gardner, H., 2011. *Frames of mind: The theory of multiple intelligences*. New York: Basic Books

Garfinkle, A. N. and Schwartz, I. S., 2002. 'Peer Imitation: Increasing Social Interactions in Children with Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities in Inclusive Preschool Classrooms' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 22 (1), 26–38

Gasser, L., Malti, T. and Buholzer, A., 2013. 'Children's moral judgments and moral emotions following exclusion of children with disabilities: Relations with inclusive education, age, and contact intensity' *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 34 (3), 948–958



Gasser, L., Malti, T. and Buholzer, A., 2014. 'Swiss Children's Moral and Psychological Judgments About Inclusion and Exclusion of Children With Disabilities' *Child Development*, March/April, 85 (2), 532–548

Gilkerson, D. and Fryer Hanson, M., 2000. 'Working with Families. Family Portfolios: Involving Families in Portfolio Documentation' *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 27 (3), 197–201

Glassner, V., 2010. *The public sector in the crisis*. Working paper 2010-07. Brussels: European Trade Union Institute

Graham, L.J. and Jahnukainen, M., 2011. 'Wherefore art thou, inclusion? Analysing the development of inclusive education in New South Wales, Alberta and Finland' *Journal of Education Policy*, 26 (2), 263–288

Gray, K. M. and Tonge, B. J., 2005. 'Screening for autism in infants and preschool children with developmental delay' *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 39, 378–386

Greenstock, L. and Wright, J., 2011. 'Collaborative implementation: Working together when using graphic symbols' *Child Language Teaching and Therapy*, 27 (3), 331–343

Hadders-Algra, M., 2005. 'The neuromotor examination of the preschool child and its prognostic significance' *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 11 (3), 180–188

Hall, J., Sylva, K., Melhuish, E., Sammons, P., Siraj-Blatchford, I. and Taggart, B., 2009. 'The role of pre-school quality in promoting resilience in the cognitive development of young children' *Oxford Review of Education*, 35 (3), June 2009, 331–352

Hanline, M.F. and Correa-Torres, S.M., 2012. 'Experiences of Preschoolers with Severe Disabilities in an Inclusive Early Education Setting: A Qualitative Study' *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 47 (1), 109–121

Hardin, B.J. and Hung, H-F., 2011. 'A Cross-Cultural Comparison of Services for Young Children with Disabilities Using the ACEI Global Guidelines Assessment (GGA)' *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 39, 103–114

Harjusola-Webb, S., Gatmaitan, M. and Lyons, A., 2013. 'Empowering families: the early intervention in natural environments professional development community of practice project in Ohio' *Social Welfare Interdisciplinary Approach*, 3 (1), 42–55

Harlen, W., 2007. 'Criteria for evaluating systems for student assessment' *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 33 (1), 15–28

Hebbeler, K., Spiker, D. and Kahn, L., 2012. 'Individuals With Disabilities Education Act's Early Childhood Programs: Powerful Vision and Pesky Details' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 31 (4), 199–207

Heckman, J. J., 2011. 'The Economics of Inequality. The Value of Early Childhood Education' *American Educator*, Spring 2011.

<u>www.aft.org/pdfs/americaneducator/spring2011/Heckman.pdf</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

Heckman, J. J. and Kautz, T., 2012. *Hard Evidence on Soft Skills*. NBER Working Paper No. 18121. Cambridge, Massachusetts: National Bureau of Economic Research



Herczog, M., 2012. 'Rights of the Child and Early Childhood Education and Care in Europe' *European Journal of Education*, 47 (4), 542–555.

onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/ejed.12008/abstract (Last accessed March 2017)

Hess, B. A., Post, P. and Flowers, C., 2005. 'A Follow-Up Study of Kinder Training for Preschool Teachers of Children Deemed At-Risk' *International Journal of Play Therapy*, 14 (1), 103–115

Hester, P. P., Hendrickson, J. M. and Gable, R. A., 2009. 'Forty Years Later – The Value of Praise, Ignoring, and Rules for Preschoolers at Risk for Behavior Disorders' *Education and Treatment of Children*, 32 (4), 513–535

Hickman, C. and Jones, K., 2014. 'Inclusive Practice for Children with Special Educational Needs (SEN)', in T. Waller and G. Davis (eds.), *An Introduction to Early Childhood*. 3<sup>rd</sup> edition. London: Sage

Hodkinson, A. and Vickerman, P., 2009. *Key Issues in Special Needs and Inclusion*. London: Sage

Hotez, P. J. and Gurwith, M., 2011. 'Europe's neglected infections of poverty' *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 15, 611–619

Howard-Jones, P., 2007. *Neuroscience and Education: Issues and Opportunities*. London: Institute of Education Press

Hunt, P., Soto, G., Maier, J., Liboiron, N. and Bae, S., 2004. 'Collaborative teaming to support preschoolers with severe disabilities who are placed in general education early childhood programs' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 24 (3), 123–142

Isquith, P. K., Crawford, J. S., Espy, K.A. and Gioia, G. A., 2005. 'Assessment of Executive Function in Preschool-Aged Children' *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 11 (3), 209–215

Jeon, H., Peterson, C. A., Wall, S., Carta, J.J., Luze, G., Eshbaugh, E.M. and Swanson, M., 2011. 'Predicting School Readiness for Low-Income Children with Disability Risks Identified Early' *Exceptional Children*, 77 (4), 435–452

Kalyva, E. and Avramidis, E., 2005. 'Improving Communication Between Children with Autism and Their Peers Through the "Circle of Friends": A Small-scale Intervention Study' *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 18 (3), 253–261

Karila, K., 2012. 'A Nordic Perspective on Early Childhood Education and Care Policy' *European Journal of Education*, 47 (4), 584–595.

onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/ejed.12007/abstract (Last accessed March 2017)

Kelly, K. M., Siegel, E. B. and Allinder, R. M., 2001. 'Personal profile assessment summary. Creating windows into the worlds of children with special needs' *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 38 (4), 202–210

Kemp, C., Kishida, Y., Carter, M. and Sweller, N., 2013. 'The effect of activity type on the engagement and interaction of young children with disabilities in inclusive childcare settings' *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 28, 134–143



Killen, M., Pisacane, K., Lee-Kim, J. and Ardila-Rey, A., 2001. 'Fairness or Stereotypes? Young Children's Priorities When Evaluating Group Exclusion and Inclusion' *Developmental Psychology*, 37 (5), 587–596

Kirk, S., Gallagher, J. J., Coleman, M.R. and Anastasiow, N., 2012. *Educating Exceptional Children*. 13<sup>th</sup> edition. Belmont, California: Wadsworth

Kirves, L. and Sajaniemi, N., 2012. 'Bullying in early educational settings' *Early Child Development and Care*, 182 (3–4), 383–400

Klaus, S. and Mash, A., 2014. 'A special challenge for Europe: the inclusion of Roma children in early years education and care' *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 22 (3), 336–346. www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1350293X.2014.912896 - .VOxMWmB0zug (Last accessed March 2017)

Kliewer, C., 2008. *Seeing All Kids as Readers: A New Vision for Literacy in the Inclusive Early Childhood Classroom*. Baltimore, Maryland: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

Kohler, F. W., Greteman, C., Raschke, D. and Highnam, C., 2007. 'Using a Buddy Skills Package to Increase the Social Interactions Between a Preschooler with Autism and Her Peers' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 27 (3), 155–163

Kwon, K. A., Elicker, J. and Kontos, S., 2011. 'Social IEP Objectives, Teacher Talk, and Peer Interaction in Inclusive and Segregated Preschool Settings' *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 39, 267–277

Laine, K., Neitola, M., Auremaa, J. and Laakkonen, E., 2010. 'Longitudinal Study on the Co-Occurrence of Peer Problems at Daycare Centre, in Preschool and First Grade of School' *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 54 (5), October, 471–485

Landa, R. J., 2005. 'Assessment of social communication skills in pre-schoolers' *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 11, 247–252

Lazzari, A. and Vandenbroeck, M., 2012. 'Literature Review of the Participation of Disadvantaged Children and Families in ECEC Services in Europe', in J. Bennett (ed.), *Early Childhood Education and Care (ECEC) for Children from Disadvantaged Backgrounds: Findings from a European Literature Review and Two Case Studies.* Study Commissioned by the Directorate General for Education and Culture. Brussels: European Commission

Leeson, C., 2014. 'The pressures of leading early years services in the changing world', in J. Moyles, J. Payler and J. Georgeson (eds.), *Early Years Foundations: Critical Issues*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Berkshire: Open University Press

Leseman, P.M. and Slot, P.L., 2014. 'Breaking the cycle of poverty: challenges for European early childhood education and care' *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 22 (3), 314–326. <u>www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1350293X.2014.912894</u> - ...<u>VOxKf2B0zug</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

Levitt, R., Janta, B. and Wegrich, K., 2008. *Accountability of Teachers: Literature Review.* Santa Monica, California: RAND Corporation

Light, J. and McNaughton, D., 2012. 'Supporting the Communication, Language, and Literacy Development of Children with Complex Communication Needs: State of the Science and Future Research Priorities' *Assistive Technology*, 24, 34–44



Linchtenberger, E. O., 2005. 'General measures of cognition for the preschool child' *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 11, 197–208

Lindon, J., 2012. *Reflective Practice and Early Years Professionalism*. Oxon: Hodder Education

Llorent-Bedmar, V., 2013, 'La educación infantil en Alemania, España, Francia e Inglaterra. Estudio comparado' [Pre-primary education in Germany, Spain, France and England. Comparative Study] *Revista Española de Educación Comparada*, 21, 29–58

Lloyds, E., 2014. Discussion. 'Can Government Intervention in Childcare be Justified? Comment: We Need to Change the Childcare Subsidy System' *Economic Affairs*, 34 (3), October 2014, 402–405. <u>onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/ecaf.12095/abstract</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

Lloyds, E. and Penn, H., 2014. 'Childcare markets in an age of austerity' *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 22 (3), 386–396

Lynch, S. and Simpson, C., 2004. 'Sensory Processing: Meeting Individual Needs Using the Seven Senses' *Young Exceptional Children*, 7 (4), 2–9

Macartney, B. and Morton, M., 2013. 'Kinds of participation: Teacher and special education perceptions and practices of "inclusion" in early childhood and primary school settings' *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 17 (8), 776–792

MacLure, M., Jones, L., Holmes, R. and MacRae, C., 2012. 'Becoming a problem: behaviour and reputation in the early years classroom' *British Educational Research Journal*, 38 (3), June, 447–471

Mahone, M., 2005. 'Measurement of attention and related functions in the preschool child' *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 11 (3), 216–225

Mahony, H., 2007. 'One in six Europeans living below the poverty line' *EUObserver*, 20 February 2007. <u>euobserver.com/9/23532</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

Malone, D.G. and Gallagher P.A., 2008. 'Transition to Preschool Programs for Young Children With Disabilities' *Journal of Early Intervention*, 30 (4), September, 341–356

Mäntymaa, M., Puura, K., Luoma, I., Latva, R., Salmelin, R. K. and Tamminen, T., 2012. 'Predicting Internalizing and Externalizing Problems at Five Years by Child and Parental Factors in Infancy and Toddlerhood' *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 43 (2), 153– 170

Manwaring, J. S., 2008. 'Wendy or Tinkerbell? How the Underrepresentation of Girls Impacts Gender Roles in Preschool Special Education' *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 40 (5), 60–65

Marchesi, Á., Durán, D., Giné, C. and Hernández Izquierdo, L., 2009. *Guía para la reflexión y valoración de prácticas inclusivas* [Guide for reflection and evaluation of inclusive practices]. Madrid: Organización de Estados Iberoamericanos para la Educación, la Ciencia y la Cultura (OEI)



Matthews, A. and Rix, J., 2013. 'Early intervention: parental involvement, child agency and participation in creative play' *Early Years: An International Research Journal*, 33 (3), 239–251

McCabe, P. C. and Marshall, D. J., 2006. 'Measuring the Social Competence of Preschool Children with Specific Language Impairment: Correspondence among Informant Ratings and Behavioral Observations' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 26 (4), 234–246

McCullough, A., 2001. 'Viability and effectiveness of teletherapy for pre-school children with special needs' *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 36 (Suppl), 321–326

Meek, A., Robinson, L.T. and Jahromi, L. B., 2012. 'Parent-child predictors of social competence with peers in children with and without autism' *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 6 (2), 815–823

Mistry, K. B., Minkovitz, C.S., Riley, A.W., Johnson, S.B., Grason, H. A., Dubay, L.C. and Guyer, B., 2012. 'A New Framework for Childhood Health Promotion: The Role of Policies and Programs in Building Capacity and Foundations of Early Childhood Health' *American Journal of Public Health*, 102 (9), 1688–1696

Moore, T., 2004. *Blazing new trails: Finding the most direct routes in early childhood intervention*. Paper presented at the Sixth Biennial National Conference of Early Childhood Intervention Australia, 25–27 July 2004, Melbourne, Victoria

Moore, H. W., Barton, E. E. and Chironis, M., 2013. 'A Program for Improving Toddler Communication Through Parent Coaching' *Topics in Early Childhood Education*, 33 (4), 212–224

Morabito, C. and Vandenbroeck, M., 2014. 'Equality of Opportunities, Divergent Conceptualisations and their Implications for Early Childhood Care and Education Policies' Journal of Philosophy of Education, 49 (3), 456–472.

onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/1467-9752.12112/abstract (Last accessed March 2017)

Mortimer, H. and Johnson, A., 2008. *Developing an Inclusion Policy in Your Early Years Setting*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Stratford: QEd

Msall, M. E., 2005. 'Measuring functional skills in preschool children at risk for neurodevelopmental disabilities' *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 11, 263–273

Murray, C., 2012. 'A Minority within a Minority? Social Justice for Traveller and Roma Children in ECEC' *European Journal of Education*, 47 (4), 569–583

Nilsson, S., Björkman, B., Almqvist, A. L., Almqvist, L., Björk-Willén, P., Donohue, D., Enskär, K., Granlund, M., Huus, K. and Hvit, S., 2013. 'Children's voices – Differentiating a child perspective from a child's perspective' *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*, 18 (3), 162–168

Nutbrown, C. and Clough, P., 2009. 'Citizenship and inclusion in the early years: understanding and responding to children's perspectives on "belonging"' *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 17 (3), 191–206



Nutbrown, C., Clough, P. and Atherton, F., 2013. *Inclusion in the Early Years*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. London: Sage

Oberhuemer, P., 2014. 'Seeing Early Childhood Issues through a European Lens', in L. Miller and C. Cameron (eds.), *International Perspectives in the Early Years*. Critical Issues in the Early Years Series. London: Sage

Odena, O., 2009. *Early Music Education as a Tool for Inclusion and Respect for Diversity.* Study Paper for the Bernard van Leer Foundation. Project Report. Brighton: University of Brighton & Bernard van Leer Foundation

Odena, O., 2010. 'Practitioners' views on cross-community music education projects in Northern Ireland: Alienation, socio-economic factors and educational potential' *British Educational Research Journal*, 36 (1), 83–105

Odom, S. L. and Wolery, M., 2003. 'A Unified Theory of Practice in Early Intervention/Early Childhood Special Education: Evidence-based practice' *Journal of Special Education*, 37 (3), 164–173

Odom, S. L., Hanson, M. J., Lieber, J., Marquart, J., Sandall, S., Wolery, R., Horn, E., Shwartz, I. and Beckman, P., 2001. 'The cost of preschool inclusion' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 21 (1), 46–55

Odom, S. L., Vitztum, J., Wolery, R., Lieber, J., Sandall, S., Hanson, M.J., Beckman, P., Schwartz, I. and Horn, E., 2004. 'Preschool inclusion in the United States: a review of research from an ecological systems perspective' *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 4 (1), 17–49

Odom, S. L., Zercher, C., Li, S., Marquart, J. M., Sandall, S. and Brown, W. H., 2007. 'Social Acceptance and Rejection of Preschool Children With Disabilities: A Mixed-Method Analysis' *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98 (4), 807–823

OECD, 2001. Starting Strong: Early Childhood Education and Care. Paris: OECD Publishing

OECD, 2002. Education at a Glance 2002: OECD Indicators. Paris: OECD Publishing

OECD, 2004. Meeting of OECD Education Ministers – Raising the Quality of Learning for All – Chair's Summary.

<u>www.oecd.org/document/33/0,3746,en 21571361 27379727 30739169 1 1 1 1,00.ht</u> <u>ml</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

OECD, 2006. Starting Strong II: Early Childhood Education and Care. Paris: OECD Publishing

OECD, 2007. No More Failures: Ten Steps to Equity in Education. Paris: OECD Publishing

OECD, 2010. Encouraging Quality in Early Childhood Education and Care (ECEC). Research Brief: ECEC Quality Goals Matter. Paris: OECD Publishing

OECD, 2012a. Starting Strong III: A Quality Toolbox for Early Childhood Education and Care. Paris: OECD Publishing

OECD, 2012b. Equity and Quality in Education: Supporting Disadvantaged Students and Schools. Paris: OECD Publishing. <u>www.oecd.org/edu/school/50293148.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)



OECD, 2013a. 'How do early childhood education and care (ECEC) policies, systems and quality vary across OECD countries?' *Education Indicators in Focus* – 2013/02 (February). Paris: OECD Publishing. <u>www.oecd.org/education/skills-beyond-school/EDIF11.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

OECD, 2013b. PISA 2012 Results: Excellence Through Equity: Giving Every Student the Chance to Succeed (Volume II). Paris: OECD Publishing.

<u>www.oecd.org/pisa/keyfindings/pisa-2012-results-volume-II.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

OECD, 2013c. *Literature Review on Monitoring Quality in Early Childhood Education and Care (ECEC)*. Network on Early Childhood Education and Care.

www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=EDU/EDPC/ECEC%28 2013%293&doclanguage=en (Last accessed March 2017)

OECD, 2014a. *Early Childhood Education and Care – Home*. <u>www.oecd.org/education/school/earlychildhoodeducationandcare.htm</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

OECD, 2014b. Education: quality standards essential to boost child learning and development, says OECD.

www.oecd.org/edu/school/educationqualitystandardsessentialtoboostchildlearningandde velopmentsaysoecd.htm (Last accessed November 2014)

OECD, 2014c. *Country policy profiles*. <u>www.oecd.org/edu/school/startingstrongiii-</u> aqualitytoolboxforearlychildhoodeducationandcare.htm (Last accessed November 2014)

OECD, 2014d. 'Does pre-primary education reach those who need it most?' *PISA in Focus 40.* Paris: OECD Publishing. <u>www.oecd.org/pisa/pisaproducts/pisainfocus/pisa-in-focus-n40-(eng)-final.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

OECD, 2015a. Starting Strong IV: Monitoring Quality in Early Childhood Education and Care. Paris: OECD Publishing. <u>www.oecd.org/publications/starting-strong-iv-</u> <u>9789264233515-en.htm</u> (Last accessed November 2016)

OECD, 2015b. *Education Policy Outlook 2015: Making Reforms Happen*. Paris: OECD Publishing. <u>www.keepeek.com/Digital-Asset-Management/oecd/education/education-policy-outlook-2015</u> 9789264225442-en - .WT-spDOB0b0 (Last accessed April 2015)

Ogelman, H. G and Seçer, Z., 2012. 'The effect inclusive education practice during preschool has on the peer relations and social skills of 5-6-year olds with typical development' *International Journal of Special Education*, 27 (3), 169–175

Oliveira-Formosinho, J. and Barros Araújo, S., 2011. 'Early education for diversity: starting from birth' *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 19 (2), 223–235

Paige-Smith, A. and Craft, A., 2011. *Developing Reflective Practice In The Early Years*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Berkshire: Open University Press

Paige-Smith, A. and Rix, J., 2011. 'Researching early intervention and young children's perspectives – developing and using a "listening to children approach"' *British Journal of Special Education*, 38 (1), 28–36



Palmer, S. B., Summers, J. A., Brotherson, M. J., Erwin, E. J., Maude, S. P., Stroup-Rentier, V., Wu, H., Peck, N. F., Zheng, Y., Weigel, C. J., Chu, S., McGrath, G. S. and Haines, S. J., 2012. 'Foundations for Self-Determination in Early Childhood: An Inclusive Model for Children With Disabilities' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 33 (1), 38–47

Parry, J., 2012. "I can sign like you" – Social connections and friendships between peers in early years settings' *European Conference on Educational Research*, 18–21 September 2012, Cadiz

Parry, J., 2014. 'Making connections and making friends: social interactions between two children labelled with special educational needs and their peers in a nursery setting' *Early Years, An International Research Journal*, 34 (3), 301–314

Peairson, S., Haynes, C., Johnson, C., Bergquist, C. and Krinhop, K., 2014. 'Education of Children with Disabilities: Voices from Around the World' *Journal of Applied Research on Children: Informing Policy for Children at Risk*, 5 (2), Article 7. digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/childrenatrisk/vol5/iss2/7 (Last accessed March 2017)

Perry, D. F., Dunne, M. C., McFadden, L. T. and Campbell, D., 2008. 'Reducing the Risk for Preschool Expulsion: Mental Health Consultation for Young Children with Challenging Behaviors' *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 17 (1), 44–54

Pickles, A., Le Couteur, A., Leadbitter, K., Salomone, E., Cole-Fletcher, R., Tobin, H., Gammer, I., Lowry, J., Vamvakas, G., Byford, S., Aldred, C., Slonims, V., McConachie, H., Howlin, P., Parr, J.R., Charman, T. and Green, J., 2016. 'Parent-mediated social communication therapy for young children with autism (PACT): long-term follow-up of a randomised controlled trial' *The Lancet*, 388 (10059), 2501–2509. dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31229-6 (Last accessed March 2017)

Polat, F., 2010. 'Inclusion in education: A step towards social justice' *International Journal of Educational Development*, 31 (1), January, 50–58

Post, P., McAllister, M., Sheely, A., Hess, B. and Flowers, C., 2004. 'Child-centered kinder training for teachers of pre-school children deemed at-risk' *International Journal of Play Therapy*, 13 (2), 53–74

Pound, L., 2014. 'Playing, learning and development', in J. Moyles, J. Payler and J. Georgeson (eds.), *Early Years Foundations: Critical Issues*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Berkshire: Open University Press

Prabhakar, M. and Thom, G., 2012. *Evaluation of the extended individual budget pilot programme for families with disabled children: the extended packages*. Research Report DFE-RR232. London: Department for Education

Pugh, G. and Duffy, B. (eds.), 2014. *Contemporary Issues in the Early Years.* 6<sup>th</sup> edition. London: Sage

Quintero, N. and McIntyre, L. L., 2011. 'Kindergarten Transition Reparation Preparation: A Comparison of Teacher and Parent Practices for Children with Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities' *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 38, 411–420



Rafferty, Y., Boettcher, C. and Griffin, K. W., 2001. 'Benefits and Risks of Reverse Inclusion for Preschoolers With and Without Disabilities: Parents' Perspectives' *Journal of Early Intervention*, 24 (4), 266–286

Rafferty, Y., Piscitelli, V. and Boettcher, C., 2003. 'The impact of inclusion on language development and social competence among pre-schoolers with disabilities' *Exceptional Children*, 69 (4), 467–479

Ramani, G. B. and Brownell, C. A., 2014. 'Preschoolers' cooperative problem solving: Integrating play and problem solving' *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, 12 (1), 92–108

Raver, S. A. and Childress, D. C., 2014. 'Collaboration and Teamwork with Families and Professionals', in S. A. Raver and D. C. Childress (eds.), *Family-Centered Early Intervention*. Baltimore, Maryland: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co. <u>www.brookespublishing.com/family-centered-early-intervention</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

Robinson, M., 2008. *Child development from birth to eight. A journey through the early years*. Berkshire: Open University Press

Rogers, S., 2014. 'Enabling pedagogy: meanings and practices', in J. Moyles, J. Payler and J. Georgeson (eds.), *Early Years Foundations: Critical Issues*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Berkshire: Open University Press

Rogoff, B., 2003. *The Cultural Nature of Human Development*. Oxford: Oxford University Press

Rohde, L. A., 2011. 'Commentary: Do potential modifications in classificatory systems impact on child mental health in developing countries? Reflections on Rutter (2011)' *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 52 (6), 669–670

Salend, S. J., 2004. 'Fostering Inclusive Values in Children: What Families Can Do' *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 37 (1), September, 64–69

Sandberg, A. and Vuorinen, T., 2008. 'Preschool-home cooperation in change' International Journal of Early Years Education, 16 (2), 151–161

Sandberg, A., Lillvista, A., Eriksson, L., Björck-Åkesson, E. and Granlund, M., 2010. "Special Support" in Preschools in Sweden: Preschool staff's definition of the construct' *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 57 (1), 43–57

Schelle, R. and Friederich, T., 2015. 'Weiterentwicklung paedagogischer Qualität durch inklusive Fruehpaedagogik: Eine Analyse der Schluesselprozesse in Kitas' *Diskurs Kindheits-und Jugendforschung*, 10 (1), 67–80

Schiettecat, T., Roetsa, G. and Vandenbroeck, M., 2014. 'Do families in poverty need child and family social work?' *European Journal of Social Work*, 18 (5), 647–660

Scullion, L.C. and Brown, P., 2013. 'What's working?': Promoting the inclusion of Roma in and through education: Transnational policy review and research report. Project report. Salford: University of Salford

Shamir, A. and Baruch, D., 2012. 'Educational e-books: a support for vocabulary and early math for children at risk for learning disabilities' *Educational Media International*, 49 (1), 33–47



Sheridan, S., Williams, P. and Pramling Samuelsson, I., 2014. 'Group size and organisational conditions for children's learning in preschool: a teacher perspective' *Educational Research*, 56 (4), 379–397. DOI: 10.1080/00131881.2014.965562

Shimizu, H. and McDonough, C. S., 2006. 'Programmed Instruction to teach pointing with a computer mouse in preschoolers with developmental disabilities' *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 27 (2), 175–189

Shonkoff, J. P. and Phillips, D. A., 2000. *From Neurons to Neighbourhood. The Science of Early Childhood Development*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press

Siraj-Blatchford, I., Clarke, K. and Needham, M., 2007. *The Team Around the Child: Multi-Agency Working in the Early Years*. Stoke-on-Trent: Trentham Books

Skogman, E., 2004. *Funktionshindrade barns lek och aktivitet: En studie av struktur ochutförande i förskolan*. Stockholm: Pedagogiska institutionen, Stockholms universitet

Slemming, K., Sørensen, M. J., Thomsen, P. H., Obel, C., Henriksen, T. B and Linnet, K. M., 2010. 'The association between preschool behavioural problems and internalizing difficulties at age 10-12 years' *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 19 (10), 787–795

Smith, S. and Hart, T., 2013. 'Child Health', in T. Waller and G. Davis (eds.), An Introduction to Early Childhood. 3<sup>rd</sup> edition. London: Sage

Soni, A., 2014. 'Personal, social and emotional development', in J. Moyles, J. Payler and J. Georgeson (eds.), *Early Years Foundations: Critical Issues*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Berkshire: Open University Press

Stahmer, A. C. and Ingersoll, B., 2004. 'Inclusive programming for toddlers with autistic spectrum disorders: Outcomes from the Children's Toddler School' *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 6 (2), 67–82

Stahmer, A. C., Akshoomoff, N. and Cunningham, A. B., 2011. 'Inclusion for toddlers with autism spectrum disorders: the first ten years of a community programme' *Autism*, September 2011, 15 (5), 625–641

Stanton-Chapman, T. L., Denning, C. B. and Jamison, K. R., 2008. 'Exploring the effects of a social communication intervention for improving requests and word diversity in preschoolers with disabilities' *Psychology in the Schools*, 45 (7), 644–664

Statham, J. and Marjorie, S., 2010. *Issues in Early Intervention: Identifying and Supporting Children with Additional Needs*. London: Department for Children, Schools and Families

Steel, M. M., 2004. 'Making the Case for Early Identification and Intervention for Young Children at Risk for Learning Disabilities' *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 32 (2), 75–79

Stivers, J., Francis-Cropper, L. and Straus, M., 2008. 'Educating Families About Inclusive Education: A Month-by-Month Guide for Teachers of Inclusive Classes' *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 44 (1), 10–17

Stormont, M., Backner, R., Mitchell, B. and Richter, M., 2005. 'Supporting successful transition to kindergarten: general challenges and specific implications for students with problem behaviour' *Psychology in the Schools*, 42 (8), 765–778



Taggart, B., Sammons, P., Smees, R., Sylva, K., Melhuish, E., Siraj-Blatchford, I., Elliot, K. and Lunt, I., 2006. 'Early identification of special educational needs and the definition of "at risk": The Early Years Transition and Special Educational Needs (EYTSEN) Project' *British Journal of Special Education*, 33 (1), 40–45

Taylor, H. G., Anselmo, M., Foreman, A. L., Schatschneider, C. and Angelopoulos, J., 2000. 'Utility of kindergarten teacher judgements in identifying early learning problems' *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 33 (2), March/April, 200–210

Taylor, H. G., Klein, N., Anselmo, M. G., Minich, N., Espy, K.A. and Hack, M., 2012. 'Learning Problems in Kindergarten Students with Extremely Preterm Birth' *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, Sep 2011, 165 (9), 819–825

Tedam, P., 2013. 'Understanding diversity', in T. Waller and G. Davis (eds.), *An Introduction to Early Childhood*. 3<sup>rd</sup> edition. London: Sage

Theimer, C. E., Killen, M. and Stangor, C., 2001. 'Young Children's Evaluations of Exclusion in Gender-Stereotypic Peer Contexts' *Developmental Psychology*, 37 (1), 18–27

Tieman, B. L., Palisano, R. J. and Sutlive, A. C., 2005. 'Assessment of motor development and function in preschool children' *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 11, 189–196

Timperley, H., 2011. *Realizing the power of professional learning*. Berkshire: Open University Press

Tomlinson, C.A., 2014. *Differentiated Classroom: Responding to the Needs of All Learners*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Alexandria, Virginia: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development

Towles-Reeves, E., Kleinert, H. and Muhomba, M., 2009. 'Alternate Assessment. Have We Learned Anything New?' *Exceptional Child*, 75 (2), 233–252

Trepagnier, CY., Sebrechts, M.M., Finkelmeyer, A., Stewart, W., Woodford, J. and Coleman, M., 2006. 'Simulating Social Interaction to Address Deficits of Autistic Spectrum Disorder in Children' *Cyberpsychology & Behaviour*, 9 (2), 213–217

Trepanier-Street, M., Hong, S., Silverman, K., Keefer, L. R. and Morris, T. L., 2011. 'Young Children with and without Disabilities: Perceptions of Peers with Physical Disabilities' *International Journal of Early Childhood Special Education*, 3 (2), 117–128

UNESCO, 2000. World Education Forum: The Dakar Framework for Action: Education for All – Meeting our Collective Commitments. Paris: UNESCO. unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0012/001211/121147e.pdf (Last accessed April 2015)

UNESCO, 2005. *Education for All: The Quality Imperative*. EFA Global Monitoring Report 2005. Paris: UNESCO

UNESCO, 2006a [1997]. *International Standard Classification of Education: ISCED 1997* (reedition). Montreal: UNESCO Institute for Statistics.

www.uis.unesco.org/TEMPLATE/pdf/isced/ISCED\_A.pdf (Last accessed November 2014)

UNESCO, 2006b. *Strong Foundations: Early Childhood Care and Education*. EFA Global Monitoring Report 2007. Paris: UNESCO.

unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0014/001477/147794e.pdf (Last accessed April 2015)



UNESCO, 2008. *Education for All by 2015. Will we make it?* EFA Global Monitoring Report 2008. Paris: UNESCO

UNESCO, 2009a. 'Inclusion of Children with Disabilities: The Early Childhood Imperative' UNESCO Policy Brief on Early Childhood, n° 46 / April – June 2009. Paris: UNESCO. unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001831/183156e.pdf (Last accessed April 2015)

UNESCO, 2009b. *Policy Guidelines on Inclusion in Education*. Paris: UNESCO. <u>unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0017/001778/177849e.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

UNESCO, 2010. *World Conference on ECCE*. <u>www.unesco.org/new/en/world-conference-on-ecce</u> (Last accessed November 2014)

UNESCO, 2013. Regional Thematic Consultation of Western European and North American States (Group I Countries) on Education in the Post-2015 Development Agenda. Background Paper. Paris: UNESCO

UNESCO, 2014a. *Teaching and Learning: Achieving Quality for All.* EFA Global Monitoring Report 2013/4. Paris: UNESCO

UNESCO, 2014b. *Holistic Early Childhood Development Index (HECDI) Framework: A technical guide*. Paris: UNESCO. <u>unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002291/229188e.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

UNESCO-International Bureau of Education, 2008. *Inclusive Education: The Way of the Future*. Conclusions and Recommendations of the 48<sup>th</sup> session of the International Conference on Education. Paris: UNESCO.

www.ibe.unesco.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/Policy\_Dialogue/48th\_ICE/CONFINTED\_48-5\_Conclusions\_english.pdf (Last accessed April 2015)

UNESCO and UNICEF, 2012. Asia Pacific End-of-Decade Notes on Education For All. EFA Goal 1 Early Childhood Care and Education. Bangkok: UNICEF

UNESCO and UNICEF, 2013. Education in the Post-2015 Development Agenda. Draft Synthesis Report of the Global Thematic Consultation on Education. New York: UNICEF

UNESCO and UNICEF, 2015. Fixing the Broken Promise of Education for All: Findings from the Global Initiative on Out-of-School Children. Montreal: UNESCO Institute for Statistics. dx.doi.org/10.15220/978-92-9189-161-0-en (Last accessed April 2015)

UNICEF, 2001. *The State of the World's Children 2001: Early Childhood*. New York: UNICEF. <u>www.unicef.org/publications/files/pub\_sowc01\_en.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

UNICEF, 2005. *The State of the World's Children 2005: Childhood under threat*. New York: UNICEF

UNICEF, 2012a. Inequities in Early Childhood Development: What the data say. Evidence from the Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys. New York: UNICEF.

www.unicef.org/publications/files/Inequities in Early Childhood Development LoRes P DF EN 02082012.pdf (Last accessed April 2015)

UNICEF, 2012b.*The Right of Children with Disabilities to Education: A Rights-Based Approach to Inclusive Education*. Geneva: UNICEF. <u>www.unicef.org/disabilities/files/UNICEF Right to Education Children Disabilities En</u> <u>Web.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

Literature Review



UNICEF, 2013a. *Children and Young People with Disabilities: Fact Sheet*. New York: UNICEF. <u>www.unicef.org/disabilities/files/Factsheet A5 Web NEW.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

UNICEF, 2013b. *The State of the World's Children 2013: Children with Disabilities*. New York: UNICEF. <u>www.unicef.org/sowc2013/files/SWCR2013 ENG Lo res 24 Apr 2013.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

United Nations, 1989. *Convention on the Rights of the Child. 20 November 1989*. United Nations General Assembly: New York. <u>treaties.un.org/doc/publication/UNTS/Volume</u> <u>1577/v1577.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

United Nations, 2006. *General Comment No. 7 (2005): Implementing Child Rights in Early Childhood*. Committee on the Rights of the Child, Fortieth Session, Geneva, 12–30 September 2005. United Nations: Geneva.

<u>www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/crc/docs/AdvanceVersions/GeneralComment7Rev1.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

United Nations, 2015. *Transforming our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development*. New York: United Nations

Urban, M., Vandenbroeck, M., Peeters, J., Lazzari, A. and Van Laere, K., 2011. *CoRe. Competence Requirements in Early Childhood Education and Care*. Final report commissioned by the European Commission, DG Education and Culture. <u>www.vbjk.be/files/CoRe Research Documents 2011.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

U.S. Department of Education, Office of Planning, Evaluation and Policy Development, Policy and Program Studies Service, 2010. *Toward the Identification of Features of Effective Professional Development for Early Childhood Educators, Literature Review*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education

Van de Rijt, B., Godfrey, R., Aubrey, C., van Luit, J. E. H., Ghesquiëre, P., Torbeyns, J., Hasemann, K., Tancig, S., Kavkler, M., Magajna, L. and Tzouriadou, M., 2003. 'The Development of Early Numeracy in Europe' *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, 1 (2), 155–180

Vellutino, F. R., Scanlon, D. M., Small, S. and Fanuele, D. P., 2006. 'Response to Intervention as a Vehicle for Distinguishing Between Children With and Without Reading Disabilities: Evidence for the Role of Kindergarten and First-Grade Interventions' *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 39 (2), 157–169

Villeneuve, M., Chatenoud, C., Hutchinson, N. L., Minnes, P., Perry, A., Dionne, C., Frankel, E. B., Isaacs, B., Loh, A., Versnel, J. and Weiss, J., 2013. 'The Experience of Parents as Their Children with Developmental Disabilities Transition from Early Intervention to Kindergarten' *Canadian Journal of Education*, 36 (1), 4–43

Webster, R., Blatchford, P., Bassett, P., Brown, P., Martin, C. and Russell, A., 2011. 'The Wider Pedagogical Role of Teaching Assistants' *School Leadership & Management*, 31 (1), 3–20

Wey, G. and Mager, G., 2011. 'Enhancing Preservice Teachers' Sense of Efficacy and Attitudes toward School Diversity through Preparation: A Case of One U.S. Inclusive Teacher Education Program' *International Journal of Special Education*, 26 (2), 92–107



Wiliam, D., 2011. 'What is assessment for learning?' *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 37 (2011), 3–14

Willan, J., Parker-Rees, R. and Savage, J., 2007. *Early Childhood Studies. An Introduction to the Study of Children's Worlds and Children's Lives*. Exeter: Learning Matters

Wolfendale, S., 1997. *Meeting special needs in the early years. Directions in policy and practice.* London: David Fulton

Wood, E. A., 2014. 'Free choice and free play in early childhood education: troubling the discourse' *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 22 (1), 4–18

Woods, J.J., Wilcox, M.J., Friedman, M. and Murch, T., 2011. 'Collaborative Consultation in Natural Environments: Strategies to Enhance Family-Centered Supports and Services' *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 42 (3), 379–392

World Bank, 2011. *Learning for All: Investing in People's Knowledge and Skills to Promote Development*. World Bank Group Education Strategy 2020. Washington, DC: World Bank. documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/169531468331015171/Learning-for-all-investing-in-peoples-knowledge-and-skills-to-promote-development-World-Bank-Group-education-strategy-2020 (Last accessed September 2017)

World Bank, 2013. *What Matters Most for Early Childhood Development: A Framework Paper*. SABER Working Paper Series, Number 5. Washington, DC: World Bank. <u>www-wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2014/08/28/00044246</u> <u>4 20140828121503/Rendered/PDF/901830NWP0no5000Box385307B00PUBLIC0.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

World Health Organization, 2005. *Knowledge Network for Early Child Development*. *Analytic and Strategic Review Paper: International Perspectives on Early Child Development*. Human Early Learning Partnership and the University of British Columbia. <u>www.who.int/social\_determinants/resources/ecd.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

World Health Organization, 2012. *Early Childhood Development and Disability: A discussion paper*. Geneva: World Health Organization.

apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/75355/1/9789241504065 eng.pdf (Last accessed April 2015)

World Health Organization and World Bank, 2011. *World Report on Disability*. Geneva: World Health Organization. <u>www.who.int/disabilities/world\_report/2011/report.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

Ytterhus, B., 2012. 'Everyday Segregation Amongst Disabled Children and Their Peers: A Qualitative Longitudinal Study in Norway' *Children & Society*, 26 (3), 203–213

Zachrisson, H. and Dearing, E., 2014. 'Family Income Dynamics, Early Childhood Education and Care, and Early Child Behavior Problems in Norway' *Child Development*, 86 (2), 425– 440. <u>onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/cdev.12306/abstract</u> (Last accessed March 2017)

Zakin, A., 2012. 'Hand to Hand: Teaching Tolerance and Social Justice One Child at a Time' *Childhood Education*, 88 (1), 3–13



Zimmerman, I. L. and Flores Castilleja, N., 2005. 'The role of a language scale for infant and preschool assessment' *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 11, 238–246

### Secretariat:

Østre Stationsvej 33 DK-5000 Odense C Denmark Tel: +45 64 41 00 20 secretariat@european-agency.org

Brussels Office:

Rue Montoyer 21 BE-1000 Brussels Belgium Tel: +32 2 213 62 80 brussels.office@european-agency.org

### www.european-agency.org



www.european-agency.org/agency-projects/inclusive-early-childhood-education